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n line with our strategy of expanding our offer of converged solutions, last 

year we continued to strengthen and develop our mobile and fixed-line 

services. at the same time, we further enhanced the interconnection 

of T-mobile czech republic a. s. and slovak Telekom, a. s., whose 

competencies suitably complement one another. The year 2017 again saw 

a significant increase in consumption of data in all our networks, which 

grew by 111% as compared with the previous year. such growth was driven 

mainly by data traffic in our lTe network that increased by 166%.

We continued to roll out the lTe network according to the international 

qualitative and security standards of deutsche Telekom Group. at the 

end of the year, our fastest mobile internet technology covered nearly 

99% of the population of the czech republic, i.e. 3,474 cities and towns. 

We significantly expanded our coverage with lTe advanced (lTe-a) 

technology, which combines two or three bands – at the end of last year, 

our network included 2,206 lTe-a transmitters, which is 80% more than 

in the previous year. nearly one thousand transmitters in the T-mobile network 

enable a theoretical maximum download speed of 300 mbps or higher. 

We reaffirmed our role as a leading innovator among czech operators 

several times – for example, we succeeded in remotely activating 

the first embedded sim card (esim) in the course of testing, we put 

into operation the first microwave link with capacity of up to 10 Gbps 

in the czech republic and expanded the unique smart car service 

with a variant enabling creation of an in-car Wi-Fi network. We also 

strengthened our competencies in the area of the internet of Things 

(ioT). The siGFoX network, of which we are the technology partner and 

integrator, covered 95% of the population of the czech republic at 

the end of last year. additionally, at the end of last year, in line with the 

strategy of our parent company deutsche Telekom, we began testing 

another network intended for the internet of Things, the nb-ioT network. 

The most important event in the segment of residential customers in 2017 was 

the launch of the new generation of mobil tariff plans in april. as compared 

with the previous s námi (“With us”) generation, the new tariff plans feature 

significantly bigger data allowances, unlimited calls to all networks and 

a contribution for the purchase of a new handset. additionally, we launched 

new data bundles containing bigger data allowances for the same price both 

for users of the new tariff plans and for users of the prepaid Twist card and 

Kaktus services. The introduction of eu roaming without surcharges met with 

a very positive response among our customers – we were the first operator 

in the czech republic to introduce this service, as part of our mobil plans, 

which resulted in, among other things, a significant increase in consumption of 

mobile services while roaming in the eu countries. 

in april, we launched new tariff plans for business customers, which also 

contain larger data allowances and feature the integrated T-mobile cloud 

services, ms office and antivirus protection. We also developed a unified 

offer of services that includes iT solutions, systems integration and other 

products that meet the needs and requirements of b2b customers. To 

strengthen our position in the area of icT, we began construction of the 

most advanced independent data centre in the czech republic in may. 

The data centre is being built in prague and will be opened this year.

We expect the trend from the previous years to continue in the upcoming 

year, i.e. further investments in the technology while maintaining the focus 

on the target market of potential customers. 

at the end of 2017, we had approximately 6.2 million customers, which 

is two hundred thousand more than in the previous year. Total revenues 

from mobile and fixed-line services including hardware sales reached 

czK 27 billion, with revenues from mobile services amounting to nearly 

czK 19 billion. revenue increased by nearly 2.2% in 2017 compared to 

the previous year, confirming turnaround from 2016. 

The average monthly revenue from mobile services per user (arpu) was 

czK 256. The growing use of data services is mirrored in the share of non-

voice services in arpu from mobile services, which reached the level of 50%.

We very much appreciate the confidence of our customers but, at 

the same time, it is also a huge obligation. Therefore we will continue 

working to ensure that we remain the best choice for our customers in 

terms of the quality of services and care. i would like to extend my thanks 

to my colleagues and business partners for these year-long efforts. We 

could hardly retain our number-one position in the czech mobile market 

without their dedication. 

T-mobile czech republic a.s. has no branch abroad. 

information on activities in environmental protection and employment, 

research and development activities is provided in the board of director’s 

report on the business activities and the assets. information on risk 

management is provided in the notes to the consolidated Financial 

statements   (note 3). The company uses selected derivative and non-

derivative hedging instruments (note 16).

no subsequent events that would have a material impact on this annual 

report occurred after 31 december 2017.

Milan Vašina 

chief executive officer, T-mobile czech republic a.s.  

and slovak Telekom, a. s.

ForeWord
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esponsibility towards the world around us and the society in 
which we live is an integral part of everything that we do. We are 
a founding member of the un Global compact national network 
in the czech republic. We adhere to the fair principles of doing 
business, we help beneficial applications and services to see the 
light of day, and support non-profit organisations, small businesses 
and individuals. We are involved as volunteers in a number of 
places across the czech republic, transferring our experience  
and knowledge and helping in emergency and crisis situations.

as in previous years, we were active in the area of social 
responsibility also in 2017. We organised a discussions meeting 
on this subject that was intended for csr managers, business 
owners, executives and directors, the expert public and 
representatives of the non-profit sector, among other events. 

The seventh edition of the T-mobile Takeoffs (T-mobile rozjezdy) 
competition was held last year. in this project, we support owners 
of small start-up businesses, particularly those from groups of 
the population that are at risk of unemployment: parents with 
small children, recent graduates, the long-term unemployed and 
disabled and elderly people. our objective is to support business 
projects that will not only generate profit but will also benefit their 
communities. support provided via T-mobile Takeoffs consists 
not only in the prizes awarded within the competition but also 
in expert assistance. a summary of the figures for the seventh 
edition of the Takeoffs shows that there were 443 registered 
projects, 40 regional winners and 77 hours of free workshops.

We are sociallY responsible

R
in 2017, we supported 

start-up businesses 
through the seventh 

annual T-Mobile 
Takeoffs project.

a total of czK 3,027,565 
was distributed among 
37 organisations within 
the T-mobile Let‘s Talk 

to Each Other grant 
programme.

We joined Giving 
Tuesday, a global day 

of volunteering and 
philanthropy.
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T-mobile‘s activities in the area of corporate social responsibility 
can be broken down in several pillars: mluVme spolu (“let’s 
Talk to each other”), pomÁheJme si (“let’s help each other”), 
rozVÍJeJme se (“let’s develop”), VYmYsleme To (“let’s Think 
it up”), rozJeĎme To (“let’s start it up”) and pro sVĚT (“For the 
World”). T-mobile‘s let’s Talk to each other grant programme focuses 
on support for small non-profit organisations that are active in local 
communities. its key themes are communication, cooperation and 
integration. Within the one-year programme, T-mobile distributed 
a total of czK 3,027,565 to support 37 selected projects.

The leT’s help each oTher pillar is intended solely for the 
company’s employees and supports their volunteering and 
charitable activities and social responsibility. The traditional 
activities include the den pro dobrý skutek (“one day for people 
in need”) programme, when employees can spend one workday 
per year volunteering in non-profit organisations, selection of the 
Volunteer of the Year and pomáhejme příběhům (“supporting 
stories”), an internal fundraising campaign. The fifth edition of 
this campaign was organised in 2017 to raise funds for people 
in difficult life situations who live in the vicinity of our employees. 
a total of czK 1,335,394 was raised to support those in need.

The main activity within the leT’s deVelop pillar is the long-term 
educational programme called the T-mobile academy. in 2017, 
seven non-profit organisations took part in the programme, within 
which they received free specialist consultations and coaching 
and could attend specialist seminars free of charge for one 
year. Training was provided by T-mobile employees, who were 
happy to share their knowledge and expertise with people from 
foundations and civic associations. in addition to the academy, 
the company continued to organise regular workshops for the 
non-profit sector, which were focused, for example, on human 
resources and communication on social networks. We also 
organised a series of workshops for the elderly people teaching 
them how to use smart phones.

Within the leT’s ThinK iT up pillar, we support the development 
of mobile applications and other on-line solutions that are 
socially useful. For example, such applications and solutions help 
people who are disadvantaged in a certain respect, improve our 
environment or change the world for the better in any other manner. 

in 2017, we again took part in Giving Tuesday, a global day of 
volunteering and philanthropy. our involvement in this event 
consisted in, for example, organising the above-mentioned 
supporting stories fundraising campaign; in addition to that, our 
employees contributed by volunteering hundreds of hours of their 
time. by selling coffee and tea at the company‘s headquarters, 
we raised more than czK 37,000 for an organisation that helps 
children and adults who have suffered burns. The sale of charitable 
products raised an additional sum of nearly czK 28,000 for an 
organisation that supports families with children with visual and 
multiple disabilities.

T-mobile’s approach to environmental protection is based on the 
fundamental document within ems (iso 14001) – environmental 
policy, which was approved by the top management and is 
available at www.t-mobile.cz. The areas of the company’s primary 
focus are based on important environmental aspects (ea), which 
were identified and are defined within the ems that is in place at 
the company (the ea register). These include power and material 
consumption, waste generation and emissions into the air.

potential emergency situations affecting the environment, which 
may occur in T-mobile’s buildings, are identified once a year; the 
methods for responding to, mitigating and preventing emergency 
situations (emergency plans) are revised with the same frequency.

as regards environmental protection, T-mobile cooperates 
with asekol in the disposal of waste electrical and electronic 
equipment (eee) and in the adherence to a collective fee system 
for all eee introduced into the market. T-mobile also cooperates 
with marius pedersen in waste disposal and environmental 
accident management.

T-Mobile Czech Republic a.s.

The board oF direcTor’s reporT on business acTiViTies and asseTs 
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he combination of T-mobile and slovak Telekom gives us 
an opportunity to strengthen our position as the leading 
telecommunications player on the combined czech and slovak 
markets. We are taking advantage of both T-mobile‘s strong 
position on the mobile market in the czech republic and 
slovak Telekom‘s position in fixed-line services and converged 
telecommunications products.

Within the integration, we have focused on the following areas:

     setup of a new governance model and a joint strategy for  
the czech/slovak organisation;

     expansion of the portfolio of services for b2b customers 
active on both markets;

     uniform approach with respect to b2c products and strategy;
     use of slovak Telekom‘s Fmc solutions and services on  

the czech market;
     synergies in investment and operating costs.

in 2017, we started the Fit to Grow transformation programme 
based on the joint czech-slovak organisation, whose main 
objectives are to:

     strengthen the role of T-mobile and slovak Telekom on  
the Fmc market via, among other things, major investments  
in fibre-optic networks;

     significantly shift both companies towards streamlining 
and federalisation of internal process and use of advanced 
technologies such as robotic automation, and continue our 
consolidation in the areas of technologies, iT applications, 
network elements, transmission networks and data centres.

T-mobile‘s cooperaTion WiTh sloVaK TeleKom 
enTers The neXT sTaGe

T
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s at 31 december 2017, our company had 3,498 employees 
with an average age of 36.7 years, of whom 64% were men and 
36% women. Thanks to new technologies and digitalisation, our 
employees can work from anywhere and at any time, provided 
that this is permitted by their job description. approximately  
46% of our employees used this possibility. in 2017, 85 employees 
took maternity or parental leave. We stay in touch with such 
employees via our online echoFamily platform and make their 
return to work as easy as possible. and it is not only for this portal 
that we received the Family Friendly company award from the 
mother centres network in 2017.

We care about our employees‘ health; it is not without reason that 
we were awarded the healthy company title. The year 2017 was 
filled with activities aimed at prevention and raising awareness in the 
area of physical and mental health. We organised ten health days 
not only in prague, but also in our regional offices, during which our 
employees attended development workshops and fitness lessons, 
had their blood pressure and body fat measured, and enjoyed free 
massages. as part of health prevention activities, in 2017 we focused 
on first aid. Training provided in the form of experience-based 
development was attended by 388 employees at 26 workshops 
organised in 13 locations. more than 1,100 employees continued 
to use the services of a private healthcare provider paid for by 
T-mobile for themselves and their families. nearly 300 of them used 
the opportunity to receive flu vaccinations. We applied the concept 
of digitalisation and use of new development tools also in the area 
of health, allowing our employees to use a healthy-lifestyle portal 
which offers them not only articles, but also a possibility of setting 
up a healthy menu free of charge and free exercise programmes. 
overall, we registered approximately 3,000 website visits and  
1,500 views of exercise and healthcare videos. 

We share our expertise and know-how within the company 
according to the following development ratios: 70% on the job, 
20% networking/coaching/mentoring and 10% off the job. 
We do not keep our knowledge only to ourselves, but share it 
with students in order to help them to better prepare for future 
work challenges. We believe that it is necessary not only to 
have theoretical knowledge, but also an idea of how business 
works in reality. Therefore, within the T-mobile campus platform, 
we organise development workshops, specialised lectures, 
conferences and visits to our offices, and help students with writing 
their theses, give lectures at colleges and universities and allow 
secondary-school students to conduct their mandatory internships 
at our company. in 2017, we also launched our first trainee 
programme for university students. We continue to be a member 
of the alliance for Youth. since we want our support to be tangible 
and not exist only on paper, we came up with the unique concept 
of big step events, which gives 20 students an opportunity to get 
to know four companies within two days. in 2017, we organised 
three such events. at the same time, we decided to give the 
young generation an insight into the world of new technologies 
and innovations. The very first T-mobile conference intended for 
students, T-day, was held at our headquarters in prague‘s roztyly 
district in may. The conference received a great response and 
university students can therefore look forward to this activity 
continuing in the coming years. our endeavours in this area  
earned us an award in the Top employers survey of students. 
in 2017, we again defended our first-place ranking in the 
telecommunications sector.

The importance of development is mirrored in the offer of 
development possibilities for our employees. in addition to 
individual development plans, T-mobile provides various corporate 
programmes, which attracted approximately 3,380 participants 
in 2017. Thanks to the closer cooperation between T-mobile 
czech republic and slovak Telekom that started in 2016, we are 
succeeding in providing this offer federally, thus strengthening 
cross-border cooperation. The flagship of our internal development 
is T-university – a development platform that is available free of 
charge to all employees and offers different types of training, 
workshops and e-learning. its purpose is voluntary development 
of those who want to invest time and energy in their personal 
development outside of work. our employees are involved in 
T-university as trainers, sharing their know-how and experience 
with others. in addition to T-university, we also have a library 
available to our employees. in the case of individual or team needs, 
they can also use coaching, mentoring and sociomapping.

The largest part of development activities (up to 70%) consists 
of on-the-job learning. We therefore endeavour to motivate our 
employees to accept a task during which they will gain or use 
a new skill. our czech-slovak programmes, T-Tank and W-lab, are 
also based on this principle. T-Tank is a talent programme that 
gives participants an opportunity to work on strategic issues and 
learn how things work within the company, while also teaches 
them to think differently and present the results of their projects 
to management. The target group of W-lab is narrower, as it 
is intended for female colleagues who have potential and are 
interested in advancing to management positions. during the 
programme, they work on a project assigned by management, 
take part in development activities, and use coaching/mentoring 
and internal on-the-job development. 

We care abouT our people
T-Mobile Czech Republic a.s.

The board oF direcTor’s reporT on business acTiViTies and asseTs 
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future career.



14 15

To reach an even broader spectrum of the female population, 
three years ago we set up a women’s platform within which we 
organise different monthly workshops, business breakfasts with 
interesting speakers and inter-company networking events and 
offer participants tickets to conferences intended for women 
(e.g. Tedx Women prague and Všem ženám [“For all Women”]). 
We thus offered a total of 190 places in development activities 
intended for our female colleagues in 2017.

since we keep step with the times, we are not opposed to 
trying new approaches in the area of development. in 2017, 
we digitalised english-language training and english courses 
are thus now available online. selected colleagues also had an 
opportunity to test the first trainings in virtual reality in 2017. We 
believe that these new approaches will become a natural part 
of everyday life over time and will bring more flexibility into our 
colleagues’ lives, making it possible for them to learn anywhere 
and at any time. 

We believe that technology should above all make life simple and 
more pleasant and that we can achieve that with “our people”, 
who enable us, as an employer, to have a stable position on the 
market. What brings us together is courage to make changes, 
a proactive approach to customers and the fact that we have 
fun in working together as a team. proof of this also is our 
company parties, many of which are attended also by members 
of our colleagues’ families. This year, we had fun together at 
the children’s days, the st. nicolas party and sports activities in 
prague and the regions.

T-Mobile Czech Republic a.s.

The board oF direcTor’s reporT on business acTiViTies and asseTs 
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robably the most important event in the segment of residential 
customers in 2017 was the launch of the new generation of mobil 
tariff plans in april. as compared with the previous generation, 
the new tariff plans feature significantly bigger data allowances, 
unlimited calls to all networks and a contribution for the purchase 
of a new handset. From their introduction, the new tariff plans 
also include eu roaming without surcharges (this service was 
introduced to all residential and self-employed customers on  
11 June) and can be combined with voice, sms and data bundles 
that were also newly introduced.

in march, the xdsl connectivity available within the pevný 
internet („Fixed-line internet“) service was complemented with 
lTe connectivity. The extensive coverage provided by this mobile 
network thus enabled us to start providing fast fixed-line internet 
in areas where it was not previously possible and at higher speeds 
(newly with the maximum download speed of 100 mbps).

as part of our long-term support for the best applications 
and in cooperation with czech Floorball, of which we are the 
main partner, we launched the czech Floorball application in 
september. The application is available free of charge on android 
and ios devices. at the end of the year, the app had been 
downloaded by nearly 20,000 fans.

in 2016, we got involved in the sea hero project developed 
by our parent company, deutsche Telekom, and introduced 
a mobile game of the same name. by playing the game, users 
provided scientists with the largest collection of data on human 
spatial navigation, which will significantly accelerate research 
and treatment of dementia. last year, we participated in another 
milestone of this project with the introduction of sea hero Vr, 
a virtual-reality game that will provides experts with yet more 
accurate data on human spatial navigation.

Within our successful christmas campaign, we offered customers 
an additional handset or other smart device free of charge with 
the purchase of a handset from an offer of selected devices, free 
unlimited internet for one day in a week, a combination of pevný 
internet and T-mobile TV with a discount and the Videotéka 
(„Video-on-demand“) service free of charge for two months. 
everybody that handed in an old mobile phone or tablet at any 
T-mobile shop from the beginning of november received a new 
2600 mah power bank as a gift.

in november, we launched a new version of smart car, a unique 
product introduced two years ago, which enables creation of an 
in-car Wi-Fi network by means of a new obd device. customers 
can choose between two tariff plans that include a 5Gb or  
20Gb data allowance and enable internet access for up to five 
mobile devices at a time.

our strategy for 2018 is a convergence of mobile and fixed-line 
services. in borders of it we launched magenta 1, a new service 
that offers benefits to customers who combine mobile and/or 
fixed-line services under one contract, on February 2018.

We are conTinuouslY 
eXpandinG and 
improVinG our oFFer 

P

We introduced new 
tariff plans and bundles 
containing a bigger  
data allowance.

We expanded the  
pevný internet service 
with a variant enabling 
access via lTe.

We launched a new 
version of smart car 
allowing establishment 
of an in-car Wi-Fi 
network.
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ooperation with the great actor ivan Trojan on our marketing 
communication continued for the fourth year. Viewers could first 
see him as a pilot in the stellar presents christmas campaign, in 
which he transformed from an airline captain into an astronaut 
and headed off into space. The popularity of this campaign is 
evidenced by, for example, the viewership of the stellar presents 
video, which got 2,130,000 views on YouTube.

For the fourth consecutive year, we won the superbrands award 
within the worldwide programme of the same name involving 
independent brand valuation. We received a total of three awards 
for the Klinika inovativní péče („innovative care clinic“) spot: the 
prima zlatá pecka („Golden stone“) award, czech creative awards 
and the zlaté pero („Golden pen“) award. We also received the most 
Trusted brand award in the Telecommunications services category 
(within an independent survey conducted among consumers). 

of no less importance, we won the czech pr award (together 
with our pr agency ac&c public relations) for the book entitled 
2036 and the related exhibition at the national Technical museum, 
the Fénix content marketing award for 2036 and the Grand prix 
2017 award in the category of Workplace as the best internal 
communication Tool.

our Facebook profile has one of the largest communities of fans 
among czech operators, as we had more than 205,000 followers 
at the end of the year. our content is popular also on other social 
networks: we had nearly 120,000 followers on YouTube and more 
than 8,000h on instagram.

We loVe communicaTion

We again received  
a number of awards  

in 2017.

We are the operator 
with one of the largest 

numbers of fans  
on Facebook.

We actively developed 
our communication on 
other social networks.

C
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e started 2017 with a redesign of the website for business 
customers, simplifying and modifying it so that smaller customers 
without advanced iT skills can also understand our products. 
The website newly features references and a blog. Thanks to 
this change, the number of users visiting our website grew 
significantly, as did the number of leads as compared with the 
same period of 2016.

at the beginning of the year, we also took part in the second 
wave of electronic sales register implementation targeted at 
small shops and establishments. We supported sales through 
a communication campaign on the website and direct e-mails  
sent to customers from the Vse segment. in addition to connectivity, 
in the second wave we also offered customers such products 
as Kalkulačka („calculator“), Terminál („Terminal“), Tiskárna 
(„printer“), Tablet and Kasa („cash register“).

in the first half of the year, we prepared new tariff plans for 
business customers. named similarly to clothing sizes, thus 
ranging from Xs to XXl, the new plans are linked with the 
T-mobile cloud services. Together with a tariff plan, customers 
received data backup, antivirus protection and an ms office  
365 service bundle. We supported the new tariff plans with  
an on-line campaign that reached more than 1.7 million users.

last year was successful also for the icT unit, which managed 
to move T-mobile more into the smart city area. We became 
a supplier of technologies for the oaKs project, the most 
advanced smart city in the czech republic. The smart city is 
being built in nebřenice near prague and its future residents can 
look forward to various functionalities, from heating regulation 
in individual rooms to a security system. all data will be saved 
in the cloud and the users will be able to set up the functions 
automatically based on their daily routine. The whole system is 
accessible by means of a uniform portal that will be fully available 
to the homeowners.

We can be seen and heard and We brinG 
neW proJecTs and innoVaTions To business 
cusTomers

WWe launched  
a new website for 

business customers.

We attended  
interesting conferences, 

fairs and seminars.
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tariff plans for business 
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involved in the second 

wave of electronic 
sales register 

implementation.
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in may, we initiated support for the most advanced neutral data 
centre, dc7, which is being built in prague and will open its 
doors this year. The necessity of constructing the centre is due to 
growing customer demand. The communication channels used 
to raise the awareness of the new dc7 included mainly the blog 
and social networks.

in June, we became Gold partners of idc diGiTal business 
Forum 2017, at which petr Jeřábek, b2b marketing director, 
gave a presentation on digitalisation of companies. 

T-mobile has long offered more than just tariff plans to b2b 
customers. however, sometimes customers themselves do not 
know what is best for their business and it is quite logical that they 
are not well versed in the specialist terminology, so they speak the 
language with which they are familiar. Their manner of speaking 
was thus the foundation of our b2b campaign, which was aimed 
at presenting our services and strengthening our position as 
a guide to the digital world. The campaign was launched in 
september and was an immediate success, ranking first in the 
professional journal marketing & media. 

Throughout the year, we organised customer events and took 
part in trade fairs. Worth mentioning is our participation in two 
thematically focused trade fairs in autumn: For GasTro & hoTel 
and czech bus, where we presented our advanced Wi-Fi solution. 
our stalls at both fairs were designed according to the theme, 
providing a place at which our experts and sales representatives 
could meet with both existing and prospective customers. our 
participation in the For GasTro & hoTel fair was also supported 
by two presentations given by our experts on the particular topic.

We closed 2017 by preparing, in partnership with Forbes, 
a special site dedicated to digitalisation of companies. We opted 
for a playful concept that presents the individual departments 
within the company by means of a floorplan with rooms from 
a bird’s-eye perspective. after opening a particular room, 
customers find information on how the particular department 
can be digitalised. The main purpose of the dedicated website is 
to inform customers about the possibilities of digitalisation that 
will boost their company’s flexibility, save time and money and 
enhance their competitiveness on the market.

T-Mobile Czech Republic a.s.

The board oF direcTor’s reporT on business acTiViTies and asseTs 
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n June, we modified the offer of data bundles for users of the 
prepaid Twist card, who can now choose from three one-month 
bundles offering up to four times more data for the same price 
as compared with the previous variants. We did not forget about 
the customers of our Kaktus brand, for whom we launched a new 
offer of data bundles with bigger data allowances in July. With 
every activated bundle, they also receive an extra 50% portion 
of data to be used on the social networks Facebook, instagram, 
snapchat and Twitter.

We also improved our T-mobile TV service by extending the 
time-shifting period from two to three days and adding a number 
of new channels, including those in hd quality. Furthermore, 
a dozen of the most popular channels are now broadcast using 
the new heVc (h.365) codec, which will be the future standard, 
as it offers a better and clearer picture while consuming less data.

We continued our partnership with the czech olympic committee, 
the czech national football team, czech Floorball, the rock band 
Kryštof and the rock for people music festival. With the first of the 
partners mentioned above, we organised the third edition of the 
T-mobile olympic run, within which more than 76,000 runners took 
part in runs organised across the czech republic – whether as part 
of an official competition in Gold, silver and bronze cities, in school 
runs or as part of individual challenges within a running application.

since the middle of november 2017, our customers have been 
able to enjoy unlimited music and videos in supported mobile 
applications without using up any of the data limit, thanks to the 
new streamon bundle. The bundle enables streaming of music 
and video content by means of supported applications and was 
designed primarily for use on mobile telephones.

KaKTus

The Kaktus brand achieved good results in 2017. as in the 
previous year, its revenues increased by nearly one-third and 
the customer base grew by 10%. during its four years on the 
market, Kaktus has built a clear profile by which it differentiates 
itself from other virtual operators. in comparison with competing 
brands, Kaktus is a relevant brand for young people, as it is often 
associated with such terms as fun, shared experience, freedom, 
creativity and being laid-back. Kaktus’s brand awareness is the 
third highest on the market among virtual operators, behind only 
sazKa mobile and Tesco mobile.

The besT For 
our cusTomers 

T-Mobile Czech Republic a.s.

zprÁVa předsTaVensTVa o podniKaTelsKé činnosTi a sTaVu maJeTKu

I
We launched new  

data bundles for 
the prepaid Twist 

and Kaktus services 
featuring bigger data 

allowances.

We continued to 
improve T-mobile TV, for 

example by extending 
the time-shifting period.

We introduced the 
streamon bundle 

for unlimited music 
listening and  

video viewing.
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We are improVinG 
coVeraGe, increasinG 
speeds and inTroducinG 
neW TechnoloGies

I
n 2017, we continued to expand and improve the lTe network. 
at the end of last year, our fastest mobile internet technology 
covered 98.8% of the population of the czech republic, i.e.  
3,474 cities and towns (which is an increase by 12% as compared 
with the previous year). combined coverage with the 3G and  
lTe networks reached 99.10% of the population.

installation of the single ran concept in the part of the mobile 
network managed by us was completed in 2017, which helped 
simplify its architecture. The concept also facilitated the rollout 
of lTe using the 2100 mhz band also in areas covered with the 
3G network. a total of 2,024 lTe transmitters using the 2100 mhz 
band were put into operation at the end of 2017.
 
We also continued to expand our coverage with lTe advanced 
(lTe-a) technology, which combines two or three bands by 
means of the carrier aggregation function. at the end of last year, 
our network included 2,206 lTe-a transmitters (1,709 combining 
two bands and 497 combining three bands), which is 80% more 
than in the previous year. lTe-a technology is now installed on 
37% of our lTe transmitters, more or less in the entire western 
part of the czech republic and in brno and the pardubice, 
olomouc and ostrava districts. 
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With respect to maximum download speeds, at the end of 2017 our 
network included a total of 823 transmitters supporting speeds of 
up to 300 mbps, 124 transmitters supporting speeds of up to  
375 mbps and 14 transmitters supporting speeds of up to 450 mbps. 

We continued to steadily reaffirm our role as a leading innovator 
among czech operators. in connection with preparations for 
the introduction of embedded sim cards (esims), we continued 
in testing a complete system based on the Gsma standard, 
within which we succeeded in remotely activating the first esim 
in January 2017. additionally, in cooperation with ericsson, we 
put into operation the first microwave link with capacity of up 
to 10 Gbps in the czech republic – this step is connected with 
preparations for the future launch of the 5G network, whose 
deployment will be facilitated by links having such capacity. 

in cooperation with our partner, simplecell networks, we 
continued in covering the czech republic with the siGFoX 
network for the internet of Things. at the end of last year, this 
network covered 95% of the population and 92% of the territory 
of the czech republic. at the same time, we decided to further 
strengthen our competencies in the area of the internet of Things 
and, in line with the strategy of our parent company, we launched 
pilot operation of the nb-ioT network in the vicinity of our 
headquarters in prague‘s roztyly district at the end of last year. 

The company also cooperates with technological universities in 
areas of research and development. For example in cooperation 
with the department of hydraulics and hydrology of the 
Faculty of civil engineering at the czech Technical university in 
prague, T-mobile has been participating in a project involving 
measurement of rainfall by means of microwave links used to 
connect transmitters in a mobile network.

in the upcoming years, we plan to invest in the construction of 
optical networks and preparations to launch the 5G mobile network. 

We achieved coverage 
of 99% of the czech 
republic’s population 
with the lTe network.

We installed 981 new 
lTe-a transmitters.

a total of  
961 transmitters 
enabled a theoretical 
maximum download 
speed of 300 mbps  
or higher.

T-Mobile Czech Republic a.s.

The board oF direcTor’s reporT on business acTiViTies and asseTs 

in prague, 22 march 2018

Daria Dodonová
Vice-chairman of the board of directors

Mardia Niehaus
member of the board of directors
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4.  muTual conTracTs WiThin The concern
4.1   conTracTs enTered inTo beTWeen The companY and The conTrollinG parTY ThaT 

Were eFFecTiVe and Valid in The releVanT period.
4.1.1.  ConTRaCTs enTeRed inTo in 2017:

Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

deutsche Telekom aG annex - service arrangement - hr Global competence 
centre 2017

annex - service arrangement - hr Global competence 
centre 2017

022888-129-00

deutsche Telekom aG annex - service arrangement board area europe Tmcz 
euhQ 2017

annex - service arrangement board area europe Tmcz 
euhQ 2017

022888-130-00

deutsche Telekom aG deutsche Telekom hr suite - performance management 
- modified agreement on the annex of data Fields 
concerning the individual agreement on the processing 
of personal data.

deutsche Telekom hr suite - performance management 
- modified agreement on the annex of data Fields 
concerning the individual agreement on the processing 
of personal data.

026070-202-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreeement concerning the implementation of iFrs 16 
leases standard (nda)

agreeement concerning the implementation of iFrs 16 
leases standard (nda)

026830-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement for internal payment services agreement for internal payment services 026832-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG Global master agreement for Wholesale Voice services Global master agreement for Wholesale Voice services 027071-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG individual agreement on the commissioned processing 
of personal data – deutsche Telekom hr suite – 
performance management.

individual agreement on the commissioned processing 
of personal data – deutsche Telekom hr suite – 
performance management.

027168-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement - provision of dTaG shares to directors and 
employees of Gc

agreement - provision of dTaG shares to directors and 
employees of Gc

027270-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement on commisioned data processing - baseline 
agreement

agreement on commisioned data processing - baseline 
agreement

027354-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement on discounts for inter-operator tariffs - 
roaming intradT discount 201

agreement on discounts for inter-operator tariffs - 
roaming intradT discount 201

027416-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement on commisioned data processing - project 
iFrs 16-leases

agreement on commisioned data processing - project 
iFrs 16-leases

027553-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG, 
deutsche Telekom 
services europe Gmbh

affirmation issued for T-mobile czech republic a.s. affirmation issued for T-mobile czech republic a.s. 027582-000-00

4.1.2.  ConTRACTs ThAT WeRe effeCTIve In 2017:

Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

deutsche Telekom aG amendment no. 11 to agreement on Global roaming 
eXchange (GrX)

amendment no. 11 to agreement on Global roaming 
eXchange (GrX)

010109-111-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment no. 12 - GrX services amendment no. 12 - GrX services 010109-112-00

deutsche Telekom aG annex 2 - service agreement - sla inbound 2016 Tmcz 
service provider TdG service

annex 2 - service agreement - sla inbound 2016 Tmcz 
service provider TdG service

013243-116-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement 2016 -X-charges Tmcz inbound 
under the Framework cooperation

service arrangement 2016 -X-charges Tmcz inbound 
under the Framework cooperation

013243-117-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment no. 2 to the agreement on commercial 
roaming broker services

amendment no. 2 to the agreement on commercial 
roaming broker services

022191-102-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment no. 1 to management agreement for 
international mnc services

amendment no. 1 to management agreement for 
international mnc services

022522-101-00

deutsche Telekom aG annex - service arrangement T-systems/Telekom iT/eu 
solution 2013

annex - service arrangement T-systems/Telekom iT/eu 
solution 2013

022888-109-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - musketeer program service arrangement - musketeer program 022888-120-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement (outbound cross charges) service arrangement (outbound cross charges) 022888-121-00

deutsche Telekom aG annex - service arrangement - product roadmap 2016 annex - service arrangement - product roadmap 2016 022888-122-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement 2015 - Group Technology 
(outbound cross charges)

service arrangement 2015 - Group Technology 
(outbound cross charges)

022888-123-00

The board of directors of T-mobile czechrepublic a.s., having its registered office at Tomíčkova 2144/1, 148 00 praha 4, company registration 

number 649 49 681, which is registered in the commercial register administered by the municipal court in prague, section b, File no. 3787 (in this 

report also the “Company” or “TMCZ”), has prepared the following report on relationships pursuant to section 82 of act no. 90/2012 coll., the 

corporations act (the “Corporations Act”), for the accounting period of the calendar year 2017 (“the Relevant Period”).

1.  relaTionships sTrucTure
according to the available information of the board of directors of the company acting with due managerial care, for the whole of the relevant period, 

the company formed a part of the concern in which the controlling party is deutsche Telekom aG (“DTAG”) (“the Concern”). information on the 

entities forming part of the concern is stated as at 31 december 2017 according to the information available to the statutory body of the company 

acting with due managerial care. The overview contains the entities controlled by dTaG, when the company had business relationships with these 

entities during the relevant period, as well as some entities which stand in the structure of the concern either above or below the aforementioned 

entities. The structure of relations within the concern is graphically illustrated in the annex no. 1. 

conTrollinG parTY 
deutsche Telekom aG, with its registered office at Friedrich-ebert-allee 140, bonn, nordrhein-Westfalen, 53113 Germany (in this report also the 

“controlling party“) indirectly controls the company through deutsche Telekom europe b.V. (the netherlands) which was the sole shareholder of the 

company in the relevant period.

2.  role oF The companY in The concern
The company is the integrated operator: in addition to mobile and fix telecommunication services it provides a wide portfolio of iT services and 

system integration solutions to business customers. in the long term the company focuses on the quality of provided services. since its establishment 

the company emphasizes the excellent customer care and fair approach to business partners, employees and environment.

3.  meThods and means oF conTrol
The controlling party indirectly controls the company through deutsche Telekom europe b.V., which was the sole shareholder of the company in the 

relevant period. The control of the company occurs in particular through the decisions of the sole shareholder in the powers of the General meeting 

of the company.

The company carries out its activities in line with the globally developed and focused business, financial, investment, and other plans of the 

dTaG group. decisions on the day-to-day activities and business of the company (e.g. budgets, marketing, hr policy, etc.) fall naturally within the 

autonomous power of the company while taking into account the dTaG group’s global policy.
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Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

deutsche Telekom aG amendment no. 9 to agreement on Global roaming 
eXchange (GrX) (no. T-systems 2002/622

amendment no. 9 to agreement on Global roaming 
eXchange (GrX) (no. T-systems 2002/622

010109-109-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment no. 10 to agreement on Global roaming 
eXchange (GrX)

amendment no. 10 to agreement on Global roaming 
eXchange (GrX)

010109-110-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement - agreement on telecommunication network’s 
interconnection

agreement - agreement on telecommunication network’s 
interconnection

010246-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG umTs Frame agreement umTs Frame agreement 010322-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment no. 5 - roaming signalling amendment no. 5 - roaming signalling 010340-105-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment 6 - agreement on application of agreement 
on signalling-for-international-roaming (spr services)

amendment 6 - agreement on application of agreement 
on signalling-for-international-roaming (spr services)

010340-106-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment no. 7 - signalling for international roaming 
- diameter/4G

amendment no. 7 - signalling for international roaming 
- diameter/4G

010340-107-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment no. 8 - signalling for international roaming - 
ss7 based steering

amendment no. 8 - signalling for international roaming - 
ss7 based steering

010340-108-00

deutsche Telekom aG Framework agreement – inbound Framework agreement – inbound 010562-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - strategy & portfolio management service arrangement - strategy & portfolio management 010562-201-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - management iT applications service arrangement - management iT applications 010562-202-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - erp & corporate systems service arrangement - erp & corporate systems 010562-203-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - managemnt iT operations service arrangement - managemnt iT operations 010562-204-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - end user marketing service arrangement - end user marketing 010562-205-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - system engineering service arrangement - system engineering 010562-206-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - system engineering service arrangement - system engineering 010562-207-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - network deployment & 
operations management

service arrangement - network deployment & 
operations management

010562-208-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - network deployment & 
operations management

service arrangement - network deployment & 
operations management

010562-209-00

deutsche Telekom aG Framework cooperation and service agreement- 
outbound direct charging

Framework cooperation and service agreement- 
outbound direct charging

010563-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - erp & corporate systems service arrangement - erp & corporate systems 010563-201-00

deutsche Telekom aG Framework cooperation and service agreement– 
outbound

Framework cooperation and service agreement– 
outbound

010564-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG sideletter to the Framework cooperation and service 
ag. (outbound/allocation)

sideletter to the Framework cooperation and service 
ag. (outbound/allocation)

010564-101-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - Global products service arrangement - Global products 010564-201-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - payment service arrangement - payment 010564-202-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - iT department service arrangement - iT department 010564-203-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - marketing department service arrangement - marketing department 010564-204-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - network Technology office service arrangement - network Technology office 010564-205-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - iT strategy & portfolio 
management

service arrangement - iT strategy & portfolio 
management

010564-206-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - process alignment & Quality 
management

service arrangement - process alignment & Quality 
management

010564-207-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - management iT applications service arrangement - management iT applications 010564-208-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - management iT operations service arrangement - management iT operations 010564-209-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - marketing coordination service arrangement - marketing coordination 010564-210-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - marketing coordination service arrangement - marketing coordination 010564-211-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - product management service arrangement - product management 010564-212-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - end user marketing service arrangement - end user marketing 010564-213-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - end user marketing service arrangement - end user marketing 010564-214-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - Wholesale marketing service arrangement - Wholesale marketing 010564-215-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - Wholesale marketing service arrangement - Wholesale marketing 010564-216-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - european Terminal management service arrangement - european Terminal management 010564-217-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - systems engineering service arrangement - systems engineering 010564-218-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - systems engineering service arrangement - systems engineering 010564-219-00

Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

deutsche Telekom aG annex to the Framework cooperation and service 
agreement (procurement 2016)

annex to the Framework cooperation and service 
agreement (procurement 2016)

022888-124-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement 2016 - Group innovation (Gi) 
connected devices (Gi-cod) services

service arrangement 2016 - Group innovation (Gi) 
connected devices (Gi-cod) services

022888-125-00

deutsche Telekom aG annex - service agreement for Tmcz outbound 
x-charges com.roaming,shops,eWc,icca

annex - service agreement for Tmcz outbound 
x-charges com.roaming,shops,eWc,icca

022888-126-00

deutsche Telekom aG annex - service arrangement - centralized capacity 
planning service

annex - service arrangement - centralized capacity 
planning service

022888-127-00

deutsche Telekom aG Term sheet 2016 - regarding services for Telepresence Term sheet 2016 - regarding services for Telepresence 023403-201-00

deutsche Telekom aG supplementary agreement to the project service 
agreement to the provision of next Generation Voice  
mail system

supplementary agreement to the project service 
agreement to the provision of next Generation Voice 
mail system

024075-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG annex to the agreement project service agreement annex to the agreement project service agreement 024100-101-00

deutsche Telekom aG iFrs project Term sheet 2016 - iFrs15 central engine 
(revenuerecognition)

iFrs project Term sheet 2016 - iFrs15 central engine 
(revenuerecognition)

024100-212-00

deutsche Telekom aG sideletter to iphone contract of adherence to the iphone 
agreement between apple

sideletter to iphone contract of adherence to the iphone 
agreement between apple

024364-201-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - sla outbound services 2016, 
Tmcz service receiver, Td services

service arrangement - sla outbound services 2016, 
Tmcz service receiver, Td services

024410-103-00

deutsche Telekom aG service level agreement (sla) - handset capability 
server (hcs)

service level agreement (sla) - handset capability 
server (hcs)

024410-104-00

deutsche Telekom aG non-disclosure agreement - nda - pro dTaG Group 
procurement (souvisí s cdp)

non-disclosure agreement - nda - pro dTaG Group 
procurement (related to cdp)

025336-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG software cost allocation agreement - pr0028752 - 
Tibco ela (2012 and thereafter)

software cost allocation agreement - pr0028752 - 
Tibco ela (2012 and thereafter)

026063-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG modified agreement - annex of data Fields (ind. 
agreement - pers. data - perform

modified agreement - annex of data Fields (ind. 
agreement - pers. data - perform

026070-201-00

deutsche Telekom aG service agreement cz - dT regarding pan ip FTes service agreement cz - dT regarding pan ip FTes 026089-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG service agreement dT mnc service agreement dT mnc 026192-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG service agreement - amendment no. 1 service agreement - amendment no. 1 026192-101-00

deutsche Telekom aG icn dTaG security agreement corporate network 
(sacon)

icn dTaG security agreement corporate network 
(sacon)

026365-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement for commissioned data processing 
(application sppm (icTo 12147) with its portfolios  
pFm-Tool and pFm@iT)

agreement for commissioned data processing 
(application sppm (icTo 12147) with its portfolios pFm-
Tool and pFm@iT)

026387-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement on regional acGc services - projekt ean agreement on regional acGc services - project ean 026469-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement for commissioned data processing agreement for commissioned data processing 026562-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement on discounts for inter-operator Tariffs agreement on discounts for inter-operator Tariffs 026609-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG prolongation agreement infrastructure services for 
T-mobile cz

prolongation agreement infrastructure services for 
T-mobile cz

880052-103-00

deutsche Telekom aG individual agreement on the commissioned processing 
of personal data within the eu/eea

individual agreement on the commissioned processing 
of personal data within the eu/eea

880080-202-00

deutsche Telekom aG non - disclosure agreement non - disclosure agreement 0000156/2006-smnp

deutsche Telekom aG international carrier interconnection- deutsche Telekom 
network through deutsche Telekom point of presence in 
prague for international Telecommunications services 
viac psTn/isdn

international carrier interconnection- deutsche Telekom 
network through deutsche Telekom point of presence in 
prague for international Telecommunications services 
viac psTn/isdn

0000230/2007-smws

deutsche Telekom aG agreement on - circuit solution eom agreement on - circuit solution eom 0000289/2011-smna

deutsche Telekom aG non-disclosure and confidentiality agreement non-disclosure and confidentiality agreement 001070-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG letter of understanding letter of understanding 010003-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG sublicence agreement (rebranding) sublicence agreement (rebranding) 010091-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment no. 1 to the partial contract amendment no. 1 to the partial contract 010091-201-01

deutsche Telekom aG letter of understanding letter of understanding 010091-202-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment no. 8 to agreement on Global roaming 
eXchange (GrX) (no. T-systems 2002/622)

amendment no. 8 to agreement on Global roaming 
eXchange (GrX) (no. T-systems 2002/622)

010109-108-00
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Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

deutsche Telekom aG outbound service arrangement 2007 outbound service arrangement 2007 013244-104-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement 2008 (outbound) - change of the 
contract attachment no. 2

service arrangement 2008 (outbound) – amendment 
of the annex 2

013244-105-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement 2009 service arrangement 2009 013244-106-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement 2010 - annex 2 (outbound contract) service arrangement 2010 - annex 2 (outbound contract) 013244-107-00

deutsche Telekom aG sideletter on chordiant project - Terms of use of the 
cmd software

sideletter on chordiant project - Terms of use of the 
cmd software

013956-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG service agreement concerning the administration of 
mTip in the deutsche Telekom

service agreement concerning the administration of 
mTip in the deutsche Telekom

014145-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG service agreement - interoperator discount services 
("ioT-services")

service agreement - interoperator discount services 
("ioT-services")

014585-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment no. 1 - new version of appendix 1 
(distribution of discounts)

amendment no. 1 - new version of appendix 1 
(distribution of discounts)

014585-101-00

deutsche Telekom aG suretyship agreement (nortel) suretyship agreement (nortel) 015123-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement on the unification of payment terms - 
application inhouse cash

agreement on the unification of payment terms - 
application inhouse cash

015941-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment no. 1 to the agreement on the unification of 
payments Terms

amendment no. 1 to the agreement on the unification of 
payments Terms

015941-101-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment no. 2 to the agreement on the unification of 
payment Terms

amendment no. 2 to the agreement on the unification of 
payment Terms

015941-102-00

deutsche Telekom aG Variation to unification of payment Terms agreement Variation to unification of payment Terms agreement 015941-103-00

deutsche Telekom aG inhouse banking side agreement (side letter to upT 
agreement)

inhouse banking side agreement (side letter to upT 
agreement)

015941-201-00

deutsche Telekom aG service agreement (auditing services - x-charge) service agreement (auditing services - x-charge) 016189-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG sublicense agreement (intel) sublicense agreement (intel) 016228-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG master agreement - hedging activities master agreement - hedging activities 016323-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement on bilateral mms eXchange agreement on bilateral mms eXchange 016451-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG service agreement for the provision of marketing 
services

service agreement for the provision of marketing 
services

016889-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment no. 1 to the service agr.- service 
description, cost allocation scheme

amendment no. 1 to the service agr.- service 
description, cost allocation scheme

016889-101-00

deutsche Telekom aG deed of adherence (project munice 2) deed of adherence (project munice 2) 017569-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG non disclosure agreement (nda) - exchange zigbee info 
on sim card

non disclosure agreement (nda) - exchange zigbee info 
on sim card

017808-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG roaming agreement for public Wireless lan services 
(Germany)

roaming agreement for public Wireless lan services 
(Germany)

017982-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG deed of adherence-accession of Tmcz to the Global 
Framework ag. (GFa) 990030-000-00

deed of adherence-accession of Tmcz to the Global 
Framework ag. (GFa) 990030-000-00

018945-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG non disclosure agreement (nda)- project 2G 
modernization

non disclosure agreement (nda)- project 2G 
modernization

018965-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG non disclosure agreement (nda) - project 2G 
modernization

non disclosure agreement (nda) - project 2G 
modernization

019043-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG non disclosure agreement (nda) - project 2G 
modernization

non disclosure agreement (nda) - project 2G 
modernization

019044-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG non disclosure agreement (nda) - project 2G 
modernization

non disclosure agreement (nda) - project 2G 
modernization

019045-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG non disclosure agreement (nda) - project 2G 
modernization

non disclosure agreement (nda) - project 2G 
modernization

019046-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG non disclosure agreement (nda) - project 2G 
modernization

non disclosure agreement (nda) - project 2G 
modernization

019052-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG ebs General service agreement ebs General service agreement 019184-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG service package to the ebs General service agreement service package to the ebs General service agreement 019184-201-00

deutsche Telekom aG settlement agreement – international traffic - settlement settlement agreement – international traffic - settlement 019199-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG deed of adherence to the Framework ag. for the supply 
of network infrastructure

deed of adherence to the Framework ag. for the supply 
of network infrastructure

019440-000-00

Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - network deployment and 
operations management

service arrangement - network deployment and 
operations management

010564-220-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - network deployment and 
operations management

service arrangement - network deployment and 
operations management

010564-221-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - Technology and development service arrangement - Technology and development 010564-222-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - supplier management service arrangement - supplier management 010564-223-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - network budgeting performance service arrangement - network budgeting performance 010564-224-00

deutsche Telekom aG declaration of consent (consent to access to the Tmcz 
database)

declaration of consent (consent to access to the Tmcz 
database)

010817-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG sublicence of Tibco software license agreement sublicence of Tibco software license agreement 011269-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG loan agreement loan agreement 012236-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement - Tmo warranty for siemens aG agreement - Tmo warranty for siemens aG 012309-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG services agreement - mbs services agreement - mbs 012467-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG letter of affirmation - licence chordiant marketing 
director

letter of affirmation - licence chordiant marketing 
director

012761-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG T-zones agreement T-zones agreement 012876-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment no. 1 - letter of Variation(t-zones) amendment no. 1 - letter of Variation(t-zones) 012876-101-00

deutsche Telekom aG letter of Variation – addendum no. 2 to T-zones 
agreement - discount for r. 2006

letter of Variation – addendum no. 2 to T-zones 
agreement - discount for r. 2006

012876-102-00

deutsche Telekom aG addendum no. 3 to T-zones agreement - contract update addendum no. 3 to T-zones agreement - contract update 012876-103-00

deutsche Telekom aG letter of Variation - addendum no. 4 T-zones agreement letter of Variation - addendum no. 4 T-zones agreement 012876-104-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement - suretyship (bürgschaft) nortel Gprs agreement - suretyship (Guarantee) nortel Gprs 012958-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG Framework cooperation and service agreement – 
inbound

Framework cooperation and service agreement – 
inbound

013243-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG inbound (update of the annex 2 - service  
arrangement 2005)

inbound (update of the annex 2 - service  
arrangement 2005)

013243-101-00

deutsche Telekom aG inbound (amendment of the annex 2 - service 
arrangement 2006)

inbound (amendment of the annex 2 - service 
arrangement 2006)

013243-102-00

deutsche Telekom aG inbound service arrangement 2007 inbound service arrangement 2007 013243-103-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement 2008 (inbound (annex 2 valid for 08)) service arrangement 2008 (inbound (annex 2 valid for 08)) 013243-104-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement 2009 service arrangement 2009 013243-105-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement 2010 - annex 2 (inbound contract) service arrangement 2010 - annex 2 (inbound contract) 013243-106-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement 2011 - X-charges inbound 2011 
under the Framework cooperation

service arrangement 2011 - X-charges inbound 2011 
under the Framework cooperation

013243-107-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement 2013 (inbound - annex 2 - product 
development 2013)

service arrangement 2013 (inbound - annex 2 - product 
development 2013)

013243-108-00

deutsche Telekom aG sla inbound 2014 Tmcz service provider TdG service 
receiver

sla inbound 2014 Tmcz service provider TdG service 
receiver

013243-109-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - annex service agreement Tmcz 
euhQ 2014

service arrangement - annex service agreement Tmcz 
euhQ 2014

013243-110-00

deutsche Telekom aG annex service agreement Tmcz euhQ2013 annex service agreement Tmcz euhQ2013 013243-111-00

deutsche Telekom aG annex service agreement - sla inbound 2015 Tmcz 
service provider TdG service receiver

annex service agreement - sla inbound 2015 Tmcz 
service provider TdG service receiver

013243-112-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement 2014 Ghs (procurement) service arrangement 2014 Ghs (procurement) 013243-113-00 

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement 2015 Ghs (procurement) service arrangement 2015 Ghs (procurement) 013243-114-00

deutsche Telekom aG annex 2 - service arrangement 2015 - inbound service 
agreement

annex 2 - service arrangement 2015 - inbound service 
agreement

013243-115-00

deutsche Telekom aG Framework cooperation and service agreement 
(outbound/allocation)

Framework cooperation and service agreement 
(outbound/allocation)

013244-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG sideletter to the cooperation and service agreement 
(outbound/allocation)

sideletter to the cooperation and service agreement 
(outbound/allocation)

013244-101-00

deutsche Telekom aG outbound (amendment of the annex 2 - service 
arrangement 2005)

outbound (amendment of the annex 2 - service 
arrangement 2005)

013244-102-00

deutsche Telekom aG outbound (amendment of the annex 2 - service 
arrangement pro rok 2006)

outbound (amendment of the annex 2 - service 
arrangement pro rok 2006)

013244-103-00
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Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

deutsche Telekom aG annex to the Framework cooperation and service 
agreement-service arrangement Group procurement 

annex to the Framework cooperation and service 
agreement-service arrangement Group procurement 

022888-118-00

deutsche Telekom aG Termination of the part of service arrangement 2015 
amendment no. 1

Termination of the part of service arrangement 2015 
amendment no. 1

022888-401-00

deutsche Telekom aG letter of intent - iT data assurance shared service 
centre (ssc)

letter of intent - iT data assurance shared service 
centre (ssc)

022962-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG procurement Joint Venture of deutsche Telekom aG and 
France Télécom sa: interim

procurement Joint Venture of deutsche Telekom aG and 
France Télécom sa: interim

022972-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment no. 1 - interim letter - Joint Venture amendment no. 1 - interim letter - Joint Venture 022972-101-00

deutsche Telekom aG deed of adherence (Vertragsbeitritt – to contract 
990053-000-00)

deed of adherence (accession to the contract  
990053-000-00)

023021-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG side letter to the Framework cooperation and service 
agreement

side letter to the Framework cooperation and service 
agreement

023056-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG enrolment to the Frame agreement for the supply of 
ccc sap services including sap licence  
management services

enrolment to the Frame agreement for the supply of 
ccc sap services including sap licence  
management services

023213-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG Tax indemnity agreement Tax indemnity agreement 023340-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG Framework cooperation and service agreement Framework cooperation and service agreement 023382-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG co-operation agreement for joint smart lte evaluation trial co-operation agreement for joint smart lte evaluation trial 023418-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG confidentiality obligation for clean Team members confidentiality obligation for clean Team members 023435-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG letter of intent - oss letter of intent - oss 023451-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG cooperation agreement cooperation agreement 023481-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG cooperation agreement - inTra Group compliance 
aGreemenT

cooperation agreement – intragroup compliance 
agreement

023496-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG letter of adherence ("loa") - ringback Tones services letter of adherence ("loa") - ringback Tones services 023507-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG Global m2m service cooperation - Joining agreement Global m2m service cooperation - Joining agreement 023543-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG Frame agreement for commissioned personal data 
processing

Frame agreement for commissioned personal data 
processing

023692-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG cdp individual agreeement on commissioned 
processing of personal data Gpbi (bdsG)

cdp individual agreeement on commissioned 
processing of personal data Gpbi (bdsG)

023692-201-00

deutsche Telekom aG cdp individual agreement on commissioned processing 
of personal data - s2c

cdp individual agreement on commissioned processing 
of personal data - s2c

023692-202-00

deutsche Telekom aG cdp individual agreement on commissioned processing 
of personal data ocp (onecom)

cdp individual agreement on commissioned processing 
of personal data ocp (onecom)

023692-203-00

deutsche Telekom aG individual agreement on the commissioned processing 
of personal data

individual agreement on the commissioned processing 
of personal data

023727-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement on the purchase of a videoconferencing system agreement on the purchase of a videoconferencing system 023771-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG letter of adherence - callertunes service real networks letter of adherence - callertunes service real networks 023864-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement p&i products core telco products 
and media 2013

service arrangement p&i products core telco products 
and media 2013

024087-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement For commissioned data processing agreement For commissioned data processing 024202-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG cooperation and service agreement - ring back tones cooperation and service agreement - ring back tones 024204-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG retail and marketing Funds agreement retail and marketing Funds agreement 024307-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG "m-wall" (pos presentation) agreement "m-wall" (pos presentation) agreement 024308-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG annex 1 to service arrangement - product roadmap 2015 annex 1 to service arrangement - product roadmap 2015 024334-101-00

deutsche Telekom aG annex - service arranagement - compensation in the 
area of m2m for 2015

annex - service arranagement - compensation in the 
area of m2m for 2015

024334-102-00

deutsche Telekom aG main contract on ip Transit main contract on ip Transit 024335-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement on the processing of personal data in 
international sharepoint

agreement on the processing of personal data in 
international sharepoint

024360-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG contract on deutsche Telekom icss mobile services - 
dinr3, services enabling ip/mpls platform

contract on deutsche Telekom icss mobile services - 
dinr3, services enabling ip/mpls platform

024362-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment no. 1 to the contract on deutsche Telekom 
icss 024362-000-00

amendment no. 1 to the contract on deutsche Telekom 
icss 024362-000-00

024362-101-00

Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

deutsche Telekom aG project specific annex (psa) GGsn & sGsn - 
commercial conditions to the Frame agreement

project specific annex (psa) GGsn & sGsn - 
commercial conditions to the Frame agreement

019704-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG master agreement for derivates and investment contracts master agreement for derivates and investment contracts 019894-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG sideletter sideletter 019895-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment to the side letter to the master agreement 
for derivates and inv. con.

amendment to the side letter to the master agreement 
for derivates and inv. con.

019895-101-00

deutsche Telekom aG WiFi roaming solution agreement WiFi roaming solution agreement 020075-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment no. 1 to the WiFi roaming solution 
agreement

amendment no. 1 to the WiFi roaming solution 
agreement

020075-101-00

deutsche Telekom aG service agreement - interoperator discount contracts service agreement - interoperator discount contracts 021094-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG confidentiality agreement confidentiality agreement 021267-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG license agreement - software concerning the predictive 
modeling

license agreement - software concerning the predictive 
modeling

021411-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement on the processing of personal data agreement on the processing of personal data 021442-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG project specific annex ru20/oss5.2 project specific annex ru20/oss5.2 021581-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG project service agreement for cibs - common 
interconnect billing system

project service agreement for cibs - common 
interconnect billing system

021810-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG co-operation agreement for Joint lTe-Td evaluation Trial co-operation agreement for Joint lTe-Td evaluation Trial 021821-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG project service agreement for rmc (psa) for the new iT 
enabler rmc (T-rex)

project service agreement for rmc (psa) for the new iT 
enabler rmc (T-rex)

021911-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement on processing of data and information with 
condidentiality clause

agreement on processing of data and information with 
condidentiality clause

022098-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG contractual agreement for change of delivery model for 
ng ibmd (Jellyfish)

contractual agreement for change of delivery model for 
ng ibmd (Jellyfish)

022173-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement on commercial roaming broker services agreement on commercial roaming broker services 022191-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment letter no. 1 to the agreement on 
commercial roaming broker services

amendment letter no. 1 to the agreement on 
commercial roaming broker services

022191-101-00

deutsche Telekom aG amendment letter no. 3 to the agreement on 
commercial roaming broker services

amendment letter no. 3 to the agreement on 
commercial roaming broker services

022191-103-00

deutsche Telekom aG cooperation agreement cooperation agreement 022250-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG delivery of software and the performance of services in 
connection with ngcrm

delivery of software and the performance of services in 
connection with ngcrm

022281-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG supplement no. 1 - delivery of software and the 
performance of services in connection with ngcrm

supplement no. 1 - delivery of software and the 
performance of services in connection with ngcrm

022281-101-00

deutsche Telekom aG supplement no. 1 to project service agreement (psa) - 
ngcrm system

supplement no. 1 to project service agreement (psa) - 
ngcrm system

022281-102-00

deutsche Telekom aG serVice agreement network Technology serVice agreement network Technology 022467-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG sublicense aGreemenT for the software for iVr 
campaigning/banner

sublicense aGreemenT for the software for iVr 
campaigning/banner

022483-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG management agreement for international mnc services management agreement for international mnc services 022522-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement for the provision of capacity agreement for the provision of capacity 022696-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG supplementary agreement to the sublincence 
agreement

supplementary agreement to the sublincence 
agreement

022780-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG ipad license acknowledgement of adherence to 
Wireless service license - ipad Tmc

ipad license acknowledgement of adherence to 
Wireless service license - ipad Tmc

022870-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG angry birds international campaign angry birds international campaign 022875-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG Framework cooperation and service agreement - 
X-charges

Framework cooperation and service agreement - 
X-charges

022888-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG annex no. 022888-104-00 service arrangement eu hQ annex no. 022888-104-00 service arrangement eu hQ 022888-104-00

deutsche Telekom aG annex to Fa - service arrangement - X- charges 2012- 
products and innovation annex

annex to Fa - service arrangement - X- charges 2012- 
products and innovation annex

022888-105-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - cross charging 2013 service arrangement - cross charging 2013 022888-106-00

deutsche Telekom aG annex service arrangement - p&i payment products annex service arrangement - p&i payment products 022888-112-00

deutsche Telekom aG annex - service arrangement - Group Technology 2014 annex - service arrangement - Group Technology 2014 022888-115-00

deutsche Telekom aG annex service arrangement - board area europe annex service arrangement - board area europe 022888-116-00
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4.2   conTracTs enTered inTo beTWeen The companY and The oTher parTies 
conTrolled bY The conTrollinG parTY. 

4.2.1   ConTRACTs enTeRed InTo In 2017:

Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

buYin s.a. agreement on termination of the service 
agreement

agreement on termination of the service 
agreement

024643-401-00

ce colo czech s.r.o. pojistná smlouva č. 2733002546 - 
odpovědnostní

insurance contract no. 2733002546 - 
responsibility

026947-000-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) limited amendment letter to engagement Form (czech 
republic) - Fortumo

amendment letter to engagement Form (czech 
republic) - Fortumo

020475-110-01

deutsche Telekom europe holding Gmbh pan-net miFid recorder customer Facing 
service arrangement

pan-net miFid recorder customer Facing 
service arrangement

026623-201-00

deutsche Telekom iT Gmbh project Term sheet (2017) - charging (Transfer 
pricing) in the area of content administration 
platform, common interconnection billing systém, 
international billing mediation device, risk 
management center, Trinity, soa black plane.

project Term sheet (2017) - charging (Transfer 
pricing) in the area of content administration 
platform, common interconnection billing systém, 
international billing mediation device, risk 
management center, Trinity, soa black plane.

024100-213-00

deutsche Telekom iT Gmbh project Term sheet (2017) - charging (Transfer 
pricing) in the area of Telepresence icn service 
management.

project Term sheet (2017) - charging (Transfer 
pricing) in the area of Telepresence icn service 
management.

024100-214-00

deutsche Telekom iT Gmbh project Term sheet 2017- services for 
international network services (ins)

project Term sheet 2017- services for 
international network services (ins)

024100-215-00

deutsche Telekom iT Gmbh agreement about international internal services 
- umbrella

agreement about international internal services 
- umbrella

025954-201-00

deutsche Telekom iT Gmbh international master agreement on 
intercompany provision of products and service

international master agreement on 
intercompany provision of products and service

026977-000-00

deutsche Telekom iT Gmbh supplemental agreement - TiKs 2010 
certification service

supplemental agreement - TiKs 2010 
certification service

026977-201-00

deutsche Telekom iT Gmbh Framework agreement on commissioned 
processing of personal data

Framework agreement on commissioned 
processing of personal data

026982-000-00

deutsche Telekom iT Gmbh agreement for commissioned data processing agreement for commissioned data processing 027043-000-00

deutsche Telekom pan-net czech 
republic s.r.o.

smlouva o podnájmu/sublease agreement - 
kancelář č. 3307

sublease agreement – office no. 3307 027477-000-00

deutsche Telekom pan-net s.r.o. smlouva o nájmu dopravního prostředku-audi, 
obch.zn.: 6 allroad QuaTTro, id.č./V

Vehicle lease agreement-audi, trade:  
6 allroad QuaTTro, id no./v

026892-000-00

deutsche Telekom pan-net s.r.o. smlouva o nájmu dopravního prostředku-audi, 
obch.zn.: a6 aVanT, id.č./Vin: Wauzz

Vehicle lease agreement-audi, business:  
a6 aVanT, id / Vin: Wauzz

026899-000-00

deutsche Telekom services europe 
czech republic s.r.o.

Frame service agreement Frame service agreement 026784-000-00

deutsche Telekom services europe 
czech republic s.r.o.

Frame service agreement with Tmcz annex 1 
service arrangement for corporate governance 
services

Frame service agreement with Tmcz annex 1 
service arrangement for corporate governance 
services

026784-201-00

deutsche Telekom services europe 
czech republic s.r.o.

Frame service agreement with annex 2 - 
recruitment services, consultancy in the area 
of hr

Frame service agreement with annex 2 - 
recruitment services, consultancy in the area 
of hr

026784-202-00

deutsche Telekom services europe 
czech republic s.r.o.

agreement on commissioned processing of 
personal data

agreement on commissioned processing of 
personal data

026996-000-00

deutsche Telekom services europe 
slovakia s.r.o

amendment no. 4 to to the business 
management contract on provision of services

amendment no. 4 to to the business 
management contract on provision of services

024259-104-00

deutsche Telekom services europe 
slovakia s.r.o

amendment no. 5 to the business management 
contract on provision of services

amendment no. 5 to the business management 
contract on provision of services

024259-105-00

GTs Telecom s.r.l. addendum no. 1 - anti-ddos protection service addendum no. 1 - anti-ddos protection service 026040-101-00

Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

deutsche Telekom aG iphone contract of adherence to the iphone agreement 
between apple and dT

iphone contract of adherence to the iphone agreement 
between apple and dT

024364-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG service arrangement - sla outbound services 2015 service arrangement - sla outbound services 2015 024410-102-00

deutsche Telekom aG Trial agreement for Joint active antenna system (ass) Trial Trial agreement for Joint active antenna system (ass) Trial 024515-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement for provisioning of integration services  
for myWallet 

agreement for provisioning of integration services  
for myWallet 

024546-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement for commissioned data processing agreement for commissioned data processing 024565-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement on application of Global intranet Gprs 
roaming eXchange (GrX)

agreement on application of Global intranet Gprs 
roaming eXchange (GrX)

024807-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement on the commissioned processing of personal 
data (non-compliance list)

agreement on the commissioned processing of personal 
data (non-compliance list)

024809-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG m-Wall & shop Window digit (pos presentation) agreement m-Wall & shop Window digit (pos presentation) agreement 024975-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG Global strategic retail partnership - marketing Funds 
agreement 

Global strategic retail partnership - marketing Funds 
agreement 

025120-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG letter of intent letter of intent 025121-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG emir agreement for dealing emir agreement for dealing 025163-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG interim letter agreement (ila) - Gpbi access to natco 
procurement data

interim letter agreement (ila) - Gpbi access to natco 
procurement data

025332-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG non-disclosure agreement - nda - pro dTaG Group 
procurement (souvisí s cdp)

non-disclosure agreement - nda - pro dTaG Group 
procurement (related to cdp)

025336-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG bilateral sms + Transit contract bilateral sms + Transit contract 025440-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement for commissioned data processing in Tmpc 
and remaid

agreement for commissioned data processing in Tmpc 
and remaid

025557-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG supplementary agreement - mnc services supplementary agreement - mnc services 025558-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG cdp Frame agreement for coe data Transparency - 
dTaG as controller

cdp Frame agreement for coe data Transparency - 
dTaG as controller

025586-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG cooperation agreement (crm an bundling of all related 
information at icss crm system)

cooperation agreement´(crm an bundling of all related 
information at icss crm system)

025746-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG purchase agreement - nákup hW purchase agreement – porchase of hW 025837-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG agreement on commissioned processing of personal 
data protection

agreement on commissioned processing of personal 
data protection

025859-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG individual agreement on the commissioned processing 
of pers.data - performance m

individual agreement on the commissioned processing 
of pers.data - performance m

026070-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG service level agreement (sla) - T-parking: uQbaTe - 
Funding transfer

service level agreement (sla) - T-parking: uQbaTe - 
Funding transfer

026079-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG service agreement cz - dT regarding pan ip FTes service agreement cz - dT regarding pan ip FTes 026089-000-00

deutsche Telekom aG clima Frame agreement clima Frame agreement 2013/0080

deutsche Telekom aG individual loan contract individual loan contract 2013/0229

deutsche Telekom aG business agreement concerning the Telekom Global net 
transport oriented services

business agreement concerning the Telekom Global net 
transport oriented services

2013/0357

deutsche Telekom aG annex to business agreement concerning the Telekom 
Global net

annex to business agreement concerning the Telekom 
Global net

2013/0637

deutsche Telekom aG commissioned data processing commissioned data processing 2013/0790
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Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

T-systems international Gmbh amendment no. 4 - prolongation agreement 
„infrastructure services for T-mobile cz“

amendment no. 4 - prolongation agreement 
"infrastructure services for T-mobile cz"

880052-104-00

T-systems slovakia s.r.o. service agreement service agreement 027336-000-00

zoznam, s.r.o. smlouva o zachování důvěrnosti informací - nda non disclosure agreement - nda 027266-000-00

4.2.2. ConTRACTs ThAT WeRe effeCTIve In 2017:

Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

a1 Telekom austria aG,  
o2 czech republic a.s.

nda for rF data exchange with a1 Telekom austria 
for lTe cell frontier co-ordination

nda for rF data exchange with a1 Telekom austria 
for lTe cell frontier co-ordination

025645-000-00

actelis networks israel ltd. muTual non-disclosure aGreemenT muTual non-disclosure aGreemenT 0000015/2008-smfd

antel Germany Gmbh General terms and conditions_ViX General terms and conditions_ViX 0000002/2010-smnad

antel Germany Gmbh loan FaciliTY aGreemenT loan FaciliTY aGreemenT 0000009/2005-smfd

antel Germany Gmbh purchase of materials purchase of materials 0000013/2011-smfd

buYin sa amendment no. 1 to participation agreement - Joint 
Venture

amendment no. 1 to participation agreement - Joint 
Venture

023174-101-00 

buYin sa service agreement x-charging service agreement x-charging 024643-000-00

carduelis b.V. carduelis b.V. - smlouva o převodu práv a povinností carduelis b.V. – agreement on the trasfer of duties 
and responsibilities

0000045/2005-smws

carduelis b.V. individual service agreement individual service agreement 0000065/2007-smws

ce colo czech s.r.o. Kupní smlouna na vozidlo Škoda purchase agreement for Škoda vehicle 0000001/2013-smfa

ce colo czech s.r.o. Kupní smlouva na vozidlo purchase agreement for the vehicle 0000002/2013-smfa

ce colo czech s.r.o. Kupní smlouva Volkswagen passat Variant purchase agreement Volkswagen passat Variant 0000008/2012-smfa

ce colo czech s.r.o. dodatek č.6 - smlouva o poskytování housingových 
služeb č. c-Th/144/08/s

supplement no. 6 - housing service agreement no. 
c-Th / 144/08 / s

0000463/2008-smna

ce colo czech s.r.o. dodatek č.7 - smlouva o poskytování housingových 
služeb č. c-Th/144/08/s

annex 7 – housing service agreement no. 
c-Th/144/08/s

0000463/2008-smna

ce colo czech s.r.o. dodatek č.8 - smlouva o poskytování housingových 
služeb č. c-Th/144/08/s

supplement no. 8 - housing service agreement no. 
c-Th/144/08/s

0000463/2008-smna

ce colo czech s.r.o. dodatek č.9 - smlouva o poskytování housingových 
služeb č. c-Th/144/08/s

supplement no. 9 - housing service agreement no. 
c-Th/144/08/s

0000463/2008-smna

ce colo czech s.r.o. dodatek č.10 - smlouva o poskytování housingových 
služeb č. c-Th/144/08/s 

supplement no. 10 - housing service agreement 
no. c-Th/144/08/s 

0000463/2008-smna

ce colo czech s.r.o. smlouva o kontaktních osobách pro veškeré 
transakce a úkony a uspořádání

contact person contract for all transactions and 
operations and arrangements

025159-000-00

ce colo czech s.r.o. smlouva o poskytování pracovnělékařských služeb 
a nadstandardní zdravotní péče

contract on provision of occupational health 
services and above-standard health care

025210-000-00

ce colo czech s.r.o. smlouva o postoupení práv a povinností ze smluv rWe contract for assignment of rights and obligations 
under rWe contracts

025324-000-00

ce colo czech s.r.o. smlouva o zachování důvěrnosti informací - nda non disclosure agreement - nda 025382-000-00

ce colo czech s.r.o. smlouva o zpracování osobních údajů agreement on processing of personal data 025383-000-00

ce colo czech s.r.o. smlouva o zvláštním běžném účtu special current account contract 025452-000-00

ce colo czech s.r.o. rámcová smlouva o koupi, prodeji a užití poukázek 
(mezi ce colo a endered)

Framework agreement on the purchase, sale and 
use of vouchers (between ce colo and endered)

025830-000-00

ce colo czech s.r.o.,  
carduelis b.V., GTs central 
european holding b.V.

share purchase agreement - neptune (sale of GTs) share purchase agreement - neptune (sale of GTs) 025202-000-00

ce colo czech s.r.o.,  
GTs central european 
holding b.V., carduelis b.V.

First amendment agreement to share purchase 
agreemen - neptune

First amendment agreement to share purchase 
agreemen - neptune

025202-101-00

cosmoTe mobile 
Telecommunications s.a.

confidentiality and privacy agreement confidentiality and privacy agreement 024265-000-00

cosmoTe mobile 
Telecommunications s.a.

confidentiality and privacy agreement  
drssc/cosmote - penetračního Testování cos

confidentiality and privacy agreement  
drssc/cosmote - penetration Testing cos

024541-000-00

Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

hrvatski Telekom d.d., deutsche 
Telekom pan-net s.r.o., Telekom  
albania sh.a., T-mobile polska, T-mobile 
netherlands, deutsche Telekom aG, 
cosmote mobile Telecommunications, 
crnogorski Telekom a.d., hellenic 
Telecommunication, magyar Telecom, 
slovak Telekom a.s., makedonski 
Telekom, Telekom romania 
communications, Telekom romania 
mobile, T-mobile austria

cooperation agreement – exchange of 
information

cooperation agreement – exchange of 
information

026289-000-00

magyar Telekom Telecommunications 
public limited company 

agreement for the TWamp measurement 
system Trial

agreement for the TWamp measurement 
system Trial

027258-000-00

magyar Telekom Telecommunications 
public limited company 

order to international Telecommunication 
service master agreement (scania)

order to international Telecommunication 
service master agreement (scania)

660077-201-00

magyar Telekom Telecommunications 
public limited company 

order (hopi hungária, direct parcel, ceTelem, 
accenture

order (hopi hungária, direct parcel, ceTelem, 
accenture

660077-202-00

magyar Telekom Telecommunications 
public limited company 

order (dhl) to international Telecommunication 
service master agreement

order (dhl) to international Telecommunication 
service master agreement

660077-203-00

magyar Telekom Telecommunications 
public limited company 

order – transfer of circuits from GTs hu to 
magyar Telecom - samsunG

order – transfer of circuits from GTs hu to 
magyar Telecom - samsunG

660077-204-00

posam, spol. s r.o. rámcová smlouva b2b icT Framework agreement b2b icT 027500-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. dodatek č. 1 ke smlouvě o zpracování osobních 
údajů

amendment no. 1 to the personal data 
processing agreement

026198-101-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. Framework cooperation and service agreement Framework cooperation and service agreement 027009-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. service arrangement - service monitoring 
center (smc) services

service arrangement - service monitoring 
center (smc) services

027009-201-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. service arrangement - service monitoring 
center (smc) services - Tmcz reciever

service arrangement - service monitoring 
center (smc) services - Tmcz reciever

027009-202-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. smlouva o zachování důvěrnosti informací 
(nda)

non disclosure agreement (nda) 027014-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. dohoda o zachování důvěrnosti informací - nda non disclosure agreement - nda 027068-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. smlouva o zpracování dat data processing agreement 027177-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. nájemní smlouva - zmluva o nájme/podnájme 
motorových vozidiel

lease agreement - lease / rental agreement for 
motor vehicles

027204-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. nájemní smlouva - zmluva o prenájme 
technického vybavenia a príslušenstva

lease agreement - lease of technical equipment 
and accessories

027210-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s., uniQa pojišťovna, a.s. smlouva o zpracování dat data processing agreement 027506-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh annex service agreement - sla inbound 2017 
Tmcz service provider TdG service rec

annex service agreement - sla inbound 2017 
Tmcz service provider TdG service rec

013243-118-00

T-mobile (uK) limited project Term sheet project Term sheet 019833-000-00

T-mobile austria Gmbh service level agreement (sla) - m2m cross 
border

service level agreement (sla) - m2m cross 
border

026948-000-00

T-mobile polska s.a. service arrangement - professional services for 
integration of sbc huawei

service arrangement - professional services for 
integration of sbc huawei

025011-202-00

T-mobile polska s.a. agreement on commissioned data processing - 
annex to service arrangement Trinity

agreement on commissioned data processing - 
annex to service arrangement Trinity

027341-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh service agreement - TesTa nG service agreement - TesTa nG 026717-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh agreement about international internal services 
- umbrella

agreement about international internal services 
- umbrella

026800-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh agreement about international internal services 
- umbrella - ad/am/ao business i

agreement about international internal services 
- umbrella - ad/am/ao business i

026801-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh individual agreement on commissioned data 
processing

individual agreement on commissioned data 
processing

026827-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh service agreement service agreement 027237-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh service agreement service agreement 027469-000-00



44 45

T-Mobile Czech Republic a.s.

reporT on relaTions

T-Mobile Czech Republic a.s.

reporT on relaTions

Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form no. 37 - sumea content engagement Form no. 37 - sumea content 001406-137-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form no. 38 - handyGames content engagement Form no. 38 - handyGames content 001406-138-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form no. 39 - digital bridges content engagement Form no. 39 - digital bridges content 001406-139-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form no. 40 - india Games content engagement Form no. 40 - india Games content 001406-140-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form no. 41 - advanced mobile 
applications

engagement Form no. 41 - advanced mobile 
applications

001406-141-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement form no. 42 - eurofun (madagascar) 
content

engagement form no. 42 - eurofun (madagascar) 
content

001406-142-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form 43 - i-play/digital bridges - non-
ea Titles (content)

engagement Form 43 - i-play/digital bridges - non-
ea Titles (content)

001406-143-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form - eurofun (madagascar) content engagement Form - eurofun (madagascar) content 001406-144-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form - wait4u (amendment 45) engagement Form - wait4u (amendment 45) 001406-145-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form no. 46 - sony pictures engagement Form no. 46 - sony pictures 001406-146-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form - Glu mobile content engagement Form - Glu mobile content 001406-147-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form - player-X content engagement Form - player-X content 001406-149-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form - rockpool Games content engagement Form - rockpool Games content 001406-150-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form - ThQ Wireless international 
Games content

engagement Form - ThQ Wireless international 
Games content

001406-151-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form - oJom content engagement Form -  oJom content 001406-152-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form no. 53 (video download - mobix 
content)

engagement Form no. 53 (video download - mobix 
content)

001406-153-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form - infospace (elkware Gmbh) - 
infospace content

engagement Form - infospace (elkware Gmbh) - 
infospace content

001406-154-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form - electronic arts Games (ea 
content)

engagement Form - electronic arts Games (ea 
content)

001406-155-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form (c2m) - Transactional content engagement Form (c2m) - Transactional content 001406-156-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

international download centre access and 
managed services ag.

international download centre access and 
managed services ag.

001407-000-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

mcs service agreement mcs service agreement 012075-000-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

service agreement for provision of interim solution 
for caller Tunes (melody)

service agreement for provision of interim solution 
for caller Tunes (melody)

016903-000-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

amendment 1 to project service agreement for 
international esales solution (iness)

amendment 1 to project service agreement for 
international esales solution (iness)

019713-101-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

content resale and partner services agreement content resale and partner services agreement 020475-000-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form (czech republic) - android 
services

engagement Form (czech republic) - android 
services

020475-101-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form (czech republic); blackberry 
services

engagement Form (czech republic); blackberry 
services

020475-102-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form (czech republic); microsoft 
services

engagement Form (czech republic); microsoft 
services

020475-103-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form (czech republic) - Facebook 
services

engagement Form (czech republic) - Facebook 
services

020475-104-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form (czech republic) - boku longlist engagement Form (czech republic) - boku longlist 020475-105-00

Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

cosmoTe mobile 
Telecommunications s.a.

international Telecommunication services agreement international Telecommunication services agreement 0000192/2007-smws

cosmoTe mobile 
Telecommunications s.a.

international roaming agreement - croatia international roaming agreement - croatia 021841-000-00

cosmoTe mobile 
Telecommunications s.a.

non-disclosure agreement (nda) non-disclosure agreement (nda) 023943-000-00

crnogorski Telekom a.d. 
podgorica

international roaming agreement - montenegro international roaming agreement - montenegro 026007-000-00

detecon international Gmbh subcontract to the project "K-028393 Tr cs 
security operations center"

subcontract to the project "K-028393 Tr cs 
security operations center"

025690-000-00

deTeFleetservices Gmbh master leasing agreement - rental of Vehicles master leasing agreement - rental of vehicles 026671-000-00

deTeFleetservices Gmbh leasing contract - operating lease leasing contract - operational leasing 026697-000-00

deTeFleetservices Gmbh leasing contract/leasingová zmluva - Kovář 
stanislav

leasing contract/leasing contract - Kovář stanislav 026744-000-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

content reseller agreement content reseller agreement 001406-000-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

amendment to the contract no. 6 - mTV 
engagement Form

engagement Form no. 6 - mTV 001406-106-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

amendment to the contract no. 7 - universal 
content

engagement Form no. no. 7 - universal content 001406-107-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form no. 10 (Trigenix screen styles) engagement Form no. 10  (Trigenix screen styles) 001406-110-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form - amendment to the contract  
no. 13 - conTenT

engagement Form – annex no. 13 - conTenT 001406-113-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form - universal - melody engagement Form - universal - melody 001406-116-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form - universal - mono and  
poly marketing

engagement Form - universal - mono and  
poly marketing

001406-117-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form - sony content (amendment to 
the contract no. 22)

engagement Form - sony content (annex no. 22) 001406-122-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

amendment to the contract no. 23 - Fox studios 
content - mms content

engagement Form no. 23 - Fox studios content - 
mms content

001406-123-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

amendment to the contract no. 24 - disney  
content - mms content

engagement Form no. 24 - disney content -  
mms content

001406-124-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

amendment to the contract no. 25 - Java od spol. 
Turner - conTenT

engagement Form no. 25 - Java od spol. Turner - 
conTenT

001406-125-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form - chipandales - conTenT engagement Form - chipandales - conTenT 001406-126-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form - penthouse - conTenT engagement Form - penthouse - conTenT 001406-127-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form no. 28 - Warner music content engagement Form no. 28 - Warner music content 001406-128-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form no. 29- iFone content engagement Form no. 29- iFone content 001406-129-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form no. 30 - arvato content engagement Form no. 30 - arvato content 001406-130-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form no. 31 - blue sphere content engagement Form no. 31 - blue sphere content 001406-131-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form no. 32- mForma content engagement Form no. 32- mForma content 001406-132-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form no. 33 - Jamdat content engagement Form no. 33 - Jamdat content 001406-133-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form no. 34 - Gameloft content engagement Form no. 34 - Gameloft content 001406-134-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form no. 35 - living mobile content engagement Form no. 35 - living mobile content 001406-135-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form no. 36 - mobile scope content engagement Form no. 36 - mobile scope content 001406-136-00
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ee limited supplementary ioT ag. for bilateral ag. on the inter 
operator Tariff

supplementary ioT ag. for bilateral ag. on the inter 
operator Tariff

000338-201-00

ee limited Framework contract of sale - odprodej servisních 
karet sau

Framework contract of sale – sale of service cards sau 012533-000-00

ee limited sub-licence agreement ( rolling stones concert) sub-licence agreement ( rolling stones concert) 014442-000-00

ee limited roaming agreement for public Wireless lan 
services (Wlan)

roaming agreement for public Wireless lan 
services (Wlan)

016881-000-00

ee limited project service agreement for international esales 
solution (iness) in Tmcz

project service agreement for international esales 
solution (iness) in Tmcz

019713-000-00

ee limited licence agreement licence agreement 020996-000-00

ee limited project service agreement (operation of 
international Transmission network)

project service agreement (operation of 
international Transmission network)

021147-000-00

ee limited mutual long Form non-disclosure agreement mutual long Form non-disclosure agreement 024251-000-00

ee limited international roaming agreement. international roaming agreement. 024352-000-00

GTs central european 
holding b.V.

individual contract - interconnection services individual contract - interconnection services 0000016/2006-smws

GTs central european 
holding b.V.

agreement in relation to repayment of intra-Group 
loan

agreement in relation to repayment of intra-Group 
loan

0000019/2012-smfd

GTs central european 
holding b.V.

agreement in relation to repayment of intra-Group 
loan

agreement in relation to repayment of intra-Group 
loan

0000020/2012-smfd

GTs central european 
holding b.V.

agreement in relation to repayment of intra-Group 
loan

agreement in relation to repayment of intra-Group 
loan

0000022/2012-smfd

GTs central european 
holding b.V.

agreement in relation to repayment of intra-Group 
loan

agreement in relation to repayment of intra-Group 
loan

0000027/2012-smfd

GTs hungary Távközlési Kft. service arrangement - rcTio Framework 
cooperation and service agreement

service arrangement - rcTio Framework 
cooperation and service agreement

025427-201-00

GTs hungary Távközlési Kft. agreement - pwc service fee agreement – pwc service fee 026656-000-00

GTs hungary Távközlési Kft. international Telecommunication service international Telecommunication service 0000007/2010-smws

GTs hungary Távközlési Kft. contract of subdelivery contract of subdelivery 0000019/2008-smcsc

GTs hungary Távközlési Kft. Fourth amendment to the master services agreement Fourth amendment to the master services agreement 0000022/2011-smws

GTs hungary Távközlési Kft. service agreement service agreement 0000045/2011-smws

GTs hungary Távközlési Kft. outsourcing service agreement outsourcing service agreement 0000051/2011-smws

GTs hungary Távközlési Kft. agreement iFs iscs 04 2008 agreement iFs iscs 04 2008 0000059/2011-smws

GTs hungary Távközlési Kft. service agreement for GTs neT a.s and GTs 
magyarország Távkozlési Kft.

service agreement for GTs neT a.s and GTs 
magyarország Távkozlési Kft.

0000063/2007-smws

GTs hungary Távközlési Kft. amendment nr.1 to the service agreement for GTs 
neT a.s and GTs magyarország Távkozlési Kft.

amendment nr.1 to the service agreement for GTs 
neT a.s and GTs magyarország Távkozlési Kft.

0000063/2007-smws

GTs hungary Távközlési Kft. rcTio Framework cooperation and service 
agreement

rcTio Framework cooperation and service 
agreement

025427-000-00

GTs hungary Távkozlesi Kft., 
GTs poland sp. z o.o.,  
GTs Telecom s.r.l.

cooperation agreement cooperation agreement 025746-000-00

GTs novera a.s. smlouva č. GTs - 01 o poskytování 
telekomunikačních služeb

contract no. GTs - 01 on the provision of 
telecommunication services

0000004/2003-cs

GTs novera a.s. smlouva o lokálním peeringu local peering agreement 0000015/2006-smin

GTs novera a.s. dodatek smlouvy o poskytování telekomunikačních 
služeb

supplement to the contract for the provision of 
telecommunication services

0000019/2005-smws

GTs poland sp. z o.o. contract of subdelivery contract of subdelivery 0000018/2008-smcsc

GTs poland sp. z o.o. agreement on the assignment of rights and 
obligations

agreement on the assignment of rights and 
obligations

0000029/2011-smws

GTs poland sp. z o.o. agreement on the assignment of rights and 
obligations

agreement on the assignment of rights and 
obligations

0000030/2011-smws

GTs poland sp. z o.o. shared cost and Free phone pricelist shared cost and Free phone pricelist 0000036/2011-smws

GTs poland sp. z o.o. service agreement service agreement 0000044/2011-smws

GTs poland sp. z o.o. agreement on the assignment of rights and 
obligations

agreement on the assignment of rights and 
obligations

0000056/2014-smna

GTs poland sp. z o.o. shared cost and Free pricelist shared cost and Free pricelist 0000060/2011-smws

Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form (czech republic) - Gameloft engagement Form (czech republic) - Gameloft 020475-106-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement form - mindmatics engagement form - mindmatics 020475-107-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form (czech republic) – samsung engagement Form (czech republic) – samsung 020475-108-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form (czech republic) - provided by 
paypal (europe) sarl eT cie s.c.a

engagement Form (czech republic) - provided by 
paypal (europe) sarl eT cie s.c.a

020475-109-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form (czech republic) – Fortumo engagement Form (czech republic) – Fortumo 020475-110-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form (czech republic) – dimoco engagement Form (czech republic) – dimoco 020475-111-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

engagement Form (czech republic) – airbnb engagement Form (czech republic) – airbnb 020475-112-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

cross charging services agreement cross charging services agreement 020909-000-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

addendum no. 1 - cross charging agreement for 
additional services - sdp partner

addendum no. 1 - cross charging agreement for 
additional services - sdp partner

020909-101-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

amendment no. 1 to the project service agreement 
for personal touchpooints and stores

amendment no. 1 to the project service agreement 
for personal touchpooints and stores

023392-101-00

deutsche Telekom (uK) 
limited

project service agreement for the provision of dTuK 
services

project service agreement for the provision of dTuK 
services

024682-000-00

deutsche Telekom business 
services

Frame agreement for commisioned data 
processing - project aramis

Frame agreement for commisioned data 
processing - project aramis

024890-000-00

deutsche Telekom business 
services

individual agreement on the commissioned 
processing of personal data (aramis)

individual agreement on the commissioned 
processing of personal data (aramis)

024891-000-00

deutsche Telekom business 
services

Framework agreement dTbs shared services 
centrum for hr processes in bucharest

Framework agreement dTbs shared services 
centrum for hr processes in bucharest

025175-000-00

deutsche Telekom business 
services

service arrangement for the delivery of inquiry 
management services 

service arrangement for the delivery of inquiry 
management services 

025175-201-00

deutsche Telekom business 
services

service arrangement for the delivery of employee 
data administration services -

service arrangement for the delivery of employee 
data administration services -

025175-202-00

deutsche Telekom europe b.V. pan-net master Frame agreement Tmcz pan-net master Frame agreement Tmcz 026623-000-00

deutsche Telekom europe b.V., 
netherlands

amendment no. 1 - clarification to loan agreement amendment no. 1 - clarification to loan agreement 015106-101-00

deutsche Telekom europe 
holding b.V

pan-net mVas Framework agreement pan-net mVas Framework agreement 025941-000-00

deutsche Telekom pan-net 
czech repu

pan-net service agreement pan-net service agreement 026481-000-00

deutsche Telekom pan-net 
czech repu

annex 2 to pan-net - service arrangement 
concerning the provision of Financial services

annex 2 to pan-net - service arrangement 
concerning the provision of Financial services

026481-201-00

deutsche Telekom pan-net s.r.o service agreement - drssc services for pan-net service agreement - drssc services for pan-net 026754-000-00

deutsche Telekom pan-net s.r.o. confirmation of request for Transfer of legacy 
internet resources - dTpanneT sK

confirmation of request for Transfer of legacy 
internet resources - dTpanneT sK

026491-000-00

deutsche Telekom shared 
services s.r.o.

amendment no. 3 - úprava rozsahu a ceny 
nákupních služeb pro rok 2016

amendment no. 3 – amendment of scope and price 
of procurement services for 2016

024259-103-00

deutsche Telekom shared 
services s.r.o.

amendment no. 2 - změny ceny amendment no. 2 – price amendment 024259-102-00

deutsche Telekom shared 
services s.r.o.

agreement for commissioned data processing - 
sap access

agreement for commissioned data processing - 
sap access

024430-000-00

deutsche Telekom shared 
services s.r.o.

commissioned data processing, as of 8.3.2013 commissioned data processing, as of 8.3.2013 2013/0166

deutsche Telekom  
Training Gmbh

agreement on the processing of personal data 
under contract pursuant

agreement on the processing of personal data 
under contract pursuant

022411-000-00

ee limited international Gsm roaming agreement international Gsm roaming agreement 000338-000-00

ee limited addendum to the international Gsm roaming 
agreement - inter operator discounts

addendum to the international Gsm roaming 
agreement - inter operator discounts

000338-101-00
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makedonski Telekom ad - 
skopje

project service agreement - ssl certificate service project service agreement - ssl certificate service 024384-000-00

makedonski Telekom ad – 
skopje

international roaming agreement international roaming agreement 000362-000-00

makedonski Telekom ad 
skopje

project service agreement - drssc ssl 
certification service

project service agreement - drssc ssl 
certification service

024383-000-00

motionlogic Gmbh cooperation agreement cooperation agreement 025515-000-00

nexmo, inc. interconnect agreement - nexmo, inc. interconnect agreement - nexmo, inc. 0000001/2014-smws

nexmo, inc. agreement on the provison of Wholesale sms tranzit 
services - nexmo, inc.

agreement on the provison of Wholesale sms tranzit 
services - nexmo, inc.

0000002/2013-smiWh

nexmo, inc. interconnect agreement - nexmo interconnect agreement - nexmo 0000062/2013-smws

orange personal 
communication..ltd.

international Gsm roaming agreement international Gsm roaming agreement 000335-000-00

oTe inTernaTional 
soluTions s.a.

mutual non-disclosure agreemnet - oTe mutual non-disclosure agreemnet - oTe 0000129/2007-smws

posam, spol. s r.o. smlouva o zachování důvěrnosti informací (nda) non disclosure agreement informací (nda) 026689-000-00

slovak Telekom, a. s. agreement on Termination - slovak Telekom agreement on Termination - slovak Telekom 0000031/2010-smws

slovak Telekom, a. s. addendum no 1 _ip addresses - agreement on 
Termination - slovak Telekom

addendum no 1 _ip addresses - agreement on 
Termination - slovak Telekom

0000031/2010-smws

slovak Telekom, a. s. smlouva o spolupraci při poskytování 
telekomunikačních služeb

contract for cooperation in the provision of 
telecommunication services

0000035/2007-smws

slovak Telekom, a. s. interconnection agreement between T-mobile 
slovakia and GTs noVera a.s.

interconnection agreement between T-mobile 
slovakia and GTs noVera a.s.

0000046/2007-smws

slovak Telekom, a. s. smlouva o lokálním peeringu local peering agreement 0000049/2006-smin

slovak Telekom, a. s. smlouva o peeringu peering agreement 0000079/2006-smin

slovak Telekom, a. s. international Telecommunication services 
agreement

international Telecommunication services 
agreement

0000170/2006-smnp

slovak Telekom, a.s. Framework hiring out of labour agreement Framework hiring out of labour agreement 026183-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. dohoda o ochraně důvěrných informací - nda non disclosure agreement informací (nda) 026197-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. smlouva o zpracování osobních údajů agreement on processing of personal data 026198-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. Framework hiring out of labour agreement Framework hiring out of labour agreement 026475-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. Kupní smlouva - prodej vozidla do sT 2ar 8700 purchase agreement - sale of vehicle to sT 2ar 8700 026494-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. Kupní smlouva - odprodej vozidla do sT 3am 0522 purchase agreement - sale of vehicle to sT 3am 0522 026495-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. international Gsm roaming agreement - slovensko international Gsm roaming agreement - slovakia 000178-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. supplementary ioT agreement supplementary ioT agreement 000178-201-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. licenční smlouva license agreement 010428-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. interconnection agreement interconnection agreement 016452-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. roaming agreement for public Wireless lan services roaming agreement for public Wireless lan services 017447-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. addendum letter to acquistion due diligence 
contract - project poletucha

addendum letter to acquistion due diligence 
contract - project poletucha

022795-101-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. nda - project Vltava - potential outsourcing of 
planning, built and maintenance

nda - project Vltava - potential outsourcing of 
planning, built and maintenance

023268-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. Kupní smlouva - nábytek pro vybavení prodejen purchase agreement - Furniture for shop equipment 023489-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. Kupní smlouva - nákup nábytku pro refreshe 
partnerských prodejen T-mobile

purchase agreement - purchase of furniture for the 
refreshing of T-mobile partner stores

023718-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. Kupní smlouva - nákup nábytku pro partnerské 
prodejny Tmcz

purchase agreement - purchase of furniture for 
Tmcz partner stores

023814-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. Kupní smlouva na použitý nábytek z sK pro pp purchase agreement for used furniture from sK for pp 024574-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. memorandum of understanding memorandum of understanding 024591-000-00

slovak Telekom, a.s. international roaming agreement international roaming agreement 026001-000-00

suncom Wireless operating international roaming agreement (usa) international roaming agreement (usa) 019734-000-00

Telekom albania sh.a international roaming agreement - albánie international roaming agreement - albania 021365-000-00

Telekom deutschland (dT 
Technik)

planning arrangement for coordination of lTe cells 
in the border area of czech republic

planning arrangement for coordination of lTe cells 
in the border area of czech republic

025533-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh interconnection agreement interconnection agreement 001776-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh amendment no. 1 - adding attachments amendment no. 1 - adding attachments 001776-101-00

Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

GTs poland sp. z o.o. reciprocal Telecommunications services 
agreement

reciprocal Telecommunications services 
agreement

0000064/2007-smws

GTs poland sp. z o.o. aGreemenT on The assiGnmenT oF riGhTs 
and obliGaTions

aGreemenT on The assiGnmenT oF riGhTs 
and obliGaTions

0000098/2012-smna

GTs poland sp. z o.o. agreement on the assignment of rights and obligations agreement on the assignment of rights and obligations 0000207/2011-smna

GTs poland sp. z o.o. agreement on the assignment of rights and obligations agreement on the assignment of rights and obligations 0000208/2011-smna

GTs Telecom srl service arrangement - intercompany iT services 
recharging

service arrangement - intercompany iT services 
recharging

025471-201-00

GTs Telecom srl intercompany master service agreement intercompany master service agreement 026040-000-00

GTs Telecom srl rcTio Framework cooperation and service 
agreement

rcTio Framework cooperation and service 
agreement

025471-000-00

GTs Telecom srl aGreemenT between GTs czech and GTs Telecom aGreemenT between GTs czech and GTs Telecom 0000001/2013-smfd

GTs Telecom srl international Telecommunication service international Telecommunication service 0000008/2010-smws

GTs Telecom srl contract of subdelivery contract of subdelivery 0000020/2008-smcsc

GTs Telecom srl agreement on the assignment of rights and 
obligations

agreement on the assignment of rights and 
obligations

0000032/2011-smws

GTs Telecom srl agreement on the assignment of rights and 
obligations

agreement on the assignment of rights and 
obligations

0000033/2011-smws

GTs Telecom srl annex 1 to the agreement for the provision and 
operation of international freephone service and 
international shared cost services

annex 1 to the agreement for the provision and 
operation of international freephone service and 
international shared cost services

0000035/2011-smws

GTs Telecom srl service agreement service agreement 0000043/2011-smws

GTs Telecom srl Voice reseller master agreement romania Voice reseller master agreement romania 0000055/2011-smws

GTs Telecom srl agreement on the assignment of rights and 
obligations

agreement on the assignment of rights and 
obligations

0000209/2011-smna

hrvatski Telekom d.d. non-disclosure statement non-disclosure statement 024770-000-00

hrvatski Telekom d.d. service agreement no. icT-03/2015 service agreement no. icT-03/2015 025538-000-00

hT - hrvatski Telekom d.d. agreement on interconnection of 
telecommunication networks

agreement on interconnection of 
telecommunication networks

0000031/2008-smws

hT - hrvatski Telekom d.d. confidentiality agreement confidentiality agreement 0000288/2007-smws

iskon internet d.d. aGreemenT on The assiGnmenT oF riGhTs 
and obliGaTions

aGreemenT on The assiGnmenT oF riGhTs 
and obliGaTions

0000163/2011-smna

magyar Telekom plc,  
GTs hungary ltd.

intercompany master service agreement intercompany master service agreement 026196-000-00

magyar Telekom 
Telecommunications public 
limited company

Telecommunications services agreement - matáv 
hungarian Telecommunications company ltd.

Telecommunications services agreement - matáv 
hungarian Telecommunications company ltd.

0000146/2007-smws

magyar Telekom 
Telecommunications public 
limited company

international Gsm roaming agreement - hungary international Gsm roaming agreement - hungary 011437-000-00

magyar Telekom 
Telecommunications public 
limited company

addendum 2 to the international Gsm roaming 
agreement inter operator discounts

addendum 2 to the international Gsm roaming 
agreement inter operator discounts

011437-102-00

magyar Telekom 
Telecommunications public 
limited company

supplementary discount agreement for bilateral 
discount on the inter operator Tariff (ioT)

supplementary discount agreement for bilateral 
discount on the inter operator Tariff (ioT)

011437-201-00

magyar Telekom 
Telecommunications public 
limited company

supplementary ioT ag. for bilateral ag. on the inter 
operator Tariff

supplementary ioT ag. for bilateral ag. on the inter 
operator Tariff

011437-202-00

magyar Telekom 
Telecommunications public 
limited company

roaming agreement for public Wireless lan 
services (hungary)

roaming agreement for public Wireless lan 
services (hungary)

018026-000-00

magyar Telekom 
Telecommunications public 
limited company

amendment no.1 to the roaming agreement fot 
public Wireless lan services

amendment no.1 to the roaming agreement fot 
public Wireless lan services

018026-101-00

maGYarcom szolGÁlTaTÓ 
KommuniKÁciÓs

service agreement - purchase of support services 
for icss customers

service agreement - purchase of support services 
for icss customers

026177-000-00
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Telekom deutschland Gmbh addendum no. 1 - remote device management 
release 1 a

addendum no. 1 - remote device management 
release 1 a

016886-101-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh purchase agreement (prodej msc hW - ccnc parts 
do Tmd)

purchase agreement (prodej msc hW - ccnc parts 
do Tmd)

017455-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh sublicence agreement for cryptotickets-software sublicence agreement for cryptotickets-software 017483-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh project service agreement for the provision of 
mmsc - services

project service agreement for the provision of 
mmsc - services

020176-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh supplementary agreement no. 1 to the psa for the 
provision of mmsc services

supplementary agreement no. 1 to the psa for the 
provision of mmsc services

020176-101-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh agreement on the processing of personal data on 
behalf of the customer

agreement on the processing of personal data on 
behalf of the customer

020414-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh project service agreement For the provision of in 
systems

project service agreement For the provision of in 
systems

021153-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh project service agreement For the provision of FTe 
based services

project service agreement For the provision of FTe 
based services

021155-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh project service agreement (operation of 
international Transmission network)

project service agreement (operation of 
international Transmission network)

021192-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh project service agreement - For the provision of oTa 
services 

project service agreement - For the provision of oTa 
services 

021318-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh project service agreement for Voms - Voucher 
management system

project service agreement for Voms - Voucher 
management system

021497-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh service arrangement - Telekom deutschland 
product development

service arrangement - Telekom deutschland 
product development

022888-113-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh service level agreement (sla) for pKi services 
sharing

service level agreement (sla) for pKi services 
sharing

023939-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh Framework agreement for providing of services with 
transfer pricing

Framework agreement for providing of services with 
transfer pricing

024410-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh service arrangement - sla outbound 2014 to 
Framework agreement outbound

service arrangement - sla outbound 2014 to 
Framework agreement outbound

024410-101-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh service level agreement (sla) for sms Welcome service level agreement (sla) for sms Welcome 024576-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh international roaming agreement - deutschland 
(deud1)

international roaming agreement - deutschland 
(deud1)

025033-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh project service agreement - provisioning and operation 
of the short message application router (smar)

project service agreement - provisioning and operation 
of the short message application router (smar)

022597-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh project service agreement (psa)- projekt enduro project service agreement (psa)- projekt enduro 023233-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh project service agreement - operation and 
maintenance of blackberry download server

project service agreement - operation and 
maintenance of blackberry download server

023438-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh project service agreement (psa) - blackberry services project service agreement (psa) - blackberry services 023676-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh 11th Variation agreement on discounts for inter-
operator Tariffs + Termination of the agreement

11th Variation agreement on discounts for inter-
operator Tariffs + Termination of the agreement

015878-111-00, 015878-
401-00

TeleKom romania 
(romTelecom sa)

international Telecommunication services 
agreement - romTelecom s.a.

international Telecommunication services 
agreement - romTelecom s.a.

0000254/2007-smws

TeleKom romania mobile 
communicaTions s.a. 

addendum to international roaming agreement 
(romania)

addendum to international roaming agreement 
(romania)

014876-101-00

T-mobile austria Gmbh project specific offer - bellpro - m2m servisní platforma project specific offer - bellpro - m2m servise platform 025577-201-00

T-mobile austria Gmbh international Gsm roaming agreement - austria international Gsm roaming agreement - austria 011417-000-00

T-mobile austria Gmbh supplementary discount agreement for bilateral 
disc. on the inter operator Tariff(ioT)

supplementary discount agreement for bilateral 
disc. on the inter operator Tariff(ioT)

011417-201-00

T-mobile austria Gmbh supplementary ioT ag. for bilateral ag. on the inter 
operator Tariff

supplementary ioT ag. for bilateral ag. on the inter 
operator Tariff

011417-202-00

T-mobile austria Gmbh interconnection agreement interconnection agreement 013609-000-00

T-mobile austria Gmbh announcement of price decrease for termination 
into the network of tele.ring

announcement of price decrease for termination 
into the network of tele.ring

013609-501-00

T-mobile austria Gmbh roaming agreement for public Wireless lan 
services (Wlan)

roaming agreement for public Wireless lan 
services (Wlan)

016604-000-00

T-mobile austria Gmbh service level agreement (sla) - alcatel sdh 
equipment (iTn))

service level agreement (sla) - alcatel sdh 
equipment (iTn))

017111-000-00

Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

Telekom deutschland Gmbh modification of the interconnection agreement modification of the interconnection agreement 001776-102-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh modification no. 3 of the interconnection agreement modification no. 3 of the interconnection agreement 001776-103-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh modification no. 4 - modification of the 
interconnection agreement

modification no. 4 - modification of the 
interconnection agreement

001776-104-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh modification no. 5 - Termination in czech republic modification no. 5 - Termination in czech republic 001776-105-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh modification no. 6 of the interconnection agreement modification no. 6 of the interconnection agreement 001776-106-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh modification no. 7 of the interconnection agreement modification no. 7 of the interconnection agreement 001776-107-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh modification no. 8 of the interconnection agreement modification no. 8 of the interconnection agreement 001776-108-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh modification no. 9 - modification of the 
interconnection agreement - new annex 8

modification no. 9 - modification of the 
interconnection agreement - new annex 8

001776-109-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh modification no. 10 - modification of the 
interconnection agreement - new annex 8

modification no. 10 - modification of the 
interconnection agreement - new annex 8

001776-110-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh Transfer agreement Transfer agreement 010474-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh international Gsm roaming agreement - Germany international Gsm roaming agreement - Germany 011435-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh addendum to the international Gsm roaming 
agreement (multimedia messaging)

addendum to the international Gsm roaming 
agreement (multimedia messaging)

011435-102-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh supplementary discount ag. for bilateral disc. on 
the inter operator Tariff (ioT)

supplementary discount ag. for bilateral disc. on 
the inter operator Tariff (ioT)

011435-201-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh supplementary ioT ag. for bilateral ag. on the inter 
operator Tariff

supplementary ioT ag. for bilateral ag. on the inter 
operator Tariff

011435-202-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh agreement of delivery of authentication agreement of delivery of authentication 012384-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh agreement on the provision of licences (převod 
hlr licencí)

agreement on the provision of licences (transfer of 
hlr license)

012630-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh sublicence agreement of cashback software sublicence agreement of cashback software 012763-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh agreement on the provision of licences (převod 
Vlr licencí)

agreement on the provision of licences (transfer of 
Vlr license)

012805-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh agreement on the use of common 900 Frequencies 
in border regions

agreement on the use of common 900 Frequencies 
in border regions

013146-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh domicile agreement domicile agreement 013165-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh interconnect software license agreement interconnect software license agreement 013166-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh agency contract on distribution of services agency contract on distribution of services 013479-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh agreement on the provision of licences - převod 
hlr licencí z Tmd

agreement on the provision of licences – transfer of 
hlr license from Tmd

013664-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh Transfer agreement - Tmo Welcome sms server 
(purchase)

Transfer agreement - Tmo Welcome sms server 
(purchase)

013959-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh agreement on the provision of software licenses for 
operating an hlr

agreement on the provision of software licenses for 
operating an hlr

014327-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh service agreement - Tcs hosting & ola service agreement - Tcs hosting & ola 014468-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh service agreement concern. the performance of 
melody services

service agreement concern. the performance of 
melody services

014973-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh amendment no. 1 to service agreement 
(performance of melody services)

amendment no. 1 to service agreement 
(performance of melody services)

014973-101-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh amendment 2 to service agreement - transfer 
pricing 2008

amendment 2 to service agreement - transfer 
pricing 2008

014973-102-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh service agreement - sWs maitenance service agreement - sWs maitenance 015684-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh project service agreement for subscription server project service agreement for subscription server 016046-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh project service agreement - for mms e-mail reply project service agreement - for mms e-mail reply 016132-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh agreement for the processing of data (Federal data 
protection acT (bdsG)

agreement for the processing of data (Federal data 
protection acT (bdsG)

016138-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh sublicense agreement for micro payment platform XTc sublicense agreement for micro payment platform XTc 016434-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh international roaming agreement - Germany international roaming agreement - Germany 016485-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh purchase agreement - Gsm parts sale purchase agreement - Gsm parts sale 016586-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh roaming agreement for public Wireless lan 
services (Wlan -Germany)

roaming agreement for public Wireless lan 
services (Wlan -Germany)

016882-000-00

Telekom deutschland Gmbh project service agreement (remote device 
management) release 1a

project service agreement (remote device 
management) release 1a

016886-000-00
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T-mobile polska s.a. Framework cooperation and service agreement 
concerning the provision of ims ssc

Framework cooperation and service agreement 
concerning the provision of ims ssc

025011-000-00

T-mobile polska s.a. rcTio Framework cooperation and service 
agreement

rcTio Framework cooperation and service 
agreement

025182-000-00

T-mobile polska s.a. Framework purchase contract – regional agreement 
on resale of hW between contries in the region

Framework purchase contract – regional agreement 
on resale of hW between contries in the region

025678-000-00

T-mobile polska s.a. intercompany master service agreement intercompany master service agreement 025785-000-00

T-mobile usa, inc. multilateral international Gsm roaming agreement multilateral international Gsm roaming agreement 000323-000-00

T-mobile usa, inc. addendum to multilateral international Gsm/pcs 
roaming agreement

addendum to multilateral international Gsm/pcs 
roaming agreement

000323-101-00

T-mobile usa, inc. international roaming agreement international roaming agreement 016180-000-00

T-mobile usa, inc. roaming agreement for public Wirelless lan services roaming agreement for public Wirelless lan services 017191-000-00

T-systems belgium nV reciprocal confidentiality agreement - nda reciprocal confidentiality agreement - nda 026688-000-00

T-systems France s.a.s Framework agreement – monet security services Framework agreement – monet security services 2013/0011

T-systems France s.a.s Transfer of assets agreement Transfer of assets agreement 2013/0084

T-systems France sas agreement concerning the Transfer of assets agreement concerning the Transfer of assets 026303-000-00

T-systems France sas internal service agreement - managed connectivity 
(mc) services for société Géné

internal service agreement - managed connectivity 
(mc) services for société Géné

026332-000-00

T-systems Gei Gmbh software maintenance agreeement software maintenance agreeement 017408-000-00

T-systems hungary project service agreement - provision of services in 
connection with communication

project service agreement - provision of services in 
connection with communication

025780-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh agreement concerning the Transfer of assets agreement concerning the Transfer of assets 026718-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh service agreement for program management 
services for program sonar

service agreement for program management 
services for program sonar

880052-201-00

T-systems international Gmbh one stop shopping agreement one stop shopping agreement 0000039/2007-smws

T-systems international Gmbh licensing of microsoft products licensing of microsoft products 010423-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh non-disclosure agreement on the project "due 
diligence for outsourcing Tmcz iT operations"

non-disclosure agreement on the project "due 
diligence for outsourcing Tmcz iT operations"

012307-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh supplement no. 3 to the project service agreement 
no. 022281-000-00 nG crm

supplement no. 3 to the project service agreement 
no. 022281-000-00 nG crm

022281-103-00

T-systems international Gmbh supplement no. 4 to the project service agreement 
no. 022281-000-00 nG crm

supplement no. 4 to the project service agreement 
no. 022281-000-00 nG crm

022281-104-00

T-systems international Gmbh personal data processing contract personal data processing contract 022692-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh confidentiality agreement confidentiality agreement 023158-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh enrolment to the Frame agreement for the supply 
of ccc sap services including sap licence 
management services

enrolment to the Frame agreement for the supply 
of ccc sap services including sap licence 
management services

023213-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh declaration of user accession to the agreement on 
Telepresence@dTaG/see services

declaration of user accession to the agreement on 
Telepresence@dTaG/see services

023403-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh agreement for commissioned data processing - 
Telekom social network data process

agreement for commissioned data processing - 
Telekom social network data process

023492-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh amendment no. 1 to agreement For commissioned 
data processing in Telekom social network

amendment no. 1 to agreement For commissioned 
data processing in Telekom social network

023492-101-00

T-systems international Gmbh letter of intent 2013 - eu prio products 
implementation

letter of intent 2013 - eu prio products 
implementation

023803-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh letter of intent for Tibco enterprise licence 
agreement 2012 - 2015

letter of intent for Tibco enterprise licence 
agreement 2012 - 2015

023824-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh software delivery agreement - subcontract for 
finalisation of nG crm r1 siebel 

software delivery agreement - subcontract for 
finalisation of nG crm r1 siebel 

023954-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh supplement no. 1 to the software delivery 
agreement

supplement no. 1 to the software delivery 
agreement

023954-101-00

T-systems international Gmbh project service agreement (psa) - provision of 
services in connection with shared platforms and 
services

project service agreement (psa) - provision of 
services in connection with shared platforms and 
services

024100-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh Term sheet 2014 - international billing & mediation 
device (ibmd)

Term sheet 2014 - international billing & mediation 
device (ibmd)

024100-201-00

T-systems international Gmbh Term sheet 2014 - risk management center (rmc) Term sheet 2014 - risk management center (rmc) 024100-202-00

Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

T-mobile austria Gmbh project service agreement (for operation of 
international Transmission network)

project service agreement (for operation of 
international Transmission network)

021148-000-00

T-mobile austria Gmbh service provider agreement - m2m platform service provider agreement - m2m platform 025577-000-00

T-mobile austria Gmbh, 
o2 czech republic a.s., 
Vodafone czech republic a.s., 
a1Telekom austria aG

planning arrangement for coordination of lTe cells 
in the border area of cr - cross-border

planning arrangement for coordination of lTe cells 
in the border area of cr - cross-border

025612-000-00

T-mobile hotspot Gmbh amendment no. 1 „lh inFliGhT“ „roaminG 
aGreemenT For public Wireless lan 
serVices“

amendment no. 1 „lh inFliGhT“ „roaminG 
aGreemenT For public Wireless lan 
serVices“

022303-101-00

T-mobile hotspot Gmbh amendment no. 2 - extension of inflight WiFi 
coverage for other airlines

amendment no. 2 - extension of inflight WiFi 
coverage for other airlines

022303-102-00

T-mobile netherlands b.V. international Gsm roaming agreement international Gsm roaming agreement 000537-000-00

T-mobile netherlands b.V. supplementary discount agreement on bilateral 
discounts on the inter operator tariff (ioT) for Gprs-
services in international roaming

supplementary discount agreement on bilateral 
discounts on the inter operator tariff (ioT) for Gprs-
services in international roaming

000537-201-00

T-mobile netherlands b.V. supplementary ioT agreement for bilateral 
agreement on the inter operator Tariff (ioT) for 
Gprs always on services (here blackberry) in 
international roaming

supplementary ioT agreement for bilateral 
agreement on the inter operator Tariff (ioT) for 
Gprs always on services (here blackberry) in 
international roaming

000537-202-00

T-mobile netherlands b.V. Variation agreement of Gprs initial Frame indents Variation agreement of Gprs initial Frame indents 011292-201-00

T-mobile netherlands b.V. roaming agreement for public Wireless lan services roaming agreement for public Wireless lan services 016486-000-00

T-mobile netherlands b.V. project service agreement for operation of 
international Transmission network

project service agreement for operation of 
international Transmission network

021146-000-00

T-mobile netherlands b.V. international roaming agreement international roaming agreement 025209-000-00

T-mobile polska s.a. accession deed to the international 
Telecommunication services master agreement 
(no. exGTs 0000016/2

accession deed to the international 
Telecommunication services master agreement 
(no. exGTs 0000016/2

025716-000-00

T-mobile polska s.a. Frame contract for security services delivery from 
drssc to Tmpl

Frame contract for security services delivery from 
drssc to Tmpl

026487-000-00

T-mobile polska s.a. service arrangement for security services delivery 
from drssc to Tmpl

service arrangement for security services delivery 
from drssc to Tmpl

026487-201-00

T-mobile polska s.a. Frame contract for security services delivery from 
Tmpl to drssc

Frame contract for security services delivery from 
Tmpl to drssc

026488-000-00

T-mobile polska s.a. service arrangement for security services delivery 
from Tmpl to drssc

service arrangement for security services delivery 
from Tmpl to drssc

026488-201-00

T-mobile polska s.a. service arrangement -in connection with an 
international ims service centre-Voic

service arrangement -in connection with an 
international ims service centre-Voic

025011-201-00

T-mobile polska s.a. appendix no. 1 - service arrangement - Tmcz 
provider - iT services recharging

appendix no. 1 - service arrangement - Tmcz 
provider - iT services recharging

025182-201-00

T-mobile polska s.a. service agreement -Tmpl provider-intercompany iT 
services recharging

service agreement -Tmpl provider-intercompany iT 
services recharging

025182-202-00

T-mobile polska s.a. agreement on the provision of rental vehicles - 
pronájem vozidla 

agreement on the provision of rental vehicles – rent 
of vehicle 

025880-000-00

T-mobile polska s.a. Telecommunications services agreement no. 
Ta18119

Telecommunications services agreement no. 
Ta18119

026242-000-00

T-mobile polska s.a. Framework service and consultancy agreement Framework service and consultancy agreement 000909-000-00

T-mobile polska s.a. international Gsm roaming agreement international Gsm roaming agreement 011455-000-00

T-mobile polska s.a. addendum no. 1 to international Gsm roaming 
agreement

addendum no. 1 to international Gsm roaming 
agreement

011455-101-00

T-mobile polska s.a. supplementary ioT discount agreement for bilateral 
agreement on the inter operator Tariff (ioT) for 
Gprs always on services (here blackberry) in 
international roaming

supplementary ioT discount agreement for bilateral 
agreement on the inter operator Tariff (ioT) for 
Gprs always on services (here blackberry) in 
international roaming

011455-201-00

T-mobile polska s.a. roaming agreement for public Wireless lan services roaming agreement for public Wireless lan services 017796-000-00

T-mobile polska s.a. one ims mavenir centralized Testbed and services 
- supply loi

one ims mavenir centralized Testbed and services 
- supply loi

024188-000-00
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Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

T-sytems international Gmbh individual agreement individual agreement 2013/0262

T-sytems international Gmbh agreement for commissioned data processing agreement for commissioned data processing 2013/0263

T-sytems international Gmbh operational level agreement to the Frame delivery 
agreement for Telekom iT 2013 cz

operational level agreement to the Frame delivery 
agreement for Telekom iT 2013 cz

2013/0272

T-sytems international Gmbh operational level agreement to the Frame delivery 
agreement for Gdu sap Ts mphs

operational level agreement to the Frame delivery 
agreement for Gdu sap Ts mphs

2013/0280

T-sytems international Gmbh delivery agreement - iT services delivery agreement - iT services 2013/0500

T-sytems international Gmbh service agreement service agreement 2013/0517

T-sytems international Gmbh ngcrm infrastructure operation ngcrm infrastructure operation 2013/0600

T-sytems international Gmbh business agreement to the Frame delivery 
agreement for Telekom iT 2013 cz 

business agreement to the Frame delivery 
agreement for Telekom iT 2013 cz 

2013/0649

T-sytems international Gmbh agreement for commissioned data processing agreement for commissioned data processing 2013/0680

T-sytems international Gmbh operational level agreement (ola) to the Frame 
delivery agreement for Gdu sap Ts

operational level agreement (ola) to the Frame 
delivery agreement for Gdu sap Ts

2013/0715

T-sytems international Gmbh operating level agreement (ola) for Gdu sap Ts operating level agreement (ola) for Gdu sap Ts 2013/0735

T-sytems international Gmbh operational level agreement (ola) to the Frame 
delivery agreement for Telekom iT 2013 cz 

operational level agreement (ola) to the Frame 
delivery agreement for Telekom iT 2013 cz 

2013/0741

T-sytems international Gmbh amendment to service schedule network FW-lb 
nr. 2010/697

amendment to service schedule network FW-lb 
nr. 2010/697

2013/0769

T-sytems international Gmbh amendment to service schedule microsoft nr. 
2010/1522

amendment to service schedule microsoft nr. 
2010/1522

2013/0770

T-sytems international Gmbh amendment to service schedule Filent nr. 
2010/1524

amendment to service schedule Filent nr. 
2010/1524

2013/0771

T-sytems international Gmbh amendment to service schedule sap nr. 
2010/1270

amendment to service schedule sap nr. 
2010/1270

2013/0772

T-sytems international Gmbh amendment to service schedule arm nr. 
2010/1364

amendment to service schedule arm nr. 
2010/1364

2013/0773

T-sytems international Gmbh amendment to service schedule linux Waikiki nr. 
2011/1453

amendment to service schedule linux Waikiki nr. 
2011/1453

2013/0774

T-sytems international Gmbh amendment to service schedule linux havaii nr. 
2010/1523

amendment to service schedule linux havaii nr. 
2010/1523

2013/0775

T-sytems international Gmbh amendment to service schedule linux hawaii nr. 
2010/1520

amendment to service schedule linux hawaii nr. 
2010/1520

2013/0776

T-sytems international Gmbh operational level agreement (ola) for iT csoao 
2013 Q3 cz

operational level agreement (ola) for iT csoao 
2013 Q3 cz

2013/0852

T-sytems international Gmbh operational level agreement (ola) for iT csoao 
2013 Q4 cz

operational level agreement (ola) for iT csoao 
2013 Q4 cz

2013/0853

T-sytems international Gmbh operational level agreement (ola) to the Frame 
delivery agreement for Telekom iT 2013 cz

operational level agreement (ola) to the Frame 
delivery agreement for Telekom iT 2013 cz

2013/0882

T-sytems international Gmbh bietererklaerung bidder declaration 2013/0950

T-sytems international Gmbh operational level agreement (ola) for Gdu sap Ts operational level agreement (ola) for Gdu sap Ts 2013/0954

T-sytems international Gmbh operational level agreement to the Frame delivery 
agreement for Telekom iT 2013

operational level agreement to the Frame delivery 
agreement for Telekom iT 2013

2013/1021

T-sytems international Gmbh operational level agreement to the Frame delivery 
agreement for Telekom iT 2013

operational level agreement to the Frame delivery 
agreement for Telekom iT 2013

2013/1070

T-sytems international Gmbh service schedule "Waikikki infrastructure" service schedule "Waikikki infrastructure" 2013/1153

T-sytems international Gmbh delivery agreement Telekom iT 2014 cz pursuant 
to the framework agreement regarding the provision 
of iT services

delivery agreement Telekom iT 2014 cz pursuant 
to the framework agreement regarding the provision 
of iT services

2013/1219

zoznam mobile, s.r.o. smlouva o zajištění poskytování obsahu content provision agreement 021136-000-00

Partner services / goods - original version services / goods - translation no. of contract
of the Company

T-systems international Gmbh Term sheet 2014 - content administration portal 
(cap)

Term sheet 2014 - content administration portal 
(cap)

024100-204-00

T-systems international Gmbh Term sheet 2014 - harmonized payment converter 
(hpc)

Term sheet 2014 - harmonized payment converter 
(hpc)

024100-205-00

T-systems international Gmbh declaration of compliance for the processing of 
data in sharepoint for V eT

declaration of compliance for the processing of 
data in sharepoint for V eT

024361-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh adherence agreement ( to the agreement 990072-
000-00)

adherence agreement ( to the agreement 990072-
000-00)

024737-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh agreement for commissioned data processing agreement for commissioned data processing 024757-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh sublicensing and crosscharging agreement - 
aspera license

sublicensing and crosscharging agreement - 
aspera license

025060-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh adherence agreement to the contract 71009540 - 
citrix contract 2015

adherence agreement to the contract 71009540 - 
citrix contract 2015

025139-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh Frame agreement for commisioned data 
processing

Frame agreement for commisioned data 
processing

025166-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh amendment no. 1 to Frame agreement for 
commisioned data processing

amendment no. 1 to Frame agreement for 
commisioned data processing

025166-101-00

T-systems international Gmbh agreement about international internal services agreement about international internal services 025415-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh master Term sheet 2015 master Term sheet 2015 025702-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh icps individual contract icps individual contract 880024-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh Framework agreement regarding the provision of 
iT services

Framework agreement regarding the provision of 
iT services

880052-000-00

T-systems international Gmbh prolongation agreement infrastructure services prolongation agreement infrastructure services 880052-102-00

T-systems international Gmbh service agreement about international internal 
services - service delivery platform

service agreement about international internal 
services - service delivery platform

025692-000-00

T-systems iTc iberia s.a.u. service agreement for support services regarding the 
provision of Tc services to Gestamp automocion s.a.

service agreement for support services regarding the 
provision of Tc services to Gestamp automocion s.a.

024939-000-00

T-systems iTc iberia s.a.u. service agreement (Gestamp automoción) service agreement (Gestamp automoción) 2013/0918

T-systems limited agreement concerning The Transfer of assets 
(contract on the transfer of assets)

agreement concerning The Transfer of assets 
(contract on the transfer of assets)

025388-000-00

T-systems limited service agreement service agreement 2013/0314

T-systems limited amendment to service agreement nr. 2012/0737 amendment to service agreement nr. 2012/0737 2013/0665

T-systems limited business agreement business agreement 2013/1190

T-systems magyarország zrt Term sheet - seamless communication platform 
hungary (scph) - scp-Webex

Term sheet - seamless communication platform 
hungary (scph) - scp-Webex

025801-000-00

T-systems magyarország zrt non-disclosure agreement - nda non-disclosure agreement - nda 025975-000-00

T-systems magyarország zrt personal data processing contract personal data processing contract 026067-000-00

T-systems polska sp. z o.o. cooperation agreement cooperation agreement 0000243/2011-smna

T-sytems international Gmbh share purchase agreement - angel + expert opinion share purchase agreement - angel + expert opinion 024278-000-00

T-sytems international Gmbh cooperation agreement - transakce angel cooperation agreement - transaction angel 024279-000-00

T-sytems international Gmbh individual agreement (project Time management 
system)

individual agreement (project Time management 
system)

2012/1359

T-sytems international Gmbh agreement for commissioned data processing agreement for commissioned data processing 2012/1549

T-sytems international Gmbh icps individual contract icps individual contract 2012/1553

T-sytems international Gmbh icps individual contract icps individual contract 2012/1554

T-sytems international Gmbh delivery agreement - iT services delivery agreement - iT services 2013/0105

T-sytems international Gmbh delivery agreement - Global business continuity 
manager services

delivery agreement - Global business continuity 
manager services

2013/0111

T-sytems international Gmbh service schedule (ibl connection idcc (one- Time 
costs))

service schedule (ibl connection idcc (one- Time 
costs))

2013/0140

T-sytems international Gmbh operational level agreement to the Frame delivery 
agreement for Telekom iT 2013 cz - ola Telekom iT 
Fb T-europe 2013 Q1 cz

operational level agreement to the Frame delivery 
agreement for Telekom iT 2013 cz - ola Telekom iT 
Fb T-europe 2013 Q1 cz

2013/0225

T-sytems international Gmbh delivery agreement - iT services delivery agreement - iT services 2013/0234

T-sytems international Gmbh operational level agreement (ola) to the Frame 
delivery agreement for soc sap Ts large 
accounts

operational level agreement (ola) to the Frame 
delivery agreement for soc sap Ts large 
accounts

2013/0238
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anneX no. 1 
To reporT on The relaTionships beTWeen  
The relaTed parTies For The Year 2017
The sTrucTure oF relaTions WiThin The concern

The overview contains the entities controlled by dTaG with which Tmcz had business relations during the relevant period, as well as some entities 

which stand, in the structure of the concern companies, either above or below the aforementioned entities.

DTAG           

100% T-Mobile Global Zwischenholding GmbH (Germany)    

 100,00% T-mobile Global holding Gmbh (Germany)    

  100,00% T-mobile holdings limited (united Kingdom)   

   100,00% one 2 one limited (united Kingdom)   

   100,00% T-mobile (uK)  limited (united Kingdom)   

   100,00% T-mobile (uK) retail limited (united Kingdom)  

   100,00% T-mobile ltd. (united Kingdom)   

   100,00% one 2 one personal communications ltd. (united Kingdom) 

   100,00% T-mobile international limited (united Kingdom)  

   100,00% T-mobile no. 1 limited (united Kingdom)  

   100,00% T-mobile no. 5 limited (united Kingdom)  

   100,00% T-mobile uK properties inc. (usa)   

   12,00% bT Group plc (united Kingdom)    

  100,00% deusche Telekom holding b.V. (netherlands)   

   65,48% T-mobile us, inc. (usa)    

    100,00% T-mobile usa, inc. (usa)   

     100,00% T-mobile usa Tower llc (usa)   

     100,00% suncom Wireless holdings inc. (usa) 

     100,00% T-mobile license, llc (usa)  

     100,00% T-mobile south llc (usa)  

     100,00% ibsV llc usa)    

     100,00% T-mobile subsidiary iV corporation (usa) 

     100,00% Tmus assurance corporation (usa)  

     100,00% T-mobile pcs holdings llc (usa)  

     100,00% T-mobile West llc (usa)   

      100,00% metro pcs Texas, llc (usa)  

     100,00% T-mobile northeast llc (usa)  

     100,00% T-mobile central llc (usa)  

     100,00% powertel/ memphis, inc. (usa)  

     100,00% Voicestream pcs i iowa corporation (usa) 

     100,00% metro pcs california, llc (usa)  

     100,00% Firefly subsidiary, inc. (usa)   

     100,00% T-mobile Financial, llc (usa)  

     100,00% T-mobile leasing, llc (usa)  

     100,00% metro pcs networks california, llc (usa) 

     5,95% 3G americas, llc (usa)   

     10,00% north american portability   management llc (usa)

100% Deutsche Telekom (UK) Limited (United Kingdom)    

 100,00% T-mobile international uK pension Trustee limited (united Kingdom)  

5.   leGal acTs made aT The insTiGaTion oF or in The 
inTeresT oF The conTrollinG parTY or oTher parTies 
conTrolled bY The conTrollinG parTY

during the relevant period the company made the following legal acts in the interest, or at the instigation of, the controlling party or other parties 

controlled by the controlling party, which would involve assets exceeding in value czK 3,052 million, which represents 10% of the company’s equity 

reported in the latest Financial statements as at 31 december 2017:

6.  assesmenT oF a deTrimenT and iTs compensaTion
no detriment occurred to the company on the bases of the agreements entered into in the relevant period between the company and other entities 

from the concern, other acts which were implemented in the interest, or at the instigation of, of such entities by the company in the relevant period.

7.  eValuaTion oF relaTions and risKs WiThin The concern
7.1  eValuaTion oF adVanTaGes and disadVanTaGes oF relaTions WiThin The concern

in particular the following advantages arise from the participation within the concern to the company. The concern is a provider of top class 

telecommunication services, it disposes of a strong brand and strong financial background, from which the company benefits especially when 

closing deals with its suppliers.

no disadvantages have arisen to the company from the participation within the concern.

7.2  no risKs haVe arisen To The companY From The relaTions WiThin The concern

in prague, 22 march 2018 in prague, 22 march 2018

Daria Dodonová Mardia Niehaus

Vice-chairman of the board of directors member of the board of directors
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      99,46% GTs central european holding b.V. (netherlands)

       100,00% GTs ukraine l.l.c. (ucraine) 

       100,00% antel Germany Gmbh (Germany)

       47,44% GTs Telecom s.r.l. (romania) 

      52,56% GTs Telecom s.r.l. (romania) 

   100,00% GTs poland sp. z o.o. (poland)   

   100,00% spV holdinGs sp. z o.o. (poland)   

 99,00% deutsche Telekom pan-net s.r.o. (slovakia)    

 99,88% deutsche Telekom pan-net Greece epe (Greece)   

 100,00% deutsche Telekom pan-net poland sp. z o.o. (poland)   

 100,00% deutsche Telekom pan-net croatia d.o.o. (croatia)   

 100,00% deutsche Telekom pan-net hungary Kft. (hungary)   

 100,00% deutsche Telekom pan-net czech republic s.r.o. (czech republic)  

 100,00% deutsche Telekom pan-net albania sh.p.k. (albania)   

 100,00% deutsche Telekom pan-net Gmbh (austria)    

 100,00% deutsche Telekom pan-net macedonia dooel skopje (macedonia)  

 100,00% deutsche Telekom pan-net montenegro d.o.o. (montenegro)  

 100,00% deutsche Telekom pan-net romania s.r.l. (romania)   

100% Deutsche Telekom Asia Pte Ltd (Singapore)     

40% +1 Hellenic Telecommunications Organization S.A. (OTE) (Greece)   

 100,00% oTe international investments ltd. (cyprus)    

  54,01% Telekom romania communications s.a. (romania)  

   30,00% Telekom romania mobile communications s.a. (romania) 

 100,00% cosmote mobile Telecommunications s.a. (Greece)   

  70,00% Telekom romania mobile communications s.a. (romania) 

  99,757% Telekom albania sh.a  (amc) (albania)   

  100,00% Germanos s.a. (Greece)     

   1,00% cosmoholding international b.V. (netherlands)  

  99,00% cosmoholding international b.V. (netherlands)   

  100,00% cosmoholding romania ltd. (cyprus)    

 100,00% oTe estate s.a. (Greece)       

 100,00% oTe international solutions s.a. (oTe Globe) (Greece)    

100% Deutsche Telekom Europe Beteiligungsverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH (Germany) 

 1,00% deutsche Telekom pan-net s.r.o. (slovakia)    

 50% BuyIn S.A. (Belgium)        

 100,00% buyin s.a.s. (France)       

 100,00% buyin Gmbh (Germany)      

100% T-Systems International GmbH (Germany)     

 100,00% T-systems beteiligungsverwaltungsgesellschaft mbh (Germany)  

  0,01%deutsche Telekom shared services s.r.o. (slovakia)  

100% Deutsche Telekom Services Europe GmbH (Germany)    

 99,99% deutsche Telekom shared services s.r.o. (slovakia)   

 100,00% deutsche Telekom services europe czech republic s.r.o. (czech republic) 

 96,67% deutsche Telekom services europe romania s.r.l. (romania)  

3,33% Deutsche Telekom Services Europe Romania S.R.L. (Romania)   

100% Deutsche Telekom Europe Holding GmbH (Germany)    

 100,00% deutsche Telekom europe holding b.V. (netherlands)   

  100,00% deutsche Telekom europe b.V. (netherlands)   

   100,00% T-mobile netherlands holding b.V.  (netherlands)  

    100,00% T-mobile netherlands Finance b.V. (netherlands) 

    100,00% T-mobile netherlands b.V. (netherlands)  

     100,00% T-mobile netherlands retail b.V. (netherlands) 

     100,00% T-mobile netherlands Klantenservice b.V. (netherlands)

    100,00% T-mobile Thuis b.V. (netherlands)   

   100,00% T-mobile austria holding Gmbh (austria)  

    100,00% T-mobile austria Gmbh (austria)  

     100,00% T-mobile international austria Gmbh  (austria)

     100,00% T-infrastructur holding Gmbh (austria) 

   100,00% T-mobile czech republic a.s. (czech republic)  

    100,00% ce colo czech s.r.o. (czech republic)  

   51,00% hrvatski Telekom d.d. (croatia)   

    100,00 % combis, usluge integracija informatickih tehnologija, d.o.o. (croatia) 

     100,00 % combis iT usluge d.o.o. (serbia)  

     100,00 % combis d.o.o. sarajevo (bosnia and herzegovina)

    100,00% Kabelsko distributivni sustav d.o.o. (croatia) 

    100,00% iskon internet d.d. (croatia)   

     100,00 % ca inTerneT d.o.o. (croatia)  

     100,00 % reGica.neT d.o.o. (croatia)  

    39,10% hrvatske telekomunikacije mostar d.d. (bosnia and herzegovina)

    30,29% hrvatska posta d.o.o. (bosnia and herzegovina) 

    100,00% e-Tours d.o.o. (croatia)   

    100,00% m-Tele d.o.o. (croatia)   

     76,53% crnogorski Telekom a.d. podgorica (montenegro)

    17,41% oT-optima Telekom d.d. (croatia)  

     100,00% oT-optima Telekom d.o.o. (slovenia) 

     100,00% optima Telekom za upravljanje nekretninama i savjetovanje d.o.o. (croatia) 

     100,00% optima direct d.o.o. (croatia)  

   100,00% slovak Telekom, a.s. (slovakia)   

    100,00% diGi sloVaKia s.r.o. (slovakia)  

    100,00% Telekom sec, s.r.o. (slovakia)   

    100,00% zoznam mobile, s.r.o. (slovakia)  

    100,00% zoznam s.r.o. (slovakia)   

    51,00% posam, s.r.o. (slovakia)   

   59,21% magyar Telekom nyrt. (hungary)   

    100,00% combridge srl. (romania)   

    100,00% stonebridge communications a.d.(macedonia)  

     51,00 % makedonski Telekom ad skopje (macedonia) 

    100,00% T-systems magyarország zrt (hungary)  

    100,00% novatel eood (bulgaria)   

   100,00% T-mobile polska s.a. (poland)   

    100,00% Tele haus polska sp.z.o.o. (poland)  

    50,00% netWorks! sp.z.o.o. (poland)   

    100,00% Tel-Team inwestycje sp.z.o.o. (poland)  

    100,00% T-systems polska sp. z o.o. (poland)  

   100,00% consorcium 1 s.à.r.l. (GTs) (luxembourg)  

    100,00% consortium 2 s.à.r.l. (luxembourg)  

     100,00% GTs central european holdings limited (cyprus) 

      100,00% carduelis b.V. (netherlands)  

       0,54% GTs central european holding b.V. (netherlands)
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sTaTemenT oF Financial posiTion
Year ended 31 december 2017

CZK million note 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

asseTs 

CURRenT asseTs

cash and cash equivalents 4 5,254 3,934

Trade and other receivables 5 5,724 5,476

inventories 6 731 673

prepaid expenses and other current assets 389 369

advanced payment of income tax 69 182

Total current assets 12,167 10,634

non-CURRenT asseTs

intangible assets 7 8,255 8,827

Goodwill 8 1,275 1,275

property and equipment 9 15,655 15,822

investment in subsidiary 10 2,133 2,133

prepaid expenses and other non-current assets 239 17

Total non-current assets 27,557 28,074

ToTaL asseTs 39,724 38,708

LiaBiLiTies and eQUiTY

CURRenT LiaBiLiTies

Trade and other payables 11 5,625 4,562

other financial liabilities 12 219 201

provisions 13 397 39

deferred revenue 14 238 649

Total current liabilities 6,479 5,451

non-CURRenT LiaBiLiTies

other financial liabilities 12 1,269 1,063

provisions 13 887 894

deferred revenue 14 3 3

deferred tax liability 15 563 442

Total non-current liabilities 2,722 2,402

ToTaL LiaBiLiTies 9,201 7,853

eQUiTY

share capital 17 520 520

share premium 17 397 397

capital funds 17 105 106

retained earnings 29,501 29,832

Total equity 30,523 30,855

ToTaL LiaBiLiTies and eQUiTY 39,724 38,708

The notes on pages 58 to 107 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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sTaTemenT oF chanGes in eQuiTY
Year ended 31 december 2017

CZK million note share 
Capital

share 
Premium

Capital 
Funds

Retained 
earnings

Total

Balance as at 1.1.2016 520 397 105 29,818 30,840

Total comprehensive income - - - 4,720 4,720

profit for the period - - - 4,720 4,720

Transactions with shareholders - - - (4,706) (4,706)

dividends paid 27 - - - (4,706) (4,706)

executive management share schemes - - 1 - 1

Balance as at 31.12.2016 520 397 106 29,832 30,855

Total comprehensive income - - - 4,389 4,389

profit for the period - - - 4,389 4,389

Transactions with shareholders - - - (4,720) (4,720)

dividends paid 27 - - - (4,720) (4,720)

executive management share schemes - - (1) - (1)

Balance as at 31.12.2017 520 397 105 29,501 30,523

The notes on pages 58 to 107 form an integral part of these financial statements.

sTaTemenT oF comprehensiVe income
Year ended 31 december 2017

CZK million note 2017 2016

Revenue 19 26,799 26,227

other operating income 20 1,482 1,188

cost of goods, raw materials and telecommunication services 21 (9,171) (8,711)

employee benefits 22 (3,469) (3,111)

depreciation and amortisation 23 (4,611) (4,727)

other operating expenses 24 (5,459) (4,863)

Profit from operations 5,571 6,003

Finance income 25 128 86

Finance expense 25 (215) (110)

Profit before tax 5,484 5,979

income tax expense 26 (1,095) (1,259)

net profit for the current period 4,389 4,720

other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income for the period 4,389 4,720

The notes on pages 58 to 107 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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noTes To The separaTe Financial sTaTemenTs
Year ended 31 december 2017

1 General inFormaTion

InfoRmATIon AbouT The ComPAny
T-mobile czech republic a.s. (“the company”) is a czech legal entity, joint-stock company with registered office in prague 4, Tomíčkova 2144/1, 

czech republic, and was incorporated on 15 February 1996, reg. no 64949681. The company operates public mobile communications network, 

public fixed telecommunications network and provides mobile communications services, fixed communication services and ipTV under conditions of 

czech Telecommunication office (“cTo”) certificate, no. 310/7, issued on 2 october 2015, authorizing to operate in electronic communication sector, 

respectively to carry out communication activities comprising provision of the public mobile networks, provision of public fixed networks and provision 

of electronic communications services.

The ComPAny’s oWneRshIP sTRuCTuRe
as at 31 december 2017 and 31 december 2016, the ownership structure of the company was as follows:

shareholder no. of shares Paid in share capital

thousands CZK million %

deutsche Telekom europe b.V. 520 520 100

Total 520 520 100 

The ultimate parent company of the company during the accounting periods ended 31 december 2017 and 31 december 2016 was deutsche Telekom aG 

(“dTaG”) which controls deutsche Telekom europe b.V. (former cmobil b.V.), the direct parent of the company. deutsche Telekom europe b.V. is consolidated 

by deutsche Telekom aG Group and its results are presented in group consolidated financial statements on website www.telekom.de/investor-relations.

LICenCes And TRAdemARks 
as at 31 december 2017, the company had the right to use the following frequency bands:

  allocation of frequency bands for the provision of public mobile network in 900 mhz and 1800 mhz frequency bands for the period of 20 years 

(expires in 2024); 

  allocation of frequency bands for the provision of public mobile network of electronic communication in 2.1 Ghz and 28 Ghz frequency bands for 

the period of 20 years (expires in 2024);

  allocation of frequency bands for the provision of public mobile network in 800 mhz, 1800 mhz and 2600 mhz frequency bands for the period of 

15 years (expires in 2029);

  allocation of frequency bands for the provision of public mobile network in 26 Ghz frequency, which expires in 2020;

  allocation of frequency band for the provision of public communications network in 2600 mhz frequency band for the period of 13 years (expires 

in 2029).

The allocations of the frequency bands are referred to as “licences” in these financial statements. licences do not fall within the scope of iFric 12, 

service concession arrangements, and therefore the company does not use concession accounting.

The company owns 115 registered trademarks registered in the industrial property office register of the czech republic.

based on a sub-licence agreement between the company and deutsche Telekom aG (legal successor of T-mobile international aG), the company is 

also entitled to use relevant trademarks registered by dTaG in the czech republic.

2 summarY oF siGniFicanT accounTinG policies

bAsIs of PRePARATIon
The separate financial statements (“financial statements”) have been prepared in accordance with international Financial reporting standards as 

endorsed by european union (“iFrs”) under the historical cost convention, with the exception of derivative instruments, which are stated at fair values.

These financial statements relate to consolidated financial statements of T-mobile czech republic a.s. and its subsidiary ce colo czech s.r.o. 

(together the “Group”) for the year ended 31 december 2017. These separate financial statement should be read in conjunction with the consolidated 

financial statements to obtain a complete understanding of the Group’s results and financial position.

sTaTemenT oF cash FloWs 
Year ended 31 december 2017

CZK million note 2017 2016

Cash flows from operating activities

profit before tax for the current period 5,484 5,979

adjustments for non-cash movements:

depreciation and amortisation 23 4,611 4,727

interest expense net 25 67 67

Gain on sale of fixed assets net (139) (201)

changes in provisions 344 (109)

other non-cash income (17) (5)

cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital 10,350 10,458

changes in trade and other receivables (555) 28

changes in inventories (58) 15

changes in trade and other payables 460 269

cash flow generated from operating activities 10,197 10,770

income tax paid (861) (876)

interest paid (69) (68)

interest received 3 1

dividends received 250 -

net cash flow from operating activities 9,520 9,827

Cash flows from investing activities

purchases of property and equipment and intangible assets 7, 9 (3,161) (4,305)

proceeds from the sale of property and equipment and intangible assets 103 70

(losses)/proceeds from the sale of securities (44) (13)

intercompany loan issued (128) -

net cash flow from investing activities (3,230) (4,248)

Cash flows from financing activities

issuance of loan 140 125

issuance of bank overdraft 19 120

repayment of short-term financing 2 (34) (6)

repayment of loan (140) (125)

repayment of bank overdraft (19) (120)

dividends paid 27 (4,720) (4,706)

payments of finance lease liabilities 9 (216) (341)

net cash flow from financing activities (4,970) (5,053)

net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,320 526

Cash and cash equivalents as at the beginning of the period 4 3,934 3,408

Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the period 4 5,254 3,934

The notes on pages 58 to 107 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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  iFrs 15, revenue from contracts with customers (issued in may 2014, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The new 

standard will replace ias 18 which covers contracts for goods and services and ias 11 which covers construction contracts. The new standard is 

based on the principle that revenue is recognised when control of a good or service transfers to a customer. The standard has a material effect on 

the presentation of company‘s results of operations and financial position. depending on the business model applied, the new provisions address 

the following issues in particular: 

   in the case of multiple-element arrangements (e.g., mobile contract plus handset) with subsidized products delivered in advance, a larger 

portion of the total remuneration is attributable to the component delivered in advance (mobile handset), requiring earlier recognition of 

revenue. This leads to the recognition of what is known as a contract asset – a receivable arising from the customer contract that has not yet 

legally come into existence – in the statement of financial position. at the same time, this leads to higher revenue from the sale of goods and 

merchandise and to lower revenue from the provision of services. The scope of the changes resulting from the initial application of iFrs 15 that 

are described above therefore largely depends on the business models used by the company. 

   Future capitalization and allocation of the expenses for sales commissions (customer acquisition costs) is made over the estimated customer 

retention period. This leads to an increase in total assets on initial application due to the capitalization of costs to obtain a contract.

   deferral, i.e., later recognition of revenue is made in cases where „material rights“ are granted, such as offering additional discounts for future 

purchases of further products.

   For the purposes of determining whether the company sells products itself (principal = gross revenue) or arranges for another party to sell 

them (agent = net revenue), it is unlikely there will be any material changes. 

The company estimates that contract asset will have to be recognized in the amount approximately czK 540 million, contract cost asset in the 

amount approximately czK 685 million and contract liability in the amount approximately czK 41 million on 1 January 2018. deferred income will 

decrease by czK 65 million and Tax liability will increase by czK 237 million. net impact to retained earnings will be approximately czK 1,012 million 

on 1 January 2018. additionally deferred revenues of czK 115 million and advance payments received of czK 390 million which comprise mainly 

unused customer prepaid airtime will be reclassified to contract liability as at 1 January 2018.

The company will utilize the option for simplified initial application, i.e. contracts that are not completed by January 1, 2018 will be accounted for as if 

they had been recognized in accordance with iFrs 15 from the very beginning. The cumulative effect arising from the transition will be recognized as 

an adjustment to the opening balance of equity in the year of initial application. prior-year comparatives will not be restated; instead, the company will 

provide an explanation of the reasons for the changes in items in the statement of financial position and the income statement for the current period 

as a result of applying iFrs 15 for the first time.

  amendments to iFrs 15, revenue from contracts with customers (issued in april 2016 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after  

1 January 2018). The amendments do not change the underlying principles of the standard but clarify how those principles should be applied. 

The amendments clarify how to identify a performance obligation (the promise to transfer a good or a service to a customer) in a contract; how to 

determine whether a company is a principal (the provider of a good or service) or an agent (responsible for arranging for the good or service to be 

provided); and how to determine whether the revenue from granting a licence should be recognised at a point in time or over time. in addition to the 

clarifications, the amendments include two additional reliefs to reduce cost and complexity for a company when it first applies the new standard. 

  iFrs 16, leases (issued in January 2016, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). The new standard will result in almost 

all leases being recognised on the balance sheet, as the distinction between operating and finance leases is removed. under the new standard,  

an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognised. 

The standard has a material effect on the presentation of company‘s results of operations and financial position. depending on the business 

model applied, the new provisions address the following issues in particular:

   Whereas previously there was a requirement to disclose payment obligations for operating leases in the notes to the financial statements (see note 29), 

from now on, the resulting rights and obligations must be recognized as rights of use and lease liabilities in the statement of financial position. 

   The company anticipates a significant increase in total assets on the first-time adoption on account of the increase in lease liabilities as well 

as a similarly high increase in non-current assets due to the right-of-use assets to be capitalized. The increase in lease liabilities leads to 

a corresponding increase in net debt.

   Going forward, depreciation charges and interest expense will be reported in the income statement instead of lease expense. This will give rise to 

a significant improvement in ebiTda and to a similar increase in the net cash from operating activities reported in the statement of cash flows. 

   For the company as a lessor, the new definition of a lease may affect the number of items to be accounted for as leases.

   The overall effects will be analysed as part of a centrally driven project for implementing iFrs 16, though a reliable estimate of the quantitative 

effects is not possible until the project has been completed, for example because of the change in the definition of the lease term and the 

different treatment of variable lease payments and of extension and termination options.

The company intends to apply the simplified transition approach and will not restate comparative amounts for the year prior to first adoption, the 

cumulative effect of initially applying iFrs 16 will be presented as an adjustment to opening retained earnings.

Financial amounts in these financial statements are presented, unless otherwise stated, in millions of czech crowns (czK million).

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently 

applied to all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

AdoPTIon of neW/RevIsed sTAndARds And neW sTAndARds (InCLudIng AmendmenTs of exIsTIng sTAndARds) 
noT yeT AdoPTed by The ComPAny
in 2017, the company adopted the following standards and amendments to the standards. 

a) adopTed durinG The Year:

  amendment to ias 12, income Taxes, clarifying the recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses (issued in January 2016, effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017). in this amendment, the iasb has clarified the accounting for deferred tax where an asset is 

measured at fair value and that fair value is below the asset’s tax base. 

  amendment to ias 7, statement of cash Flows (issued in January 2016, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017). The 

amendment is intended to clarify ias 7 to improve information provided to users of financial statements about an entity’s financing activities. The 

amendment requires disclosure of a reconciliation of movements in liabilities arising from financing activities.

  amendment to iFrs 12, disclosure of interests in other entities, clarifies that the disclosure requirements of iFrs 12 apply to interests in entities 

that are classified as held for sale, except for the summarized financial information. The amendment refers to annual improvements 2014-2016 

cycle (issued in december 2016, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017).

The adopted standards and amendments do not have material impact on the company’s financial statements. 

b)  neW sTandards, amendmenTs To The sTandards and inTerpreTaTions endorsed bY eu Which are noT YeT eFFecTiVe and 

haVe noT been earlY adopTed:

   iFrs 9, Financial instruments (as revised in July 2014, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) includes a model for classification 

and measurement, a single, forward -looking “expected loss” impairment model and substantially-reformed approach to hedge accounting.

   classification and measurement: classification determines how financial assets and liabilities are accounted for in financial statements and, in 

particular, how they are measured on an ongoing basis. iFrs 9 introduces an approach for the classification of financial assets, which is driven 

by cash characteristics and the business model in which an assets is held. 

   as a result of the analysis of financial assets conducted by the company, there is no change in classification of the instruments with adoption of 

iFrs 9, and therefore no impact on the retained earnings.

   instruments classified as loans and receivables under ias 39 will be classified at amortised cost under iFrs 9. based on the management 

intention of the company, the business model for all debt instruments is to hold the financial asset and collect contractual cash flows as 

opposed to realising its fair value change from sale prior to its contractual maturity. occasional sales occur only for overdue receivables for 

which recovery of the claim by dedicated external agencies is unsuccessful. These sales do not contradict the objective of the business model. 

concerning contractual cash flow characteristics, we have not identified any feature that would be inconsistent with sppi criterion, therefore all 

debt instruments in the company qualify for amortised cost measurement. derivatives remain measured at fair value through profit or loss.  

   impairment: standard introduced a new, expected-loss impairment model that will require more timely recognition of expected credit losses. 

specifically, the standard requires entities to account for expected credit losses rather than only incurred credit losses as is the case under ias 39.

   based on the assessment undertaken, the company expects an increase in the loss allowance for trade receivables held at amortised costs 

by approximately czK 36 million. The deferred tax liability will decrease by czK 7 million as a consequence and the net impact on retained 

earnings will be czK 29 million.

   impact from application of an impairment model to contract assets under iFrs 15 revenue from contracts with customers will not be material. 

   hedge accounting: iFrs 9 introduces a substantially-reformed model for hedge accounting, with enhanced disclosures about risk management 

activity. The new model represents a significant overhaul of hedge accounting that aligns the accounting treatment with risk management 

activities, enabling entities to better reflect these activities in their financial statements. The company does not use hedge accounting, and there 

is no intention to use it in the nearest future.

The company will apply the standard on 1 January 2018. The cumulative effect arising from the transition will be recognised as an adjustment to 

the opening balance of equity in the year of initial application. prior-year comparatives will not be restated; instead, the company will provide an 

explanation of the reasons for the changes in items in the statement of financial position and the income statement for the current period as a result  

of applying iFrs 9 for the first time.
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Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating units or groups 

of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are 

identified at the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes, being the operating segments. The company is 

considered as one cash-generating unit. 

e) ForeiGn currencY TranslaTion

The functional and presentation currency is czech crown. Foreign currency transactions are translated and recorded at the exchange rate published 

by the czech national bank as at the date of the transaction. cash, receivables and liabilities balances denominated in foreign currencies have been 

translated at the exchange rate published by the czech national bank as at the end of the reporting period. all exchange gains or losses on cash, 

receivables and liabilities balances are recorded in profit or loss.

F) JoinT arranGemenTs

Joint arrangements according to iFrs 11 may have either joint operation or joint venture form. The classification depends on contractual rights and 

obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure of joint arrangement.

according to participation in joint operations, the company recognises assets controlled and liabilities incurred and its share on all jointly held assets 

and jointly incurred liabilities and its share on revenue and costs generated by the joint operations according to valid terms of relevant contracts. other 

information related to joint arrangements is stated in note 9.

G) cash and cash eQuiValenTs

cash and cash equivalents are cash in hand, bank deposits and other highly liquid financial instruments exchangeable for a predetermined amount of 

cash and due date lower than 3 months from purchase date (mainly depository bill of exchange and short-term deposits).

h) inVenTories 

purchased inventories are stated at the lower of acquisition cost or net realisable amount. The acquisition cost primarily includes the purchase price 

and other costs incurred related to delivery of inventories to the storage place. These costs include mainly customs, storage during transportation and 

freight. The assessment of the net realisable amount for the handsets takes into account the present value of estimated cash flows resulting from the 

contract with the final customer. 

provisions are recorded for obsolete, slow-moving and damaged inventories and are deducted from the related inventory balances.

all disposals of purchased inventories are valued using the weighted-average cost method.

i) Financial insTrumenTs 

Financial assets

The company classifies its financial assets in the following categories:

  loans and receivables,

  Financial assets at fair value recorded to profit or loss.

classification of financial assets is based on purpose of asset purchase. management of the company assigns financial assets classification at the 

time of initial record of asset.

Loans and receivables

loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and that are 

not held by the company for the purpose of selling them immediately or in the short-term. They are included in current assets, except for loans 

and receivables with maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting period which are classified as non-current assets. loans and 

receivables are comprised in Trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets in the statement of financial position.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 

less a provision for impairment (hereinafter referred to as “provisions”). a provision for impairment of Trade and other receivables is established when 

there is objective evidence that the company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. significant 

financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or reorganisation or default on payments are considered indicators 

that the receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision approximates the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 

of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original market discount rate used for similar receivables. The amount of loss due to impairment is 

recognised in profit or loss. The irrecoverable trade receivables are written off against the provision for impairment.

The company performs the receivables write off against provisions after all legal steps for enforcement were taken or after the sale of the receivables. 

subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised in profit or loss.

  amendments to iFrs 2, share-based payment, classification and measurement of share-based payment Transactions (issued in July 2016, 

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) clarify the measurement basis for cash-settled share-based payments and the 

accounting for modifications that change an award from cash-settled to equity-settled. 

  iFric 22, Foreign currency Transactions and advance consideration (issued in december 2016, effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2018). The interpretation clarifies how to determine the date of transaction for the exchange rate to be used on initial recognition of 

a related asset, expense or income where an entity pays or receives consideration in advance for foreign currency-denominated contracts.

a) accounTinG esTimaTes

The preparation of the company’s financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates and assumptions in respect of the carrying amount 

of assets and liabilities not clearly evident from other sources. The estimates and relevant assumptions are based on historical experience and other 

factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the known circumstances. The actual results may differ from 

these estimates.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 

the next financial year are disclosed in these financial statements. The estimates and relevant assumptions are continually evaluated. corrections of 

accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the correction occurred (if the correction has an impact only on the current period) and in 

the following periods (if the correction has an impact on the current and the following period).

between estimates belongs mainly:

  estimate of recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit, to which goodwill is allocated for the purposes of impairment testing (see note 8);

  provision for doubtful debt (see note 5); 

  useful lives of customer relationships and other intangible assets (see note 7),

  Fair values of jointly held tangible assets subject to network sharing agreement (see note 9).

b) business combinaTions 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for acquisition of subsidiaries from parties that are not under common control. 

consideration paid for acquisition of a subsidiary is equal to fair value of the assets transferred and the liabilities incurred. 

consideration paid includes fair value of whatever assets and liabilities, which resulting from contingent consideration agreement. acquired 

identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities incurred in business combination are initially recognised at fair value at the date of acquisition. 

acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. 

if the initial accounting for a business combination can be determined only provisionally by the end of the period in which the combination is effected, 

the company shall account for the incomplete items using those provisional values. during the measurement period, the company shall recognise 

any adjustments to those provisional values or any additional assets and liabilities in order for the adjusted values to reflect new information obtained 

by the company about facts and circumstances that existed as at the date of acquisition and which if had been known as at the date of acquisition 

would have influenced values recognised. 

The measurement period is a period from the date of acquisition to the date when the company obtains complete information about facts and 

circumstances that existed as at the date of acquisition, however, no later than one year from the acquisition date. 

business combinations under common control are accounted for using predecessor amounts approach (similar to pooling of interest). under this 

method the company does not revaluate assets and liabilities to their fair values but takes over the valuation of subsidiary’s assets and liabilities from 

the consolidated financial statements of the ultimate parent company, i.e. from the consolidated financial statements of dTaG.

c) subsidiaries

subsidiaries are all entities over which the company has control. The company controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 

returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct activities of the entity. subsidiaries are 

recorded at historical costs less cumulative impairment loss.

d) GoodWill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a business represents the excess of the

  consideration transferred;

  amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity; and

  acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired. 

if those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or 

loss as a bargain purchase.

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually, or more 

frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains 

and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.
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iv) software

capitalised software costs include the licence fees for the use of software, costs of consulting services related to software implementation and internal 

labour costs directly related to the integration of the purchased software. software costs are amortised over the expected period of the useful life, 

which is two to six years or over the length of the contract. costs of consulting services, which are incurred after the relevant subsystem of the software 

is put into routine operation and as such do not fulfil the criteria for capitalisation, are expensed as incurred.

v) Customer relationships

customer relationships acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. customer relationships have a finite 

useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to 

allocate the cost of customer relationships over their estimated useful lives of 7 and 8 years.

The useful lives of customer relationships were estimated on the basis of average useful life of customers in each customer base, local customer 

relationship and multinational customer relationship. The appropriateness of the amortisation period is reviewed annually. any change in the expected 

useful life of the asset shall be accounted for prospectively as a change in the accounting estimate. 

if the carrying amount of the intangible asset is higher than its expected recoverable amount, the carrying amount is reduced to reflect the recoverable 

amount. The recoverable amount of assets is calculated as the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and value in use, which is the present value of 

future cash flows generated by the asset or the cash generating unit.

l) Finance leases

leased property and equipment where the company assumes all the substantial benefits and risks usually connected with the ownership is classified 

as finance leases. property and equipment under finance leases is capitalised at lower of fair value and estimated net present value of the minimal 

lease payments. The corresponding current and non-current lease obligations, net of finance charges are recognised as current and non-current other 

financial liabilities, respectively. Finance costs are charged to profit or loss over the lease period using the effective interest method. 

leased out property and equipment where all the substantial benefits and risks usually connected with the ownership were transferred from the 

company to lessee is classified as finance lease. The underlying asset is derecognised and the respective short term and long term lease payments, 

net of finance charges are recognised as current and non-current finance assets.

m) operaTinG leases

payments made under operating leases are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the period of the lease.

n) proVisions 

provisions are recognised when the company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events and it is probable that an outflow 

of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. 

provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a discount rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in provisions due to the passage of time is 

recognised as finance cost. 

The company recognised an asset retirement obligation, which represents the costs of restoring its leased sites in accordance with the terms and 

conditions of the lease contracts. The estimated value of the liability is added to the carrying amount of the associated non-current tangible asset and 

is depreciated over the assets’ useful life. The value of the liability is recalculated to its present value as at the end of the reporting period and changes 

in the liability are recognised in the value of the assets or through charges to profit or loss (finance costs). if the obligation is settled for anything other 

than the carrying amount of the liability, a gain or loss on the settlement is recognised in profit or loss.

o) reVenue recoGniTion

revenue comprises primarily revenue from the provision of telecommunication network services to final customers and to other parties, revenue 

from the sale of goods and revenues from system solutions (iT services). revenue is stated net of discounts and Value added Tax. The company 

recognises the revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and 

when specific criteria have been met for each of the revenue categories. 

revenues from voice services constitute the principal part of total revenues, consisting primarily of domestic and foreign (roaming) airtime revenues 

and interconnection revenues from termination of traffic originating from the networks of other operators. interconnection revenues are recognised 

based on valid agreements.

monthly subscription fees, revenues from non-voice services such as sms, data transmissions and mms and revenues from the sale of handsets, 

accessories and revenues from operations of optical networks represent other significant revenue streams.

revenues from post-paid customers are recognised on the basis of airtime used and are recorded in monthly billing cycles.

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The company uses currency forward contracts to hedge its estimated cash flows. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially 

recognised at fair value and subsequently carried at fair value. unrealised gains and losses arising from revaluation of financial assets to the fair value 

as well as realised gains and losses are recognised to the profit or loss. The information on accounting of financial derivatives and hedging operations 

is provided in note 3.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements. Financial liabilities include mainly trade payables, short-term 

bank financing, finance lease obligations, bank overdrafts, loans from parent company dTaG and other payables.

current trade payables and other financial liabilities, except for liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, are initially recognised at fair value and 

subsequently measured at the amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

The overview of financial assets and liabilities according to categories is stated in note 18.

J) properTY and eQuipmenT

property and equipment except for land are recorded at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.  

The acquisition cost comprises the purchase price, transportation costs, customs, installation costs, borrowing costs, estimated costs of dismantling 

and removing the asset and restoring the base station sites to their original condition and other relevant direct costs. 

depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the assets’ estimated useful lives, as follows: 

asset category Useful life (years)

buildings, constructions and leasehold improvements 10 to 50 years or in accordance with the lease period

operating equipment:

network technology equipment (Gsm, umTs) 3 to 10

Transport vehicles, hardware and office equipment 3 to 13

land recognised at acquisition cost is not depreciated.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, as at each end of the reporting period.

repair and maintenance expenditures relating to property and equipment are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

if the carrying amount of an asset is higher than its recoverable amount, the carrying amount is reduced to reflect the recoverable amount. The recoverable 

amount of assets is calculated as the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and value in use, which is the present value of expected future cash flows 

generated by the asset or the cash-generating unit. 

The gain or loss arising from the liquidation, sale or disposal of an asset is determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the 

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

K) inTanGible asseTs

intangible assets comprise especially the following:

i) UMTs licence

The umTs licence represents the right to operate mobile communication networks in the czech republic under the umTs standard. The licence 

is recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation. The licence was put into commercial use in october 2005. The licence is being amortised over 

its useful life using the straight-line method. The useful life of the umTs licence is considered to be the period from when the licence is ready for 

commercial use, through to the licence expiration date in 2024.

ii) GsM licence

The Gsm licence which represents the right to provide communication services in the czech republic and to establish and operate Gsm communication 

equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation. The licence is being amortised over its useful life using the straight-line method. The useful 

life of the licence is considered to be the period from when the licence is ready for commercial use, through to the licence expiration date in 2024.

iii) LTe licence

The lTe licence which represents the right to provide communication services in the czech republic and to establish and operate lTe communication 

equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation. The licence is being amortised over its useful life using the straight-line method. The 

useful life of the licence is considered to be the period from when the licence is ready for commercial use, through to the licence expiration date in 2029.
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T) capiTal

The company’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the company’s ability to continue in its business in order to provide return on 

investment to its shareholders and benefit other stakeholders as well as to meet all relevant legal requirements. The dividend policy of the company is 

aligned with this objective. 

equity, represented by share capital, share premium, legal reserve fund and retained earnings, is considered by the company as a source of financing 

of the company’s activities.

The company creates other capital fund according to long term incentive program for top management based on remuneration in shares.

3 Financial risK manaGemenT 

fInAnCIAL RIsk mAnAgemenT PRInCIPLes
The company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, primarily credit risk, liquidity risk, currency risk, and interest rate risk. The company’s 

overall risk management strategy focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets. The company seeks to minimise potentially adverse effects 

on the company’s financial performance through its operating and financial procedures. based on its risk assessment, the company uses selected 

derivative and non-derivative hedging instruments to manage exposures. The derivatives are used solely for hedging purposes, not for trading or 

speculating. in order to manage credit risk, the hedging transactions are generally entered into with institutions that meet the requirements of the 

company’s hedging strategy for required rating. 

Financial risk management is carried out by the company’s Treasury department under policies and directions set by the board of directors of the 

company, except for credit risk arising from sales activities which is managed by the credit risk department. 

mARkeT RIsks
a) currencY risK

The company operates internationally and is exposed to currency risk, primarily with respect to eur. currency risk arises from future commercial 

transactions, assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. 

The company uses financial instruments, primarily currency forward contracts, in its management of the currency risk associated with its foreign 

currency denominated sales and purchases. 

in line with the hedging strategy, the company hedges 100% of committed future foreign exchange exposures and 50 to 90% of uncommitted 

expected foreign exchange exposures.

sensitivity analysis

The company performed a sensitivity analysis for the following items of the statement of financial position denominated in eur:

  cash and cash equivalents;

  Trade and other receivables;

  other financial assets;

  Trade and other payables;

  short-term bank financing;

  other financial liabilities.

The effects of other currency fluctuations (sdr, usd, chF, Gbp, aud) are not deemed material to the company’s financial statements. 

as at 31 december 2017, had the czK depreciated by 10 % against the eur with all other variables holding constant, profit after-tax for the year would 

have been czK 30 million lower. conversely as at 31 december 2017, had the czK appreciated by 10 % against the eur with all other variables 

holding constant, profit after-tax for the year would have been czK 30 million higher. 

as at 31 december 2016, had the czK depreciated by 10 % against the eur with all other variables holding constant, profit after-tax for the year would 

have been czK 36 million lower. conversely as at 31 december 2016, had the czK appreciated by 10 % against the eur with all other variables 

holding constant, profit after-tax for the year would have been czK 36 million higher. 

revenues from the sale of pre-paid cards are deferred and based on operational data are recognised at the moment when the customer uses the 

pre-paid credit.

The company further defers installation fees charged to customers based on service agreements. installation fees are released to the statement of 

comprehensive income over the expected life of the related service agreement.

sale of services is recognized as at the date the services are rendered and are stated net of discounts and Value added Tax.

revenues from the sale of goods are recognised at the time of the customer’s or independent dealer’s purchase.

The company offers certain multiple-element arrangements where the customer can purchase hardware together with servicing agreement. The 

amount of revenue allocated to each element is based upon the relative fair values of the various elements. The fair values of each element are 

determined based on the current market price of each of the elements when sold separately. The revenue relating to the hardware is recognised when 

risks and rewards of the hardware are transferred to the customer which occurs on delivery. revenue relating to the service element is recognised on 

a straight-line basis over the service period.

system solutions revenues represent revenues from application of information technology and telecommunications equipment to store, retrieve, 

transmit and manipulate data and to provide advanced solutions such as system integration, cloud applications, icT security and desktop services 

management. system solutions/integration contracts are mainly short-term, billed on the basis of time and material consumed. revenue is recognised 

as the services are rendered. 

interest income is recorded on an accrual and deferral basis using the effective interest method.

p) cosT oF Goods, raW maTerials and serVices

cost of goods, raw materials and services includes costs of handsets and accessories sold, costs of leased lines, roaming costs and interconnection fees 

for delivering calls that terminate outside the company’s network. The costs of goods and services are charged to the period in which they are incurred.

Q) commissions To business parTners

The company provides commissions to business partners for customer acquisition or retention, or other services provided by business partner  

(e.g. prepaid credit recharging, up-sell of customer services). The commissions are expensed as incurred.

r) emploYee beneFiTs

regular contributions are made by the company to the state to fund the national pension plan that is operated on the basis of the defined 

contributions. under this plan, the company has no obligations beyond the payment of the contributions defined by the law. The company also 

provides its employees with contributions for a pension contribution plan under which the company pays to a separate entity under so-called joint 

plan of defined contributions. These contributions are recognised in profit or loss as incurred during the employment period. 

The company has entered into several incentive programs, both share-based and non-share based and cash and non-cash settled managed by dTaG. 

The company recognizes the costs of services received from its members of executive management in a share-based and non-share-based payment 

transaction when services are received. if these services are received in a cash-settled share-based payment transaction, the company recognizes 

the expense against the provision, re-measured at each reporting date. in case of equity-settled share-based payment transaction, the company 

recognizes the expense against the equity capital fund, measured at fair value at the grant date.

s) income TaX

income tax expense consists of the current tax charge and the change in deferred income tax, except when the change in deferred income tax relates 

to the items credited or charged directly to equity, in this case the deferred income tax is also recorded in equity.

deferred income tax is determined based on temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and their tax bases, using 

the statutory tax rates that are expected to apply when the relevant deferred income tax asset is realised or the relevant deferred income tax liability is 

settled. however, if the deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that 

at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit nor loss, it is not recognised. 

deferred income tax charged or credited to profit or loss is measured as the change in the net deferred tax asset or liability during the year except when 

the deferred income tax relates to temporary differences from the items credited or charged directly to equity. The principal temporary differences arise 

from accounting and tax depreciation of property and equipment, changes in tax non-deductible adjustments and tax non-deductible provisions and 

revaluation of other assets and liabilities. a deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available, 

against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 
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Gross value of receivables which are neither past due nor impaired are presented in risk categories as follows:

31. 12. 2017 Risk category standard & Poor’s
Long-term rating

not 
individually 

assessed

Total

CZK million a B C d e BBB+ a- to a+ aa-

receivables from dTaG 
group companies

- - - - - 455 - - - 455

other receivables 26 - - - - 128 - - - 154

Trade and other 
receivables (gross) total

26 - - - - 583 - - - 609

31. 12. 2016 Risk category standard & Poor’s
Long-term rating

not 
individually 

assessed

Total

CZK million a B C d e BBB+ a- to a+ aa-

receivables from dTaG 
group companies

- - - - - 562 - - - 562

other receivables 22 - - - - - - - - 22

Trade and other 
receivables (gross) total

22 - - - - 562 - - - 584

Gross value of receivables which are either past due or impaired are presented in risk categories as follows: 

31. 12. 2017 Risk category standard & Poor’s
Long-term rating

not 
individually 

assessed

Total

CZK million a B C d e BBB+ a- to a+ aa-

receivables from electronic 
communication services 

3,204 198 106 213 2,788 - - - - 6,509

receivables from dTaG 
group companies

- - - - - 123 - - - 123

other trade receivables - - - - - - - - 1,122 1,122

Trade and other 
receivables (gross) total

3,204 198 106 213 2,788 123 - - 1,122 7,754

31. 12. 2016 Risk category standard & Poor’s
Long-term rating

not 
individually 

assessed

Total

CZK million a B C d e BBB+ a- to a+ aa-

receivables from electronic 
communication services 

3,084 254 93 226 2,807 - - - - 6,565

other trade receivables - - - - - - - - 946 946

Trade and other 
receivables (gross) total

3,084 254 93 226 2,807 - - - 946 7,410

The gross carrying amount of trade and other receivables, reflecting the maximum exposure to credit risk, as at 31 december 2017 was czK 8,363 million 

(31 december 2016: czK 7,994 million).

Trade receivables from customers of electronic communication services with increased credit risk are to a certain extent secured by collateral in the 

form of cash deposits that are refundable after the contract termination or credited against unsettled receivables.

The receivables from the dTaG group do not give rise to a significant credit risk. These receivables are settled through the group inter-company 

clearing centre and therefore classified to category bbb+.

other trade receivables from third parties as at 31 december 2017 are represented by receivables from dealers czK 15 million (31 december 2016: 

czK 30 million) where balances in this category exceeding a certain level are insured or secured by another instrument, such as a blank bill of 

exchange, roaming and interconnection receivables czK 141 million (as at 31 december 2016: czK 94 million) which do not give rise to significant 

credit risk and the company does not monitor them individually and by receivables from business customers for other products of the company, such 

as system integration, iT outsourcing, etc., of czK 966 million (as at 31 december 2016: czK 822 million). credit check of business customers for 

other products of the company is performed at the beginning of business cases.

receivables from business customers for other products of the company do not give rise to significant credit risk due to characteristics of transactions 

and continuously credit monitoring is not necessary.

b) inTeresT raTe risK

The company invests in financial assets with short-term maturity and fixed interest rate. such instruments are not exposed to the risk of interest rate 

fluctuation. Therefore the company does not actively manage the interest rate risk. once the current instruments matured, should the company 

reinvest the free cash in equivalent financial instruments, it would be exposed to following potential effects:

interest rate change by 100 basic points* Profit after-tax impact in CZK million

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

decrease (38) (28)

increase 38 28

*assuming all other variables holding constant.

Credit risk

The counterparties for transactions of the company’s financial instruments are limited to institutions with high credit quality as defined in the policies 

and directions set in investment strategy approved by the General meeting of the company. The company carries out only such financial transactions 

whose originator’s or guarantor’s credit rating from an independent global rating agency lies safely within investment grade (i.e. at least bbb+/baa1) 

and, at the same time, the originator’s or guarantor’s credit quality indicators can be continuously monitored through the financial market.

The company manages the credit risk associated with its trading operations by using various instruments such as insurance, bank guarantees, credit 

limits, differentiated debt collecting process, etc. 

in case of cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank financing concentrations of credit risk are limited as the company places its cash with 

a number of substantial credit institutions. concentrations of credit risks relating to Trade and other receivables and other financial assets are limited 

due to credit risk management tools, debt collection process and following policies and directions set in investment strategy approved by the General 

meeting of the company.

Trade and other receivables

The company considers receivables from customers of its electronic communication services to give rise to the highest credit risk. These receivables 

represent approximately 80% of all trade receivables. 

These receivables are continually monitored and associated bad debt provisions are created taking into account the payment discipline of the 

customers. The monitoring of credit risk arising from receivables from end-users is based on monitoring of payment discipline of the customers and 

its development in time, allowing the immediate response to eventually slight deterioration in the payment discipline of the customers by adjusting 

activation and debt collecting process.

The credit quality of the receivables from customers of electronic communication services can be analysed by dividing these receivables into the five 

risk categories:

Risk category Probability of default in payment % base**

in %* 2017 2016

(a) not yet due 0–1.99% 86.1% 84.3%

(b) up to one month overdue 2.00–21.99% 5.3% 6.9%

(c) up to three months overdue 22.00–37.99% 2.9% 2.6%

(d) up to one year overdue 38.00–79.99% 5.7% 6.2%

(e) over one year overdue – in default 80.00–100% - - 

*   probability of default in payment is determined by long-term payment discipline, which is continuously monitored by T-mobile czech republic a.s. and is considered stable in time.
** base is defined as nominal value of receivables, which are maximally one year overdue at balance sheet date.

The company has implemented credit risk management tools and a debt collection process for the defined risk categories. The credit risk 

management tools include acceptance procedures for new post-paid customers, sending collection letters to customers with overdue payments, 

enforcement by law and the sale of receivables in auctions. category (e)-in default consists of deactivated customers only.
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The following table presents the company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31 december 2017. The company does not have 

any financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at level 1 and 3. 

CZK million Level 2

31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

assets

currency forward contract with positive fair value - 8

Total assets - 8

Payables

currency forward contract with negative fair value 21 1

Total payables 21 1

The fair values of financial instruments at level 2 are based on monetary yield curves determined at the balance sheet date which are based on the 

market prices valid as at the end of the reporting period.

The fair values of finance lease liabilities amounted to czK 1,659 million as at 31 december 2017 (31 december 2016: czK 1,512 million). The carrying 

amount of other categories of financial assets and liabilities both at 31 december 2017 and 31 december 2016 approximate their fair values. 

The classification of financial assets and liabilities into categories in accordance with ias 39 is stated in note 18. 

Accounting for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the statement of financial position at fair value. in assessing the fair value of derivatives, 

the company uses a variety of methods including techniques such as the present value of estimated future cash flows under assumptions based on 

market conditions existing as at statement of financial position date and other valuation techniques.

certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives when the risks and characteristics are not closely 

related to those of the host contract and the host contract is not carried at fair value, with changes in fair value being recorded in the profit or loss.

The company uses currency forward contracts to hedge estimated cash flows. all transactions below the equivalent of eur 15 million (czK 383 million), 

are recognised as held for trading derivatives with changes in fair value being reflected in profit or loss. in 2017 and 2016, the company did not apply 

hedge accounting.

4 cash and cash eQuiValenTs

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

cash at banks and in hand 689 434

cash equivalents 4,565 3,500

Total 5,254 3,934

cash equivalents as at 31 december 2017 and 31 december 2016 consist mainly of bank deposits, depository bills of exchange and repo transactions. 

5 Trade and oTher receiVables 

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

Trade receivables 5,807 5,575

unbilled receivables 2,402 2,397

less: provision for impairment (2,639) (2,619)

Trade receivables (net) 5,570 5,353

currency forward contracts with positive fair value - 8

other receivables 26 22

intercompany loan 128 -

short-term bank financing - 93

Total 5,724 5,476

Trade receivables comprise mainly receivables from the communication network users, receivables from other communication services providers, 

receivables from partners for electronic recharging of pre-paid cards and receivables from independent dealers. 

Cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets

The company only makes short-term cash deposits (cash, depository bills of exchange, term deposits, repo transactions). The company deposits 

free cash into financial instruments such as mortgage-backed securities or financial investments in the form of loans to dTaG. The counterparties 

for financial transactions of the company’s cash are limited to institutions with high credit quality as defined in the policies and directions set in 

investment strategy approved by the General meeting of the company.

The company carries out only such financial transactions whose originator’s or guarantor’s credit rating from an independent global rating agency lies 

safely within investment grade (i.e. at least bbb+/baa1) 

and, at the same time, the originator’s or guarantor’s credit quality indicators can be continuously monitored through the financial market. 

The company has a concentration of credit risk mainly towards banks regulated by czech national bank, see below.

31.12.2017 standard & Poor’s Long-term rating Total

CZK million BBB- to BBB+ a- to a+ aa- not assigned

cash in hand - - - 18 18

bank accounts 16 652 - 3 671

cash equivalents - 4,565 - - 4,565

Total cash and cash equivalents  
and other financial assets exposure

16 5,217 - 21 5,254

31.12.2016 standard & Poor’s Long-term rating Total

CZK million BBB- to BBB+ a- to a+ aa- not assigned

cash in hand - - - 14 14

bank accounts 45 343 - 32 420

cash equivalents - 3,500 - - 3,500

short term bank financing and other financial assets - - - 101 101

Total cash and cash equivalents  
and other financial assets exposure

45 3,843 - 147 4,035

Liquidity risk

prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and held for sale securities, the availability of funding through an adequate 

amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. The aim of the Treasury department is to maintain flexibility in 

funding by maintaining availability under these committed facilities.

The company maintains a liquidity reserve in the form of a bank overdraft and flexible credit line to support its ability to meet its liabilities and to 

provide financial flexibility. historically, the company generated sufficient cash to ensure its solvency and financial flexibility. The company does not 

consider itself significantly exposed to liquidity risk.

The company uses financial instruments and practices for optimising the management of the working capital and liquidity tied up in supply chain 

process, i.e. reverse factoring of the company‘s trade payables. 

The residual maturities of financial liabilities are analysed in note 11.

Fair value estimation of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value are classified into three levels according to the method of fair value determination:

  level 1-quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

  level 2-inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or 

indirectly (that is, derived from prices); and

  level 3-inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.
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movements of the provision for impairment of receivables can be analysed as follows:

CZK million 2017 2016

opening balance as at 1.1. 2,619 2,587

net increase for the year 204 177

utilisation of provision for write-off (184) (145)

Closing balance as at 31.12. 2,639 2,619

The following table analyses income and expenses related to receivable write-offs: 

CZK million 2017 2016

change in provision for doubtful receivables 20 111

income from receivables previously written off (13) (17)

receivables written-off 184 145

Total net loss from impairment of receivables 191 239

interest income (22) (21)

income from contractual penalty fees (202) (207)

Total net (profit)/loss from trade receivables (33) 11

6 inVenTories

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

handsets and accessories 565 441

other inventories 166 232

Total 731 673

7 inTanGible asseTs

CZK million Customer 
relationships

software GsM/UMTs/ LTe
licences

other intangible 
fixed assets

assets in the course 
of construction  

and advances paid

Total

Cost

1.1.2016 2,144 9,172 7,556 651 822 20,345

additions - - - - 1,850 1,850

disposals - (96) - (3) - (99)

Transfers* - 1,021 - 86 (1,107) -

31.12.2016 2,144 10,097 7,556 734 1,565 22,096

additions - - - 58 1,122 1,180

disposals - (159) - - - (159)

Transfers* - 956 - - (956) -

31.12.2017 2,144 10,894 7,556 792 1,731 23,117

accumulated 
amortisation/impairment

1.1.2016 443 7,456 3,087 492 - 11,478

amortisation 371 1,017 421 83 - 1,892

disposals - (98) - (3) - (101)

31.12.2016 814 8,375 3,508 572 - 13,269

amortisation 275 1,034 421 22 - 1,752

disposals - (159) - - - (159)

31.12.2017 1,089 9,250 3,929 594 - 14,862

net book value

1.1.2016 1,701 1,716 4,469 159 822 8,867

31.12.2016 1,330 1,722 4,048 162 1,565 8,827

31.12.2017 1,055 1,644 3,627 198 1,731 8,255

* Transfers include transfers of intangible fixed assets in the course of construction and advances to assets in use. 

The book value and ageing analysis of receivables which are impaired is as follows: 

31. 12. 2017 not yet due Past due Total

CZK million
up to 

90 days
91–180 

days
181–360 

days
1–2 

years
2 years 

and more

Trade receivables

–  from customers of electronic  
communication services*

3,204 304 83 131 212 2,575 6,509

– other trade receivables from third parties 983 - 18 5 4 7 1,017

Provisions:

–  for trade receivables from customers  
of electronic communication services*

(99) (33) (40) (87) (162) (2,174) (2,595)

–  for other trade receivables from third parties (24) - (4) (5) (4) (7) (44)

Trade and other receivables (net) 4,064 271 57 44 50 401 4,887

* receivables and provisions from customers include balances related to active and terminated customers

31. 12. 2016 not yet due Past due Total

CZK million
up to 

90 days
91–180 

days
181–360 

days
1–2 

years
2 years 

and more

Trade receivables

–  from customers of electronic  
communication services*

3,084 347 84 142 232 2,575 6,464

– other trade receivables from third parties 896 - 2 4 4 12 918

Provisions:

–  trade receivables from customers  
of electronic communication services*

(116) (34) (38) (81) (172) (2,133) (2,574)

–  for other trade receivables from third parties (23) - (2) (4) (4) (12) (45)

Trade and other receivables (net) 3,841 313 46 61 60 442 4,763

* receivables and provisions from customers include balances related to active and terminated customers

The company does not have significant trade and other receivables which are individually impaired.

The book value and ageing analysis of receivables which are not impaired is as follows: 

31. 12. 2017 not yet due Past due Total

CZK million
up to 

90 days
91–180 

days
181–360 

days

Trade receivables:

– from dTaG group 455 112 9 2 578

– other trade receivables from third parties 105 - - 105

 other receivables:

– from dTaG group 128 - - - 128

– other receivables from third parties 26 - - - 26

Trade and other receivables (net) 609 217 9 2 837

31. 12. 2016 not yet due Past due Total

CZK million
up to 

90 days
91–180 

days
181–360 

days

Trade receivables:

– from dTaG group 562 - - - 562

– other trade receivables from third parties 28 - - 28

 other receivables:

– other receivables from third parties 22 - - - 22

Trade and other receivables (net) 584 28 - - 612

due dates of financial assets did not change during 2017 or 2016.
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8 GoodWill

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

cost

T-systems czech republic, a.s. 131 131

GTs czech s.r.o. 1,144 1,144

Total 1,275 1,275

Goodwill was tested for impairment as of 31 december 2017. The company is considered as one cash-generating unit (“cGu”). The company 

establishes the recoverable amount by determining the cGu’s fair value less cost to sell by using valuation techniques. The fair value was determined 

by calculating discounted projected cash flows over the next ten years with a terminal value. cash flows beyond the ten-year period were extrapolated 

using the estimated long-term growth rate stated in the table below.

The calculation of expected future cash flows is based on an estimate of service revenue, operating expenditure (direct and indirect costs) and capital 

expenditure for the period 2018 – 2027. 

service revenue is projected separately for each main area (mobile, fixed, iT). mobile revenues are projected based on the estimated number of 

subscribers in each year and the expected average revenue per user (“arpu”) in each year. revenues from the fixed and iT businesses are estimated 

based on expected sales and sales prices. 

The estimated number of customers/subscribers is based on past performance and management’s expectations of market development. arpu or 

sales prices are based on current industry trends and take into account the competition and other market factors. 

operating expenditure is based on the current structure of the business, adjusted for expected future developments, restructurings and cost saving 

measures. capital expenditure is based on the historical experience of management and the planned development of the fixed and mobile network. 

in general, the projections of the above mentioned components of expected future cash flows take into account the expected economic development, 

the competition and other market factors, regulation, as well as the company’s strategy.

The weighted average cost of capital (“Wacc”) used in the calculation to discount the cash flow projections was determined based on capm (capital 

asset pricing model) using the average betas of the peer group, a risk free rate using the svensson methodology for Germany and adjusted for country 

specific risks, a debt ratio in line with the usual indebtedness of listed peer telecommunications companies and an additional debt risk premium 

considering average peer company specific debt risks. The estimated long-term growth rate (“lTGr”) takes into account the expected economic 

growth of the country. 

The fair value measurement is categorised within level 3 of fair value hierarchy as per iFrs 13.

The analysis performed as at 31 december 2017 confirmed that the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit exceeds its carrying amount. 

The table below shows the Wacc and lTGr used in the fair value calculation for the goodwill impairment tests conducted as of 31 december 2017 

and as of 31 december 2016. The table also includes an analysis that shows how much impairment would have been recognized if we changed the 

sensitive parameters in the calculations.

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

WaCC

used in the calculation 6.37% 5.33%

if changed to 10.37% 9.33%

impairment would be (czK million) - -

LTGR

used in the calculation 2% 2%

if changed to (2%) (2%)

impairment would be (czK million) - -

nominal expected future cash flows

if changed by (30%) (30%)

impairment would be (czK million) - -

if the nominal expected future cash flows, discount rates, or long term growth rate used for impairment testing had been changed as described in the 

table above for the projection period, this would not have resulted in any impairment.

The additions of intangible fixed assets in 2017 comprise mainly new software, particularly one.erp system (new enterprise information system) and 

nG crm as described below.

sIgnIfICAnT IndIvIduAL InTAngIbLe AsseTs
licences

The carrying values and remaining amortization periods of the licenses are listed in the table below. For further information on these assets, please 

see note 1.

CZK million 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Carrying amount Remaining 
amortization period 

(years)

Carrying amount Remaining 
amortization period 

(years)

Gsm licence 285 7 326 8

umTs licence 1,346 7 1,546 8

lTe licence 1,996 12 2,176 13

Total GsM/UMTs/LTe licences 3,627  4,048  

during 2016 the company purchased a right to use frequency band for the provision of public communications network in 2600 mhz for the period of 

13 years for total consideration in the amount of czK 730 million. as at 31 december 2017 the right to use frequency band is presented as asset in the 

course of construction. The right to use frequency band is not ready to use yet as the company is waiting for individual right authorization. Without this 

authorization the broadcasting cannot be provided to customers.

soFTWare

The majority of software balance is made by nG crm, a new platform for client relationship management (crm) system. The carrying value of nG crm 

as of 31 december 2017 is czK 1,051 million plus czK 27 million in section of assets under construction (31 december 2016: czK 1,071 million plus 

czK 86 million under construction) and the remaining amortization period as of 31 december 2017 is 5 years (31 december 2016: 6 years). The platform 

is being implemented in stages and the last module is still under construction. The migrations to new crm system affected a number of existing 

software and systems which needed to be modified. The amount of these capital expenditures is not included in the carrying amount of nG crm but 

in the carrying amount of existing software and systems.

cusTomer relaTionships

The balance consists mainly of customer relationships acquired in a business combination with GTs czech s.r.o. 

The net book value of local customer relationship as of 31 december 2017 is czK 549 million (as of 31 december 2016: czK 710 million) and the 

remaining amortization period as of 31 december 2017 is 4 years (31 december 2016: 5 years). The net book value of multinational customer 

relationship as of 31 december 2017 is czK 505 million (as of 31 december 2016: 620 million) and the remaining amortization period as of  

31 december 2017 is 5 years (31 december 2016: 6 years). based on review of useful life performed as at 31 december 2016, amortisation period of 

multinational customer relationship was shortened from 17 to 8 years.

The table below shows the churn rate used in useful life calculation as of 31 december 2017 and as of 31 december 2016. The table also includes an 

analysis that shows how net book value would be affected if the sensitive parameter in the calculation was changed.

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Churn rate – Local customer relationship

used in the calculation of useful life 14.29% 14.29%

if increased by 20%, i.e. to 17.14% 17.14%

change in the net book value (czK million) (96) (69)

Churn rate – Multinational customer relationship

used in the calculation of useful life 12.03% 12.03%

if increased by 20%, i.e. to 14.43% 14.43%

change in the net book value (czK million) (59) (42)
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JoInT ARRAngemenTs
in 2013 the company entered into joint arrangement with company česká telekomunikační infrastruktura a.s. concerning a 2G and 3G network 

sharing, i.e. sharing of active and passive mobile network elements on a territorial basis of czech republic. as at 31 december 2017, 2,380 sites were 

shared on the company side and 2,408 sites on česká telekomunikační infrastruktura a.s. side (as at 31 december 2016: 1,523 sites on the company 

side and 1,555 sites on česká telekomunikační infrastruktura a.s. side). 

in 2014 the company entered into a similar joint arrangement with česká telekomunikační infrastruktura a.s.. concerning sharing of lTe technologies for 

mobile networks. The contractual arrangement involves sharing of active mobile network elements on the same territorial basis of czech republic as for 

2G and 3G technologies sharing. as at 31 december 2017, 2,372 sites on the company side and 2,367 sites on česká telekomunikační infrastruktura 

a.s. side were shared (as at 31 december 2016: 1,917 sites on the company side and 1,913 sites on česká telekomunikační infrastruktura a.s. side).

both contracts are based on balanced principles and after having considered the contractual rights and obligations, they were assessed as joint 

arrangements according to iFrs 11. For this classification was determining, that the major of strategic decisions were specified jointly next to signing 

of a contract or will be done during validity of the contract. The arrangement is a joint operation, because it does not involve a separate legal entity 

comprising the activities performed under the arrangement.

network sharing in the context of these contracts means sharing of transmitting sites including related tangible assets used for providing of 2G and 

3G as well as lTe services. operators keep full control over the content of provided services to its customers, acquiring and managing of customers, 

price policy, marketing and customer support. both parties remain individually responsible for keeping of legal contractual obligations resulting from 

telecommunication licences and related laws and regulations.

due to the different classification of active and passive mobile network elements, the company adopted two different approaches to the assets under 

both network sharing agreements. active mobile network elements were classified as individually held assets and recognized at cost, consistently with 

other solely owned assets by the company. passive mobile network elements were classified as jointly held assets, the company recognizes 50% share 

of such assets subject to the network sharing agreements and 50% share on joint expenses and revenues resulting from the joint arrangement. The total 

profit or loss impact is immaterial.

The company considered risks resulting from joint arrangements and evaluated them as immaterial.

10  inVesTmenT in subsidiarY

on 1 January 2015 the company acquired 100% share in ce colo czech s.r.o. for czK 1,422 million (all paid in cash) and became its parent company. 

on 25 march 2015 the board of directors approved the increase of share capital in ce colo czech s.r.o. of czK 711 million.

ce colo czech s.r.o. primary business activity is lease of space in data centres.

11  Trade and oTher paYables

CZK million 31.12.2017 31.12.2016 

Trade payables 1,584 1,486

operational expenditure accruals 2,425 1,916

capital expenditure accruals 343 242

Total trade payables 4,352 3,644

currency forward contracts with negative fair value 21 1

Total financial liabilities 4,373 3,645

liabilities to employees 610 554

other taxes and social security liabilities 256 275

other payables 386 88

Total non-financial liabilities 1,252 917

Total 5,625 4,562

other payables comprise mainly unused prepaid airtime from 2017 when the company changed the accounting treatment of unused prepaid airtime 

from deferred revenue to prepayments (see note 14).

9 properTY and eQuipmenT

CZK million Buildings and land equipment and other
fixed assets

assets in the course 
of construction, 

advances and 
network spare parts

Total

acquisition cost

1.1.2016 10,068 26,231 876 37,175

additions 817 894 2,286 3,997

disposals (2,516) (2,579) (66) (5,161)

Transfers* 218 2,022 (2,240) -

31.12.2016 8,587 26,568 856 36,011

additions 351 708 1,971 3,030

disposals (1,372) (3,524) (43) (4,939)

Transfers* 908 926 (1,834) -

31.12.2017 8,474 24,678 950 34,102

accumulated depreciation/impairment

1.1.2016 5,393 16,267 2 21,662

depreciation 574 2,261 - 2,835

disposals (1,877) (2,431) - (4,308)

31.12.2016 4,090 16,097 2 20,189

depreciation 862 1,997 - 2,859

disposals (1,135) (3,465) (1) (4,601)

31.12.2017 3,817 14,629 1 18,447

net book value

1.1.2016 4,675 9,964 874 15,513

31.12.2016 4,497 10,471 854 15,822

31.12.2017 4, 657 10,049 949 15,655

* Transfers include transfers of tangible fixed assets in the course of construction and advances to assets in use.

The additions of tangible fixed assets in 2017 comprise mainly the network technology, optical fibres and the new data centre building on finance lease. 

fInAnCe LeAses
The company has entered into the finance lease contracts, particularly optical fibre lease agreements. optical fibres are taken by the company when 

prepared to use. The assets under financial lease are recognized as a part of own equipment and are depreciated over their estimated useful life that is 

mainly over the period of 20 years. Their net book value as at 31 december 2017 was czK 2,588 million (as at 31 december 2016: czK 2,382 million). 

minimum lease payments related to the concluded finance leases, the future finance charge and the present value of finance lease liabilities as at  

31 december 2017 and 31 december 2016 are as follows:

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

up to 1 month 18 21

1 to 3 months 53 62

3 to 12 months 143 167

up to 1 year 214 250

1 to 5 years 526 458

over 5 years 1,297 1,099

Total minimum lease payments 2,037 1,807

up to 1 year (56) (49)

1 to 5 years (249) (221)

over 5 years (310) (279)

Future interest expense on finance leases (615) (549)

up to 1 year 159 201

1 to 5 years 277 237

over 5 years 986 820

net present value of finance lease liabilities* 1,422 1,258

* Finance lease liabilities are included in other financial liabilities (refer to note 12). 
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The reconciliation of cash used in financing activities is as follows:

CZK million Financial lease 
liabilities

other interest 
bearing liabilites

Loans and 
bank overdraft

Total

1.1.2016 1,179 - - 1,179

additions 420 - 245 665

cash used in financing activities (341) - (245) (586)

31.12.2016 1,258 - - 1,258

additions 380 94 159 633

cash used in financing activities (216) (34) (159) (409)

31.12.2017 1,422 60 - 1,482

The total limit of bank overdrafts and flexible credit lines available to the company as at 31 december 2017 was eur 1 million (czK 26 million) and  

czK 1,175 million (as at and 31 december 2016: eur 1 million or czK 27 million, and czK 1,475 million). as at 31 december 2017 and 31 december 2016, 

the company did not draw any overdrafts.

13  proVisions

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

other provisions 397 39

Total current provisions 397 39

asset retirement obligation 772 771

other provisions 115 123

Total non-current provisions 887 894

Total 1,284 933

CZK million asset retirement 
obligation

other 
provisions

Total

1.1.2016 750 211 961

charge for the year (additions) 53 51 104

unused amounts reversed (38) (82) (120)

used during the year - (22) (22)

unwinding of interest 6 4 10

31.12.2016 771 162 933

charge for the year (additions) 64 461 525

used amounts reversed (33) (97) (130)

unused during the year (30) (17) (47)

unwinding of interest - 3 3

31.12.2017 772 512 1,284

The provision for asset retirement obligation represents the costs of restoring leased sites in accordance with terms and conditions of the lease 

contracts. The provision is uncertain in both the amount and timing of future financial outflows. realisation of provision is expected in 2029 (date of 

lTe licence expiration).

other provisions comprise mainly provisions for litigations, onerous rent contracts and executive management incentive plans obligations.

The remaining maturities of financial liabilities (contractual undiscounted cash flows) are as follows (contractual maturities of financial lease liabilities 

are stated in note 9): 

CZK million on demand Up to 30 days 31–60 days 61–90 days over 90 days Total

31. 12. 2017

Trade payables 217 990 347 30 - 1,584

operational expenditure accruals 679 1,502 150 94 - 2,425

capital expenditure accruals 10 281 42 10 - 343

Total trade payables 906 2,773 539 134 - 4,352

currency forward contracts with negative fair value - 246 204 217 544 1,211

Total forward contracts* - 246 204 217 544 1,211

*  contracted nominal value. under the contracts the company will pay the nominal amounts in czK and receive amounts in foreign currencies stated based on the agreed forward exchange rates.

CZK million on demand Up to 30 days 31–60 days 61–90 days over 90 days Total

31. 12. 2016

Trade payables 220 793 358 102 13 1,486

operational expenditure accruals 374 1,407 80 55 - 1,916

capital expenditure accruals 44 179 6 13 - 242

Total trade payables 638 2,379 444 170 13 3,644

currency forward contracts with negative fair value - 122 122 - 413 657

currency forward contracts with positive fair value - 17 17 157 439 630

Total forward contracts* - 139 139 157 852 1,287

* contracted nominal value. under the contracts the company will pay the nominal amounts in czK and receive amounts in foreign currencies stated based on the agreed forward exchange rates.

12  oTher Financial liabiliTies

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

current finance lease liabilities 159 201

other interest bearing liabilities** 60 -

Total current other financial liabilities 219 201

non-current finance lease liabilities 1,263 1,057

long-term advances from post-paid customers* 6 6

Total non-current other financial liabilities 1,269 1,063

Total 1,488 1,264

*   advances from post-paid customers that are refundable at the termination of the contract represent guarantee for trade receivables. 
** liabilities from capitalized media content rights

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

up to 1 month 18 17

1 – 3 months 37 34

3 – 12 months 164 150

up to 1 year 219 201

1 to 5 years 283 242

over 5 years 986 821

Total other financial liabilities 1,488 1,264
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The movement in deferred income tax during the year is as follows:

deferred income tax liabilities 
CZK million

Tax provision 
for receivables

accelerated tax Celkem

1.1.2016 - (767) (767)

profit or (loss) for the current period (13) (193) (206)

31.12.2016 (13) (960) (973)

profit or (loss) for the current period - (161) (161)

31.12.2017 (13) (1,121) (1,134)

deferred income tax assets 
 
CZK million

Tax provision 
for receivables

Provisions accelerated 
accounting 

depreciation

other Total

1.1.2016 7 257 245 41 550

profit or (loss) for the current period (7) (7) 14 (19) (19)

31.12.2016 - 250 259 22 531

profit or (loss) for the current period - 2 43 (5) 40

31.12.2017 - 252 302 17 571

16  deriVaTiVe Financial insTrumenTs 

foRWARd ConTRACTs
as at the end of 2017, the company had open currency forward contracts with a total nominal value of czK 1,211 million (as at 31 december 2016:  

czK 1,287 million). These transactions focus on managing currency risks associated with the settlement of the company’s future liabilities resulting from 

the customer-supplier relations and denominated in eur and usd. all currency forward contracts as at 31 december 2017 were initiated during 2017 

with maturity by the end of 2018. during 2017, currency forward contracts in the total nominal value of czK 2,555 million were settled (in 2016:  

czK 2,657 million). 

open currency forward contracts (CZK million) 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

open currency forward contracts hedging other foreign currency liabilities:

positive fair value (note 5) - 8

negative fair value (note 11) (21) (1)

Total (21) 7

14  deFerred reVenue

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

deferred revenue related to unused prepaid airtime of prepaid and credit tariff subscribers 108 502

T–mobile bonus (iFric 13) 66 59

other 64 88

Total current 238 649

Total non-current 3 3

The unused prepaid airtime accounting treatment has changed in 2017 due to change in value added tax law. in prior years the unused prepaid 

airtime has been disclosed as deferred revenue. From 2017 the newly purchased prepaid airtime has been disclosed as prepayments under other 

payables (see note 11).

15  deFerred TaX liabiliTY

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

accelerated tax depreciation (4,318) (3,687)

Tax depreciation of receivables (67) (70)

liabilities to employees 414 385

provisions 915 929

other differences 92 117

Basis for deferred income tax calculation (2,964) (2,326)

net deferred income tax liability (563) (442)

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

deferred income tax liabilities:

- deferred income tax liability to be recovered after more than 12 months (1,121) (960)

- deferred income tax liability to be recovered after less than 12 months (13) (13)

Total deferred income tax liabilities (1,134) (973)

deferred income tax assets:   

- deferred income tax asset to be recovered after more than 12 months 429 378

- deferred income tax asset to be recovered within 12 months 142 153

Total deferred income tax assets 571 531

net deferred income tax liability (563) (442)

The net deferred income tax liability as at 31 december 2017 and 31 december 2016 was calculated using the corporate income tax rates, shown in 

the table below, depending on the period when the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

Period Corporate income tax rate

2017 2016

2017 and onwards 19% 19%
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offseTTIng of fInAnCIAL InsTRumenTs 
Financial assets and liabilities are set off and the net amount is presented in the statement of financial position, when there is a legally enforceable 

right of offsetting recognized amounts and an intention to settle the respective asset and liability in net amount exists.

The following table presents trade receivables and trade payables which were subject to offsetting as at 31 december 2017:

31.12.2017

CZK million

Gross amounts 
offsetting 

in the statement 
of financial position

Gross amounts 
‘set off 

in the statement 
of financial position

net amount 
after offsetting 

in the statement 
of financial position

amounts subject 
to master netting 

and similar 
arrangements 

not set off 
in the statement 

of financial position

net amount 
of exposure

Trade and other receivables 5,596 - 5,596 36 5,560

Trade payables (4,352) - (4,352) (36) (4,316)

The following table presents trade receivables and trade payables which were subject to offsetting as at 31 december 2016:

31.12.2016

CZK million

Gross amounts 
offsetting 

in the statement 
of financial position

Gross amounts 
‘set off 

in the statement 
of financial position

net amount 
after offsetting 

in the statement 
of financial position

amounts subject 
to master netting 

and similar 
arrangements 

not set off 
in the statement 

of financial position

net amount 
of exposure

Trade and other receivables 5,383 - 5,383 21 5,362

Trade payables (3,644) - (3,644) (21) (3,623)

19  reVenues

For management purposes, revenues can be split into the following categories, distinguishable by nature of product or business and by type of 

products or services.

sales based on activities 
CZK million

2017 2016

sales of goods 2,159 2,155

sales of mobile telecommunication services 18,298 17,849

sales of fix telecommunication services 4,897 4,949

sales of iT services 1,445 1,274

Total revenue 26,799 26,227

20  oTher operaTinG income

CZK million 2017 2016

Gain from disposals of fixed assets 139 230

release of provisions 50 25

income from recharged services within dTaG group 819 708

rent 67 58

Fines and penalties 3 4

income from promotion 113 93

other operating income 41 70

dividend income 250 -

Total 1,482 1,188

17  eQuiTY

The company’s shares have nominal value of czK 1,000 each and are book-entered, registered and not publicly traded. approved and subscribed 

share capital is fully paid off. as at 31 december 2017 and 31 december 2016, the registered capital was represented by 520 thousand shares. all 

shares have equal voting rights.

The shareholders’ rights include in particular:

  right to a profit share;

  right to a residual interest on liquidation;

  Voting right;

  right to request and receive explanations at General meetings on matters which concern the company or parties controlled by the company or 

which are relevant to the exercise of shareholders’ rights;

  right to make proposals and counter-proposals on matters on the agenda of a General meeting;

  rights of qualified shareholders, in particular the right to ask the board of directors to convene a General meeting and the supervisory board to 

review the exercise of the powers of the board of directors;

  right to file a shareholders’ action against a member of the board of directors or the supervisory board, the right to seek payment of the issue 

price by a shareholder who is in delay with payment thereof;

  right to request a compulsory devolution of participatory securities.

The capital Funds comprises statutory reserve fund that the company is required to retain according to its statutes. use of the statutory reserve fund 

is limited by statutes of the company. The statutory reserve fund may not be distributed to the shareholders.

in 2017, the company paid dividends amounted to czK 4,720 million (in 2016: dividends of czK 4,706 million) (refer to note 27). The dividend per 

share paid out in 2017 amounted to czK 9,078 (in 2016: czK 9,051).

18  addiTional inFormaTion abouT Financial insTrumenTs

Financial assets and liabilities by category* 
CZK million

Category per ias 39 31. 12. 2017  
Carrying amount

31. 12. 2016  
Carrying amount

assets

Cash and cash equivalents, of which: 5,254 3,934

cash loans and receivables 689 434

Term deposits loans and receivables 4,565 3,500

Trade and other receivables**, of which: 5,724 5,383

Trade and other receivables loans and receivables 5,596 5,375

currency forward contracts with positive fair value at fair value through profit or loss (for trading) - 8

intercompany loan loans and receivables 128 -

short-term bank financing loans and receivables - 93

Liabilities

Current trade and other payables**, of which: 4,373 3,645

Trade payables Financial liabilities at amortised cost 4,352 3,644

currency forward contracts with negative fair value at fair value through profit or loss (for trading) 21 1

Current other financial liabilities, of which: 219 201

liabilities from finance lease Financial liabilities at amortised cost 159 201

other interest-bearing financial liabilities Financial liabilities at amortised cost 60 -

non-current other financial liabilities, of which: 1,269 1,063

deposits received Financial liabilities at amortised cost 6 6

Finance lease liabilities Financial liabilities at amortised cost 1,263 1,057

*   Financial assets and liabilities are categorized according to risk rate and in the level of detail required by the company for management purposes.
** excluding non-financial assets/liabilities (refer to notes 5 and 11)

Financial assets except for trade and other receivables stated in note 5 are neither past due nor impaired. 
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25  Finance income and cosTs

CZK million 2017 2016

interest income 2 1

of which:

– from loans and receivables 2 1

Foreign exchange gains 82 30

of which:

– from financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 2 7

other finance income 44 55

Total finance income 128 86

interest expenses (69) (68)

of which:

– from financial liabilities at amortised costs (69) (68)

Foreign exchange losses (143) (31)

of which:

– from financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (71) (3)

other finance costs (3) (11)

Total finance costs (215) (110)

net finance expense (87) (24)

 

26  income TaX

The income tax expense consists of the following: 

CZK million 2017 2016

current income tax (974) (1,033)

deferred income tax (refer to note 15) (121) (226)

income tax expense (1,095) (1,259)

The charge for the year was calculated as follows:

CZK million 2017 2016

profit before tax 5,484 5,979

Tax by applying the statutory tax rate* (1,042) (1,136)

impact of:

non-tax deductible expenses (82) (75)

non-taxable revenues 2 40

additional decrease/(increase) of tax related to prior periods (3) (31)

other  30  (57)

income tax expense (1,095) (1,259)

* income tax rate of 19% was applied in 2017 and 2016 respectively, based on the effective income Tax act.

 

21  cosT oF Goods, raW maTerials and TelecommunicaTion serVices

CZK million 2017 2016

costs of goods and raw materials 2,420 2,195

costs of telecommunication services 5,501 5,253

maintenance of telecommunication network 534 564

energy consumption – telecommunication network 401 450

other 315 249

Total 9,171 8,711

22  emploYee beneFiTs

CZK million 2017 2016

salary costs 2,609 2,335

social security costs – obligatory and supplementary pension insurance 553 500

social security costs – other 307 276

Total 3,469 3,111

average number of employees 3,414 3,271

The number of employees is based on the average recalculated number of annual full-time employees. The company has been providing its employees 

with a contribution to supplementary pension insurance. in 2017, the total contribution provided was czK 26 million (in 2016: czK 24 million).

23  depreciaTion and amorTisaTion

CZK million 2017 2016

amortisation of licences 421 421

amortisation of other intangible fixed assets 1,331 1,471

depreciation of tangible fixed assets 2,859 2,835

Total 4,611 4,727

24  oTher operaTinG eXpenses

CZK million 2017 2016

costs of external marketing services 602 664

commissions to business partners 843 738

net loss from impairment of receivables and receivables write off 191 239

rental and operating leases 1,044 1,134

expenses from cross charges of services shared in dTaG Group 502 375

repair and maintenance (except telecommunication network) 654 644

licence fees 355 370

other operating expenses related to employees 152 182

legal, consulting and auditing fees 332 189

office supplies, postage, bank charges 128 30

consumption of electricity, water and gas, cleaning, security 99 109

other 557 189

Total 5,459 4,863
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TRAnsACTIons WITh oTheR ReLATed PARTIes WIThIn The dTAg gRouP:

CZK million 2017 2016

roaming, interconnection and related purchased services 464 344

other purchased goods and services 232 160

expenses from re-invoicing of services 296 189

Total purchases 992 693

roaming, interconnection and related sold services 491 458

income from re-invoicing of services and using common platforms 523 379

other income 2 4

Total sales 1,016 841

outstanding balances arising from sales/purchases of goods and services from other related parties within the dTaG group:

CZK million 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

receivables from roaming, interconnection and related sold services 28 31

receivables and prepayments from other services and discounts 275 240

Total receivables 303 271

payables from roaming, interconnection and related purchased services 78 62

payables from other services and discounts 281 179

Total payables 359 241

shorT-Term compensaTion To KeY manaGemenT personnel

CZK million 2017 2016

average number 
of employees 

amount average number 
of employees 

amount

executive management 26 137 31 149

board of directors 3 - 3 -

supervisory board 4 - 4 -

Total 33 137 38 149
  

executive management includes executive directors and other directors of the company. 

short-term employee benefits include salaries, bonuses, personal holidays, health care, business cars used for personal purpose and other short-term 

employee benefits including social, health and supplementary pension insurance paid by the employer.

The company’s contributions to pension insurance amounted in 2017 to czK 23 million (in 2016: czK 26 million). 

contributions for management to supplementary pension fund amounted in 2017 to czK 1 million (in 2016: czK 2 million).

posT-emploYmenT and TerminaTion beneFiTs proVided To manaGemenT members

CZK million 2017 2016

motivation bonus scheme paid* 2 2

severance pay 3 5

*  The company provides post-employment benefits in the form of a motivation bonus scheme to members of its management. subject to certain conditions being met, the eligible persons are 
entitled to receive a pay-out bonus derived from their salary level.

27  relaTed parTY TransacTions and balances 

related parties are considered to be the parent company and other companies within dTaG group (“other related party”), members of statutory and 

supervisory bodies, executive managers and parties close to them. dTaG group represents all companies controlled by dTaG. 

The following transactions are related to the shareholders, subsidiaries and other related parties.

The company is controlled by the entities as described in note 1.

TRAnsACTIons WITh shARehoLdeRs (dIReCT, IndIReCT And uLTImATe PARenT ComPAnIes):

CZK million 2017 2016

roaming, interconnection and related purchased services 217 173

other purchased goods and services 47 87

expenses from recharging of services 203 184

purchases of foreign currencies at market values* 1,254 1,335

Total purchases 1,721 1,779

roaming, interconnection and related sold services 473 250

income from recharging of services and using common platforms 216 228

Total sales 689 478

* The purchases of foreign currencies comprise mainly forwards and swaps. The price is set at the best level of all market offers.

outstanding balances arising from sales/purchases of goods and services from shareholders:

CZK million 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

receivables from roaming, interconnection and related sold services 275 304

receivables from derivatives (fair value) - 3

intercompany loan provided 128 -

Total receivables 403 307

payables from roaming, interconnection and related purchased services 534 540

liabilities from derivatives (fair value) 7 1

Total payables and liabilities 541 541

in 2017 and 2016 the company did not have any transactions related to its parent company deutsche Telekom europe b.V. (former cmobil b.V.).

TRAnsACTIons WITh The subsIdIARy:

CZK million 2017 2016

roaming, interconnection and related purchased services 3 4

other purchased goods and services 42 41

Total purchases 45 45

roaming, interconnection and related sold services 4 3

Total sales 4 3

outstanding balances arising from sales/purchases of goods and services from the subsidiary:

CZK million 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

payables from other services and discounts 5 4

Total payables 5 4
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30  subseQuenT eVenTs

There are no significant subsequent events as of the date of approval of these financial statements.

31  approVal oF The Financial sTaTemenTs

These financial statements have been approved by the board of directors of the company for issuance on 22 march 2018. These financial statements 

can be amended on request and approval of the annual shareholders meeting. 

daria dodonová Mardia niehaus

Vice-chairman of the board of directors member of the board of directors

incenTiVe plans For eXecuTiVe manaGemenT

The company offers several long-term incentive plans to its executive management members with a new package being launched each year and with 

each tranche lasting for 4 years. a total provision as at 31 december 2017 and 31 december 2016 has been recognised as follows (in million czK):

incentive plan Type of settlement 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Variable ii cash-settled 18 29

lTi (long-Term incentive plan) cash-settled 29 15

smp (share matching plan) equity-settled 1 2

diVidends

based on the resolution of the sole shareholder from 4 april 2017, the company distributed the profit to the sole shareholder as a dividend in the 

aggregate amount of czK 4,720 million.

based on the resolution of the sole shareholder from 2 may 2016, the company distributed the profit to the sole shareholder as a dividend in the 

aggregate amount of czK 4,706 million.

in 2017, the company received the dividend from its subsidiary at amount of czK 250 million. The company received no dividend in 2016.

28  conTinGenT liabiliTies

Tax authorities are authorised to inspect books and records at any time within 3 years subsequent to the deadline for filing a tax return for reported tax 

year, and consequently may impose additional income tax and penalties. The company‘s management is not aware of any circumstances which may 

in the future give rise to a potential material liability in this respect.

29  commiTmenTs

The company’s future capital commitments to major technology and services suppliers from concluded agreements as at 31 december 2017 and  

31 december 2016 are as follows:

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

up to 1 year 1,864 1,770

1 - 3 years 816 349

3 - 5 years 180 113

over 5 years 213 232

Total 3,073 2,464

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases arising from the lease of microwave connections, optical fibres, 

communication base stations, other buildings and offices are as follows:

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

up to 1 year 651 816

1 - 3 years 517 680

3- 5 years 382 544

over 5 years 1,417 496

Total 2,967 2,536

The majority of lease agreements are renewable at market prices after termination of the operating lease. 
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consolidaTed sTaTemenT oF Financial posiTion
Year ended 31 december 2017

CZK million notes 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

asseTs 

CURRenT asseTs

cash and cash equivalents 4 5,457 4,232

Trade and other receivables 5 5,739 5,495

inventories 6 731 673

prepaid expenses and other current assets 389 367

advanced payment of income tax 65 172

Total current assets 12,381 10,939

non-CURRenT asseTs

intangible assets 7 8,420 9,040

Goodwill 8 1,375 1,375

property and equipment 9 16,117 16,294

prepaid expenses and other non-current assets 239 16

Total non-current assets 26,151 26,725

ToTaL asseTs 38,532 37,664

LiaBiLiTies and eQUiTY

CURRenT LiaBiLiTies

Trade and other payables 10 5,635 4,570

other financial liabilities 11 219 201

provisions 12 397 39

deferred revenue 13 240 652

Total current liabilities 6,491 5,462

non-CURRenT LiaBiLiTies

other financial liabilities 11 1,269 1,063

provisions 12 887 894

deferred revenue 13 3 3

deferred tax liability 14 635 524

Total non-current liabilities 2,794 2,484

ToTaL LiaBiLiTies 9,285 7,946

eQUiTY

share capital 16 520 520

share premium 16 397 397

capital Funds 16 105 106

retained earnings 28,225 28,695

Total equity 29,247 29,718

ToTaL LiaBiLiTies and eQUiTY 38,532 37,664

The notes on pages 114 to 163 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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consolidaTed sTaTemenT oF chanGes in eQuiTY
Year ended 31 december 2017

CZK million notes share 
Capital

share 
Premium

Capital 
Funds

Retained
earnings

Total

Balance as at 1.1.2016 520 397 105 28,582 29,604

Total comprehensive income - - - - 4,819 4,819

profit for the period - - - - 4,819 4,819

Transactions with shareholders - - - - (4,706) (4,706)

dividends paid 26 - - - (4,706) (4,706)

executive management share schemes - - - 1 - 1

Balance as at 31.12.2016 520 397 106 28,695 29,718

Total comprehensive income - - - - 4,250 4,250

profit for the period - - - 4,250 4,250

Transactions with shareholders - - - - (4,720) (4,720)

dividends paid 26 - - - (4,720) (4,720)

executive management share schemes - - - (1) - (1)

Balance as at 31.12.2017 520 397 105 28,225 29,247

The notes on pages 114 to 163 form an integral part of these financial statements.

consolidaTed sTaTemenT oF comprehensiVe income
Year ended 31 december 2017

CZK million notes 2017 2016

Revenue 18 27,053 26,472

other operating income 19 1,232 1,188

cost of goods, raw materials and telecommunication services 20 (9,196) (8,744)

employee benefits 21 (3,487) (3,129)

depreciation and amortisation 22 (4,696) (4,813)

other operating expenses 23 (5,445) (4,843)

Profit from operations 5,461 6,131

Finance income 24 129 86

Finance expense 24 (220) (110)

Profit before tax 5,370 6,107

income tax expense 25 (1,120) (1,288)

net profit for the current period 4,250 4,819

other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income for the period 4,250 4,819

The notes on pages 114 to 163 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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noTes To The consolidaTed Financial sTaTemenTs
Year ended 31 december 2017

1 General inFormaTion

InfoRmATIon AbouT The gRouP And The ComPAny
The group T-mobile czech republic a.s. (“the Group”) consists of T-mobile czech republic a.s. (“the company”) with registered office in prague 4, 

Tomíčkova 2144/1, and its subsidiary ce colo czech s.r.o. with registered office in prague 10, nad elektrárnou 1428/47 (“the subsidiary” or  

“ce colo czech”).

The Group operates public mobile communications network, public fixed telecommunications network and provides mobile communications services, 

fixed communication services and ipTV under conditions of czech Telecommunication office (“cTo”) certificate, no. 310/7, issued on 2 october 

2015, authorizing to operate in electronic communication sector, respectively to carry out communication activities comprising provision of the public 

mobile networks, provision of public fixed networks and provision of electronic communications services. Further it provides system integration 

services, computer and desktop services including rental, servicing, consulting, data centres services, the establishment, installation, maintenance 

and service of telecommunications equipment, data processing, data services, network management and technical advisory services in the area of 

telecommunications.

The gRouP’s oWneRshIP sTRuCTuRe
as at 31 december 2017 and 31 december 2016, the ownership structure of the Group was as follows:

shareholder no. of shares 
thousands

Paid in share capital

CZK million %

deutsche Telekom europe b.V. 520 520 100

Total 520 520 100 

The ultimate parent company of the Group during the accounting periods ended 31 december 2017 and 31 december 2016 was deutsche Telekom aG 

(“dTaG”) which controls deutsche Telekom europe b.V (former cmobil b.V.), the direct parent of the Group. deutsche Telekom europe b.V. is consolidated 

by deutsche Telekom aG Group and its results are presented in group consolidated financial statements on website www.telekom.de/investor-relations.

LICenCes And TRAdemARks 
as at 31 december 2017, the Group had the right to use the following frequency bands:

  allocation of frequency bands for the provision of public mobile network in 900 mhz and 1800 mhz frequency bands for the period of 20 years 

(expires in 2024); 

  allocation of frequency bands for the provision of public mobile network of electronic communication in 2.1 Ghz and 28 Ghz frequency bands for 

the period of 20 years (expires in 2024);

  allocation of frequency bands for the provision of public mobile network in 800 mhz, 1800 mhz and 2600 mhz frequency bands for the period of 

15 years (expires in 2029);

  allocation of frequency bands for the provision of public mobile network in 26 Ghz frequency, which expires in 2020;

  allocation of frequency band for the provision of public mobile network in 2600 mhz frequency band for the period of 13 years (expires in 2029).

 

The allocations of the frequency bands are referred to as “licences” in these financial statements. licences do not fall within the scope of iFric 12, 

service concession arrangements, and therefore the Group does not use concession accounting.

The Group owns 115 registered trademarks registered in the industrial property office register of the czech republic.

based on a sub-licence agreement between the Group and deutsche Telekom aG (legal successor of T-mobile international aG), the Group is also 

entitled to use relevant trademarks registered by dTaG in the czech republic.

consolidaTed sTaTemenT oF cash FloWs 
Year ended 31 december 2017

CZK million notes 2017 2016

Cash flows from operating activities

profit before tax for the current period 5,370 6,107

adjustments for non-cash movements:

depreciation and amortisation 22 4,696 4,813

interest expense net 24 67 67

Gain on sale of fixed assets net (139) (197)

changes in provisions 344 (109)

other non-cash expense / (income) net 244 (4)

cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital 10,582 10,786

changes in trade and other receivables (553) 28

changes in inventories (58) 15

changes in trade and other payables 459 255

cash flow generated from operating activities 10,419 10,975

income tax paid (903) (912)

interest paid (69) (68)

interest received 3 1

net cash flow from operating activities 9,461 9,996

Cash flows from investing activities

purchases of property and equipment and intangible assets 7,9 (3,198) (4,331)

proceeds from the sale of property and equipment and intangible assets 104 66

proceeds from the sale of securities (44) (13)

issuance of intercompany loan (128) -

net cash flow from investing activities (3,266) (4,278)

Cash flows from financing activities

issuance of loan 140 125

issuance of bank overdraft 19 120

repayment of short-term financing 2 (34) (6)

repayment of loan (140) (125)

repayment of bank overdraft (19) (120)

dividends paid 26 (4,720) (4,706)

payments of finance lease liabilities 9 (216) (341)

net cash flow from financing activities (4,970) (5,053)

net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,225 665

Cash and cash equivalents as at the beginning of the period 4 4,232 3,567

Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the period 4 5,457 4,232

The notes on pages 114 to 163 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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The Group will apply the standard on 1 January 2018. The cumulative effect arising from the transition will be recognised as an adjustment to the 
opening balance of equity in the year of initial application. prior-year comparatives will not be restated; instead, the Group will provide an explanation 
of the reasons for the changes in items in the statement of financial position and the income statement for the current period as a result of applying 
iFrs 9 for the first time.

  iFrs 15, revenue from contracts with customers (issued in may 2014, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The new 
standard will replace ias 18 which covers contracts for goods and services and ias 11 which covers construction contracts. The new standard is 
based on the principle that revenue is recognised when control of a good or service transfers to a customer. The standard has a material effect on 
the presentation of Group‘s results of operations and financial position. depending on the business model applied, the new provisions address the 
following issues in particular: 

   in the case of multiple-element arrangements (e.g., mobile contract plus handset) with subsidized products delivered in advance, a larger 
portion of the total remuneration is attributable to the component delivered in advance (mobile handset), requiring earlier recognition of 
revenue. This leads to the recognition of what is known as a contract asset – a receivable arising from the customer contract that has not yet 
legally come into existence – in the statement of financial position. at the same time, this leads to higher revenue from the sale of goods and 
merchandise and to lower revenue from the provision of services. The scope of the changes resulting from the initial application of iFrs 15 that 
are described above therefore largely depends on the business models used by the Group. 

   Future capitalization and allocation of the expenses for sales commissions (customer acquisition costs) is made over the estimated customer 
retention period. This leads to an increase in total assets on initial application due to the capitalization of costs to obtain a contract.

   deferral, i.e., later recognition of revenue is made in cases where „material rights“ are granted, such as offering additional discounts for future 
purchases of further products.

   For the purposes of determining whether the Group sells products itself (principal = gross revenue) or arranges for another party to sell them 
(agent = net revenue), it is unlikely there will be any material changes. 

The Group estimates that contract asset will have to be recognized in the amount approximately czK 540 million, contract cost asset in the amount 
approximately czK 685 million and contract liability in the amount approximately czK 41 million on 1 January 2018. deferred income will decrease  
by czK 65 million and Tax liability will increase by czK 237 million. net impact to retained earnings will be approximately czK 1,012 million on  
1 January 2018. additionally deferred revenues of czK 115 million and advance payments received of czK 390 million which comprise mainly unused 
customer prepaid airtime will be reclassified to contract liability as at 1 January 2018.
The Group will utilize the option for simplified initial application, i.e. contracts that are not completed by January 1, 2018 will be accounted for as if 
they had been recognized in accordance with iFrs 15 from the very beginning. The cumulative effect arising from the transition will be recognized 
as an adjustment to the opening balance of equity in the year of initial application. prior-year comparatives will not be restated; instead, the Group will 
provide an explanation of the reasons for the changes in items in the statement of financial position and the income statement for the current period 
as a result of applying iFrs 15 for the first time.

  amendments to iFrs 15, revenue from contracts with customers (issued in april 2016 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2018). The amendments do not change the underlying principles of the standard but clarify how those principles should be applied. 
The amendments clarify how to identify a performance obligation (the promise to transfer a good or a service to a customer) in a contract; how to 
determine whether a company is a principal (the provider of a good or service) or an agent (responsible for arranging for the good or service to be 
provided); and how to determine whether the revenue from granting a licence should be recognised at a point in time or over time. in addition to the 
clarifications, the amendments include two additional reliefs to reduce cost and complexity for a company when it first applies the new standard. 

  iFrs 16, leases (issued in January 2016, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). The new standard will result in almost 
all leases being recognised on the balance sheet, as the distinction between operating and finance leases is removed. under the new standard, an 
asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognised.

  The standard has a material effect on the presentation of Group‘s results of operations and financial position. depending on the business model 
applied, the new provisions address the following issues in particular:

   Whereas previously there was a requirement to disclose payment obligations for operating leases in the notes to the financial statements (see note 28), 
from now on, the resulting rights and obligations must be recognized as rights of use and lease liabilities in the statement of financial position. 

   The Group anticipates a significant increase in total assets on the first-time adoption on account of the increase in lease liabilities as well 
as a similarly high increase in non-current assets due to the right-of-use assets to be capitalized. The increase in lease liabilities leads to 
a corresponding increase in net debt.

   Going forward, depreciation charges and interest expense will be reported in the income statement instead of lease expense. This will give rise to 
a significant improvement in ebiTda and to a similar increase in the net cash from operating activities reported in the statement of cash flows. 

   For the Group as a lessor, the new definition of a lease may affect the number of items to be accounted for as leases.
   The overall effects will be analysed as part of a centrally driven project for implementing iFrs 16, though a reliable estimate of the quantitative 

effects is not possible until the project has been completed, for example because of the change in the definition of the lease term and the 
different treatment of variable lease payments and of extension and termination options.

2 summarY oF siGniFicanT accounTinG policies

bAsIs of PRePARATIon
The consolidated financial statements (“financial statements”) have been prepared in accordance with international Financial reporting standards as 

endorsed by european union (“iFrs”) under the historical cost convention, with exception of derivative instruments, which are stated at fair values.

Financial amounts in these financial statements are presented, unless otherwise stated, in millions of czech crowns (czK million).

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently 

applied to all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

AdoPTIon of neW/RevIsed sTAndARds And neW sTAndARds (InCLudIng AmendmenTs of exIsTIng sTAndARds) 
noT yeT AdoPTed by The gRouP
in 2017, the Group adopted the following standards and amendments to the standards. 

a) adopTed durinG The Year:

  amendment to ias 12, income Taxes, clarifying the recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses (issued in January 2016, effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017). in this amendment, the iasb has clarified the accounting for deferred tax where an asset is 

measured at fair value and that fair value is below the asset’s tax base. 

  amendment to ias 7, statement of cash Flows (issued in January 2016, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017).  

The amendment is intended to clarify ias 7 to improve information provided to users of financial statements about an entity’s financing activities. 

The amendment requires disclosure of a reconciliation of movements in liabilities arising from financing activities.

  amendment to iFrs 12, disclosure of interests in other entities, clarifies that the disclosure requirements of iFrs 12 apply to interests in entities 

that are classified as held for sale, except for the summarized financial information. The amendment refers to annual improvements 2014-2016 

cycle (issued in december 2016, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017).

The adopted standards and amendments do not have material impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

b)  neW sTandards, amendmenTs To The sTandards and inTerpreTaTions endorsed bY eu Which are noT YeT eFFecTiVe and 

haVe noT been earlY adopTed:

   iFrs 9, Financial instruments (as revised in July 2014, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) includes a model for 

classification and measurement, a single, forward-looking “expected loss” impairment model and substantially-reformed approach to hedge accounting.

   classification and measurement: classification determines how financial assets and liabilities are accounted for in financial statements and, in 

particular, how they are measured on an ongoing basis. iFrs 9 introduces an approach for the classification of financial assets, which is driven 

by cash characteristics and the business model in which an assets is held. 

   as a result of the analysis of financial assets conducted by the Group, there is no change in classification of the instruments with adoption of 

iFrs 9, and therefore no impact on the retained earnings.

   instruments classified as loans and receivables under ias 39 will be classified at amortised cost under iFrs 9. based on the management 

intention of the Group, the business model for all debt instruments is to hold the financial asset and collect contractual cash flows as opposed 

to realising its fair value change from sale prior to its contractual maturity. occasional sales occur only for overdue receivables for which 

recovery of the claim by dedicated external agencies is unsuccessful. These sales do not contradict the objective of the business model. 

concerning contractual cash flow characteristics, we have not identified any feature that would be inconsistent with sppi criterion, therefore  

all debt instruments in the Group qualify or amortised cost measurement. derivatives remain measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

   impairment: standard introduced a new, expected-loss impairment model that will require more timely recognition of expected credit losses. 

specifically, the standard requires entities to account for expected credit losses rather than only incurred credit losses as is the case under  

ias 39.based on the assessment undertaken, the Group expects an increase in the loss allowance for trade receivables held at amortised 

costs by approximately czK 36 million. The deferred tax liability will decrease by czK 7 million as a consequence and the net impact on 

retained earnings will be czK 29 million.impact from application of an impairment model to contract assets under iFrs 15 revenue from 

contracts with customers will not be material. 

   hedge accounting: iFrs 9 introduces a substantially-reformed model for hedge accounting, with enhanced disclosures about risk 

management activity. The new model represents a significant overhaul of hedge accounting that aligns the accounting treatment with 

risk management activities, enabling entities to better reflect these activities in their financial statements. The Group does not use hedge 

accounting, and there is no intention to use it in the nearest future.
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d) GoodWill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a business represents the excess of the:

  consideration transferred;

  amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity; and

  acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired. 

if those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or 

loss as a bargain purchase.

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually, or more 

frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains 

and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating units or groups of 

cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are identified 

at the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes, being the operating segments. The Group is considered as one 

cash-generating unit.

e) ForeiGn currencY TranslaTion

The functional and presentation currency is czech crown. Foreign currency transactions are translated and recorded at the exchange rate published 

by the czech national bank as at the date of the transaction. cash, receivables and liabilities balances denominated in foreign currencies have been 

translated at the exchange rate published by the czech national bank as at the end of the reporting period. all exchange gains or losses on cash, 

receivables and liabilities balances are recorded in profit or loss.

F) JoinT arranGemenTs

Joint arrangements according to iFrs 11 may have either joint operation or joint venture form. The classification depends on contractual rights and 

obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure of joint arrangement.

according to participation in joint operations, the Group recognises assets controlled and liabilities incurred and its share on all jointly held assets and 

jointly incurred liabilities and its share on revenue and costs generated by the joint operations according to valid terms of relevant contracts.

other information related to joint arrangements is stated in note 9.

G) cash and cash eQuiValenTs

cash and cash equivalents are cash in hand, bank deposits and other highly liquid financial instruments exchangeable for a predetermined amount of 

cash and due date lower than 3 months from purchase date (mainly depository bill of exchange and short-term deposits).

h) inVenTories 

purchased inventories are stated at the lower of acquisition cost or net realisable amount. The acquisition cost primarily includes the purchase price 

and other costs incurred related to delivery of inventories to the storage place. These costs include mainly customs, storage during transportation and 

freight. The assessment of the net realisable amount for the handsets takes into account the present value of estimated cash flows resulting from the 

contract with the final customer. 

provisions are recorded for obsolete, slow-moving and damaged inventories and are deducted from the related inventory balances.

all disposals of purchased inventories are valued using the weighted-average cost method.

i) Financial insTrumenTs 

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories:

  loans and receivables;

  Financial assets at fair value recorded to profit or loss.

classification of financial assets is based on purpose of asset purchase. management of the Group assigns financial assets classification at the time 

of initial record of asset.

Loans and receivables

loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and that are not 

held by the Group for the purpose of selling them immediately or in the short-term. They are included in current assets, except for loans and receivables 

with maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting period which are classified as non-current assets. loans and receivables are 

comprised in Trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets in the statement of financial position.

  The Group intends to apply the simplified transition approach and will not restate comparative amounts for the year prior to first adoption, the 

cumulative effect of initially applying iFrs 16 will be presented as an adjustment to opening retained earnings.

  amendments to iFrs 2, share-based payment, classification and measurement of share-based payment Transactions (issued in July 2016, 

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) clarify the measurement basis for cash-settled share-based payments and the 

accounting for modifications that change an award from cash-settled to equity-settled. 

  iFric 22, Foreign currency Transactions and advance consideration (issued in december 2016, effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2018). The interpretation clarifies how to determine the date of transaction for the exchange rate to be used on initial recognition of 

a related asset, expense or income where an entity pays or receives consideration in advance for foreign currency-denominated contracts.

a) accounTinG esTimaTes

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates and assumptions in respect of the carrying amount of assets 

and liabilities not clearly evident from other sources. The estimates and relevant assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors, including 

expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the known circumstances. The actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 

the next financial year are disclosed in these financial statements. The estimates and relevant assumptions are continually evaluated. corrections of 

accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the correction occurred (if the correction has an impact only on the current period) and in 

the following periods (if the correction has an impact on the current and the following period).

between estimates belongs mainly:

  estimate of recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit, to which goodwill is allocated for the purposes of impairment testing (see note 8);

  provision for doubtful debt (see note 5);

  useful lives of customer relationships and other intangible assets (see note 7);

  Fair values of jointly held tangible assets subject to network sharing agreement (see note 9).

b) principles oF consolidaTion 

subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 

returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. subsidiaries 

are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 

intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. unrealized losses are also 

eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed 

where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

due to the fact that the Group’s business combinations were combinations under common control, the Group did not use the acquisition method for the 

purpose of recording the acquisitions. The purchase price of the subsidiary has been determined based on prediction of the future discounted cash-flow.

The acquisitions under common control were recorded using the predecessor accounting method (similar to pooling of interests), when the acquirer 

takes over the measurement of subsidiary’s assets and liabilities (including related goodwill) from the consolidated financial statements of the ultimate 

parent company. 

The difference between the purchase price of the subsidiary and the net book value of its assets and liabilities as at the acquisition date has been 

recorded as a change of the Group’s equity.

c) business combinaTions 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for acquisition of subsidiaries from parties that are not under common control. 

consideration paid for acquisition of a subsidiary is equal to fair value of the assets transferred and the liabilities incurred. 

consideration paid includes fair value of whatever assets and liabilities, which resulting from contingent consideration agreement. acquired 

identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities incurred in business combination are initially recognised at fair value at the date of acquisition. 

acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. 

if the initial accounting for a business combination can be determined only provisionally by the end of the period in which the combination is effected, 

the Group shall account for the incomplete items using those provisional values. during the measurement period, the Group shall recognise any 

adjustments to those provisional values or any additional assets and liabilities in order for the adjusted values to reflect new information obtained by 

the Group about facts and circumstances that existed as at the date of acquisition and which if had been known as at the date of acquisition would 

have influenced values recognised. 

The measurement period is a period from the date of acquisition to the date when the Group obtains complete information about facts and circumstances 

that existed as at the date of acquisition, however, no later than one year from the acquisition date. 

business combinations under common control are accounted for using predecessor amounts approach (similar to pooling of interest). under this 

method the Group does not revaluate assets and liabilities to their fair values but takes over the valuation of subsidiary’s assets and liabilities including 

related goodwill from the consolidated financial statements of the ultimate parent company, i.e. from the consolidated financial statements of dTaG.
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ii) GsM licence

The Gsm licence which represents the right to provide communication services in the czech republic and to establish and operate Gsm communication 

equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation. The licence is being amortised over its useful life using the straight-line method.

The useful life of the licence is considered to be the period from when the licence is ready for commercial use, through to the licence expiration date in 2024.

iii) LTe licence

The lTe licence which represents the right to provide communication services in the czech republic and to establish and operate lTe communication 

equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation. The licence is being amortised over its useful life using the straight-line method.

The useful life of the licence is considered to be the period from when the licence is ready for commercial use, through to the licence expiration date in 2029.

iv) software

capitalised software costs include the licence fees for the use of software, costs of consulting services related to software implementation and internal 

labour costs directly related to the integration of the purchased software. software costs are amortised over the expected period of the useful life, 

which is two to six years or over the length of the contract. costs of consulting services, which are incurred after the relevant subsystem of the software 

is put into routine operation and as such do not fulfil the criteria for capitalisation, are expensed as incurred.

v) Customer relationships

customer relationships acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. customer relationships have a finite 

useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to 

allocate the cost of customer relationships over their estimated useful lives of 7 and 8 years.

The useful lives of customer relationships were estimated on the basis of average useful life of customers in each customer base, local customer 

relationship and multinational customer relationship. The appropriateness of the amortisation period is reviewed annually. any change in the expected 

useful life of the asset shall be accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

if the carrying amount of the intangible asset is higher than its expected recoverable amount, the carrying amount is reduced to reflect the recoverable 

amount. The recoverable amount of assets is calculated as the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and value in use, which is the present value of 

future cash flows generated by the asset or the cash generating unit.

l)  Finance leases

leased property and equipment where the Group assumes all the substantial benefits and risks usually connected with the ownership are classified 

as finance leases. property and equipment under finance leases is capitalised at lower of fair value and estimated net present value of the minimal 

lease payments. The corresponding current and non-current lease obligations, net of finance charges are recognised as current and non-current other 

financial liabilities, respectively. Finance costs are charged to profit or loss over the lease period using the effective interest method.

leased out property and equipment where all the substantial benefits and risks usually connected with the ownership were transferred from the 

Group to lessee is classified as finance lease. The underlying asset is derecognised and the respective short term and long term lease payments, net 

of finance charges are recognised as current and non-current finance assets.

m) operaTinG leases

payments made under operating leases are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the period of the lease.

n) proVisions 

provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events and it is probable that an outflow of 

resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. 

provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a discount rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in provisions due to the passage of time is 

recognised as finance cost. 

The Group recognised an asset retirement obligation, which represents the costs of restoring its leased sites in accordance with the terms and 

conditions of the lease contracts. The estimated value of the liability is added to the carrying amount of the associated non-current tangible asset and 

is depreciated over the assets’ useful life. The value of the liability is recalculated to its present value as at the end of the reporting period and changes 

in the liability are recognised in the value of the assets or through charges to profit or loss (finance costs). if the obligation is settled for anything other 

than the carrying amount of the liability, a gain or loss on the settlement is recognised in profit or loss.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 

less a provision for impairment (hereinafter referred to as “provisions”). a provision for impairment of Trade and other receivables is established when 

there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. significant 

financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or reorganisation or default on payments are considered indicators 

that the receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision approximates the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 

of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original market discount rate used for similar receivables. The amount of loss due to impairment is 

recognised in profit or loss. The irrecoverable trade receivables are written off against the provision for impairment.

The Group performs the receivables write off against provisions after all legal steps for enforcement were taken or after the sale of the receivables. 

subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised in profit or loss.

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group uses currency forward contracts to hedge its estimated cash flows. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised 

at fair value and subsequently carried at fair value. unrealised gains and losses arising from revaluation of financial assets to the fair value as well as 

realised gains and losses are recognised to the profit or loss. The information on accounting of financial derivatives and hedging operations is provided 

in note 3.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements. Financial liabilities include mainly trade payables, short-

term bank financing, finance lease obligations, bank overdrafts, loans from parent company dTaG and other payables.

current trade payables and other financial liabilities, except for liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, are initially recognised at fair value and 

subsequently measured at the amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

The overview of financial assets and liabilities according to categories is stated in note 17. 

J)  properTY and eQuipmenT

property and equipment except for land are recorded at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The 

acquisition cost comprises the purchase price, transportation costs, customs, installation costs, borrowing costs, estimated costs of dismantling and 

removing the asset and restoring the base station sites to their original condition and other relevant direct costs.

depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the assets’ estimated useful lives, as follows: 

asset category Useful life (years)

buildings, constructions and leasehold improvements 10 to 50 years or in accordance with the lease period

operating equipment:

network technology equipment (Gsm, umTs) 3 to 10

Transport vehicles, hardware and office equipment 3 to 13

land recognised at acquisition cost is not depreciated.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, as at each end of the reporting period.

repair and maintenance expenditures relating to property and equipment are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

if the carrying amount of an asset is higher than its recoverable amount, the carrying amount is reduced to reflect the recoverable amount. The recoverable 

amount of assets is calculated as the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and value in use, which is the present value of expected future cash flows 

generated by the asset or the cash-generating unit. 

The gain or loss arising from the liquidation, sale or disposal of an asset is determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the 

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

K) inTanGible asseTs

intangible assets comprise especially the following:

i) UMTs licence

The umTs licence represents the right to operate mobile communication networks in the czech republic under the umTs standard. The licence 

is recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation. The licence was put into commercial use in october 2005. The licence is being amortised over 

its useful life using the straight-line method. The useful life of the umTs licence is considered to be the period from when the licence is ready for 

commercial use, through to the licence expiration date in 2024.
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deferred income tax charged or credited to profit or loss is measured as the change in the net deferred tax asset or liability during the year except when 

the deferred income tax relates to temporary differences from the items credited or charged directly to equity. The principal temporary differences arise 

from accounting and tax depreciation of property and equipment, changes in tax non-deductible adjustments and tax non-deductible provisions and 

revaluation of other assets and liabilities. a deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available, 

against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

T) capiTal

The Group’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue in its business in order to provide return on investment to its 

shareholders and benefit other stakeholders as well as to meet all relevant legal requirements. The dividend policy of the Group is aligned with this objective. 

equity, represented by share capital, share premium, legal reserve fund and retained earnings, is considered by the Group as a source of financing of 

the Group’s activities.

The Group creates other capital fund according to long term incentive program for top management based on remuneration in shares.

3 Financial risK manaGemenT 

fInAnCIAL RIsk mAnAgemenT PRInCIPLes
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, primarily credit risk, liquidity risk, currency risk, and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall 

risk management strategy focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets. The Group seeks to minimise potentially adverse effects on the Group’s 

financial performance through its operating and financial procedures. based on its risk assessment, the Group uses selected derivative and non-derivative 

hedging instruments to manage exposures. The derivatives are used solely for hedging purposes, not for trading or speculating. in order to manage credit 

risk, the hedging transactions are generally entered into with institutions that meet the requirements of the Group’s hedging strategy for required rating. 

Financial risk management is carried out by the Group’s Treasury department under policies and directions set by the board of directors of the 

Group, except for credit risk arising from sales activities which is managed by the credit risk department. 

mARkeT RIsks
a) currencY risK

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to currency risk, primarily with respect to eur. currency risk arises from future commercial 

transactions, assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. 

The Group uses financial instruments, primarily currency forward contracts, in its management of the currency risk associated with its foreign currency 

denominated sales and purchases. in line with the hedging strategy, the Group hedges 100% of committed future foreign exchange exposures and 

50 to 90% of uncommitted expected foreign exchange exposures.

sensitivity analysis

The Group performed a sensitivity analysis for the following items of the statement of financial position denominated in eur:

  cash and cash equivalents;

  Trade and other receivables;

  other financial assets;

  Trade and other payables;

  short-term bank financing;

  other financial liabilities.

The effects of other currency fluctuations (sdr, usd, chF, Gbp, aud) are not deemed material to the Group’s financial statements. 

as at 31 december 2017, had the czK depreciated by 10% against the eur with all other variables holding constant, profit after-tax for the year would 

have been czK 30 million lower. conversely as at 31 december 2017, had the czK appreciated by 10% against the eur with all other variables 

holding constant, profit after-tax for the year would have been czK 30 million higher. 

as at 31 december 2016, had the czK depreciated by 10% against the eur with all other variables holding constant, profit after-tax for the year 

would have been czK 41 million lower. conversely as at 31 december 2016, had the czK appreciated by 10% against the eur with all other variables 

holding constant, profit after-tax for the year would have been czK 41 million higher. 

o) reVenue recoGniTion

revenue comprises primarily revenue from the provision of telecommunication network services to final customers and to other parties, revenue from 

the sale of goods and revenues from system solutions (iT services). revenue is stated net of discounts and Value added Tax. The Group recognises 

the revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and when 

specific criteria have been met for each of the revenue categories. 

revenues from voice services constitute the principal part of total revenues, consisting primarily of domestic and foreign (roaming) airtime revenues 

and interconnection revenues from termination of traffic originating from the networks of other operators. interconnection revenues are recognised 

based on valid agreements.

monthly subscription fees, revenues from non-voice services such as sms, data transmissions and mms and revenues from the sale of handsets, 

accessories and revenues from operations of optical networks represent other significant revenue streams.

revenues from post-paid customers are recognised on the basis of airtime used and are recorded in monthly billing cycles.

revenues from the sale of pre-paid cards are deferred and based on operational data are recognised at the moment when the customer uses the 

pre-paid credit.

The Group further defers installation fees charged to customers based on service agreements. installation fees are released to the statement of 

comprehensive income over the expected life of the related service agreement.

sale of services is recognized as at the date the services are rendered and are stated net of discounts and Value added Tax.

revenues from the sale of goods are recognised at the time of the customer’s or independent dealer’s purchase.

The Group offers certain multiple-element arrangements where the customer can purchase hardware together with servicing agreement. The amount 

of revenue allocated to each element is based upon the relative fair values of the various elements. The fair values of each element are determined 

based on the current market price of each of the elements when sold separately. The revenue relating to the hardware is recognised when risks and 

rewards of the hardware are transferred to the customer which occurs on delivery. revenue relating to the service element is recognised on a straight-

line basis over the service period.

system solutions revenues represent revenues from application of information technology and telecommunications equipment to store, retrieve, 

transmit and manipulate data and to provide advanced solutions such as system integration, cloud applications, icT security and desktop services 

management. system solutions/integration contracts are mainly short-term, billed on the basis of time and material consumed. revenue is recognised 

as the services are rendered. 

interest income is recorded on an accrual and deferral basis using the effective interest method.

p) cosT oF Goods, raW maTerials and serVices

cost of goods, raw materials and services includes costs of handsets and accessories sold, costs of leased lines, roaming costs and interconnection fees 

for delivering calls that terminate outside the Group’s network. The costs of goods and services are charged to the period in which they are incurred.

Q) commissions To business parTners

The Group provides commissions to business partners for customer acquisition or retention, or other services provided by business partner (e.g. prepaid 

credit recharging, up-sell of customer services). The commissions are expensed as incurred.

r) emploYee beneFiTs

regular contributions are made by the Group to the state to fund the national pension plan that is operated on the basis of the defined contributions. 

under this plan, the Group has no obligations beyond the payment of the contributions defined by the law. The Group also provides its employees 

with contributions for a pension contribution plan under which the Group pays to a separate entity under so-called joint plan of defined contributions. 

These contributions are recognised in profit or loss as incurred during the employment period. 

The Group has entered into several incentive programs, both share-based and non-share based and cash and non-cash settled managed by dTaG. 

The Group recognizes the costs of services received from its members of executive management in a share-based and non-share-based payment 

transaction when services are received. if these services are received in a cash-settled share-based payment transaction, the Group recognizes the 

expense against the provision, re-measured at each reporting date. in case of equity-settled share-based payment transaction, the Group recognizes 

the expense against the equity capital fund, measured at fair value at the grant date.

s) income TaX

income tax expense consists of the current tax charge and the change in deferred income tax, except when the change in deferred income tax relates 

to the items credited or charged directly to equity, in this case the deferred income tax is also recorded in equity.

deferred income tax is determined based on temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and their tax bases, using 

the statutory tax rates that are expected to apply when the relevant deferred income tax asset is realised or the relevant deferred income tax liability is 

settled. however, if the deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that 

at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit nor loss, it is not recognised. 
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Gross value of receivables which are neither past due nor impaired are presented in risk categories  as follows:

31. 12. 2017
 
CZK million

Risk category standard & Poor’s
Long-term rating

not 
individually 

assessed

Total

a B C d e BBB+ a- to a+ aa-

receivables from dTaG 
group companies

- - - - - 455 - - - 455

other receivables 26 - - - - 128 - - - 154

Trade and other 
receivables (gross) total

26 - - - - 583 - - - 609

31. 12. 2016
 
CZK million

Risk category standard & Poor’s
Long-term rating

not 
individually 

assessed

Total

a B C d e BBB+ a- to a+ aa-

receivables from dTaG 
group companies

- - - - - 562 - - - 562

other trade receivables 22 - - - - - - - - 22

Trade and other 
receivables (gross) total

22 - - - - 562 - - - 584

Gross value of receivables which are either past due or impaired are presented in risk categories as follows: 

31. 12. 2017
 
CZK million

Risk category standard & Poor’s
Long-term rating

not 
individually 

assessed

Total

a B C d e BBB+ a- to a+ aa-

receivables from electronic 
communication services 

3,218 198 107 214 2,790 - - - - 6,527

receivables from dTaG - - - - - 123 - - - 123

other trade receivables - - - - - - - - 1,122 1,122

Trade and other 
receivables (gross) total

3,218 198 107 214 2,790 123 - - 1,122 7,772

31. 12. 2016
 
CZK million

Risk category standard & Poor’s
Long-term rating

not 
individually 

assessed

Total

a B C d e BBB+ a- to a+ aa-

receivables from electronic 
communication services 

3,099 261 93 226 2,807 - - - - 6,486

other trade receivables - - - - - - - - 946 946

Trade and other 
receivables (gross) total

3,099 261 93 226 2,807 - - - 946 7,432

The gross carrying amount of trade and other receivables, reflecting the maximum exposure to credit risk, as at 31 december 2017 was czK 8,381 million 

(31 december 2016: czK 8,016 million).

Trade receivables from customers of electronic communication services with increased credit risk are to a certain extent secured by collateral in the 

form of cash deposits that are refundable after the contract termination or credited against unsettled receivables.

The receivables from the dTaG group do not give rise to a significant credit risk. These receivables are settled through the group inter-Group clearing 

centre and therefore classified to category bbb+.

b) inTeresT raTe risK

The Group invests in financial assets with short-term maturity and fixed interest rate. such instruments are not exposed to the risk of interest rate 

fluctuation. Therefore the Group does not actively manage the interest rate risk. once the current instruments matured, should the Group reinvest the 

free cash in equivalent financial instruments, it would be exposed to following potential effects:

interest rate change by 100 basic points* Profit after-tax impact in CZK million

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

decrease (38) (28)

increase 38 28

* assuming all other variables holding constant

Credit risk

The counterparties for transactions of the Group’s financial instruments are limited to institutions 

with high credit quality as defined in the policies and directions set in investment strategy approved 

by the General meeting of the Group. The Group carries out only such financial transactions 

whose originator’s or guarantor’s credit rating from an independent global rating agency lies safely 

within investment grade (i.e. at least bbb+/baa1) and, at the same time, the originator’s or guarantor’s credit quality indicators can be continuously 

monitored through the financial market.

The Group manages the credit risk associated with its trading operations by using various instruments such as insurance, bank guarantees, credit 

limits, differentiated debt collecting process, etc. 

in case of cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank financing concentrations of credit risk are limited as the Group places its cash with 

a number of substantial credit institutions. concentrations of credit risks relating to Trade and other receivables and other financial assets are limited 

due to credit risk management tools, debt collection process and following policies and directions set in investment strategy approved by the General 

meeting of the Group.

Trade and other receivables

The Group considers receivables from customers of its electronic communication services to give rise to the highest credit risk. These receivables 

represent approximately 80% of all trade receivables. 

These receivables are continually monitored and associated bad debt provisions are created taking into account the payment discipline of the 

customers. The monitoring of credit risk arising from receivables from end-users is based on monitoring of payment discipline of the customers and 

its development in time, allowing the immediate response to eventually slight deterioration in the payment discipline of the customers by adjusting 

activation and debt collecting process. 

The credit quality of the receivables from customers of electronic communication services can be analysed by dividing these receivables into the five 

risk categories:

Risk category Probability of default 
in payment in %*

% base**

2017 2016

(a) not yet due 0 – 1.99% 86.1% 84.3%

(b) up to one month overdue 2.00 – 21.99% 5.3% 6.9%

(c) up to three months overdue 22.00 – 37.99% 2.9% 2.6% 

(d) up to one year overdue 38.00 – 79.99% 5.7% 6.2% 

(e) over one year overdue – in default 80 – 100% - -

*   probability of default in payment is determined by long-term payment discipline, which is continuously monitored by T-mobile czech republic a.s. and is considered stable in time.
** base is defined as nominal value of receivables, which are maximally one year overdue at balance sheet date.

 

The Group has implemented credit risk management tools and a debt collection process for the defined risk categories. The credit risk management 

tools include acceptance procedures for new post-paid customers, sending collection letters to customers with overdue payments, enforcement by 

law and the sale of receivables in auctions. category (e) - in default consists of deactivated customers only. 
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The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31 december 2017. The Group does not have any 

financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at level 1 and 3. 

CZK million Level 2

31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

assets

currency forward contract with positive fair value - 8

Total assets - 8

Payables

currency forward contract with negative fair value 21 1

Total payables 21 1

The fair values of financial instruments at level 2 are based on monetary yield curves determined at the balance sheet date which are based on the 

market prices valid as at the end of the reporting period.

The fair values of finance lease liabilities amounted to czK 1,659 million as at 31 december 2017 (31 december 2016: czK 1,512 million). The carrying 

amount of other categories of financial assets and liabilities both at 31 december 2017 and 31 december 2016 approximate their fair values. 

The classification of financial assets and liabilities into categories in accordance with ias 39 is stated in note 17. 

Accounting for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the statement of financial position at fair value. in assessing the fair value of derivatives, the 

Group uses a variety of methods including techniques such as the present value of estimated future cash flows under assumptions based on market 

conditions existing as at statement of financial position date and other valuation techniques.

certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives when the risks and characteristics are not closely 

related to those of the host contract and the host contract is not carried at fair value, with changes in fair value being recorded in the profit or loss.

The Group uses currency forward contracts to hedge estimated cash flows. all transactions below the equivalent of eur 15 million (czK 383 million), 

are recognised as held for trading derivatives with changes in fair value being reflected in profit or loss. in 2017 and 2016, the Group did not apply 

hedge accounting.

4 cash and cash eQuiValenTs

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

cash at banks and in hand 892 732

cash equivalents 4,565 3,500

Total 5,457 4,232

cash equivalents as at 31 december 2017 and 31 december 2016 consist mainly of bank deposits, depository bills of exchange and repo transactions. 

5 Trade and oTher receiVables 

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

Trade receivables 5,820 5,591

unbilled receivables 2,407 2,403

less: provision for impairment (2,642) (2,622)

Trade receivables (net) 5,585 5,372

currency forward contracts with positive fair value - 8

other receivables 26 22

intercompany loan 128 -

short-term bank financing - 93

Total 5,739 5,495

Trade receivables comprise mainly receivables from the communication network users, receivables from other communication services providers, 

receivables from partners for electronic recharging of pre-paid cards and receivables from independent dealers. 

other trade receivables from third parties as at 31 december 2017 are represented by receivables from dealers czK 15 million (31 december 2016: 

czK 30 million) where balances in this category exceeding a certain level are insured or secured by another instrument, such as a blank bill of 

exchange, roaming and interconnection receivables czK 141 million (as at 31 december 2016: czK 94 million) which do not give rise to significant 

credit risk and the Group does not monitor them individually and by receivables from business customers for other products of the Group, such as 

system integration, iT outsourcing, etc., of czK 966 million (as at 31 december 2016: czK 822 million). credit check of business customers for other 

products of the Group is performed at the beginning of business cases. receivables from business customers for other products of the Group do not 

give rise to significant credit risk due to characteristics of transactions and continuously credit monitoring is not necessary.

 

Cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets

The Group only makes short-term cash deposits (cash, depository bills of exchange, term deposits, repo transactions). The Group deposits free cash 

into financial instruments such as mortgage-backed securities or financial investments in the form of loans to dTaG. The counterparties for financial 

transactions of the Group’s cash are limited to institutions with high credit quality as defined in the policies and directions set in investment strategy 

approved by the General meeting of the Group. 

The Group carries out only such financial transactions whose originator’s or guarantor’s credit rating from an independent global rating agency 

lies safely within investment grade (i.e. at least bbb+/baa1) and, at the same time, the originator’s or guarantor’s credit quality indicators can be 

continuously monitored through the financial market. 

The Group has a concentration of credit risk mainly towards banks regulated by czech national bank, see below.

31.12.2017
CZK million

standard & Poor’s Long-term rating not assigned Total

BBB- až BBB+ a- to a+ aa-

cash in hand - - - 18 18

bank accounts 16 854 - 4 874

cash equivalents - 4,565 - - 4,565

Total cash and cash equivalents  
and other financial assets exposure

16 5,419 - 22 5,457

31.12.2016
CZK million

standard & Poor’s Long-term rating not assigned Total

BBB- až BBB+ a- to a+ aa-

cash in hand - - - 14 14

bank accounts 145 491 - 82 718

cash equivalents - 3,500 - - 3,500

short term bank financing and other financial assets - - - 101 101

Total cash and cash equivalents  
and other financial assets exposure

145 3,991 - 197 4,333

Liquidity risk

prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and held for sale securities, the availability of funding through an adequate 

amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. The aim of the Treasury department is to maintain flexibility in 

funding by maintaining availability under these committed facilities.

The Group maintains a liquidity reserve in the form of a bank overdraft and flexible credit line to support its ability to meet its liabilities and to provide 

financial flexibility. historically, the Group generated sufficient cash to ensure its solvency and financial flexibility. The Group does not consider itself 

significantly exposed to liquidity risk.

The Group uses financial instruments and practices for optimising the management of the working capital and liquidity tied up in supply chain 

process, i.e. reverse factoring of the Group‘s trade payables. 

The residual maturities of financial liabilities are analysed in note 10.

fair value estimation of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value are classified into three levels 

according to the method of fair value determination:

  level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

  level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or 

indirectly (that is, derived from prices); and

  level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.
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movements of the provision for impairment of receivables can be analysed as follows:

CZK million 2017 2016

opening balance as at 1.1. 2,622 2,589

net increase for the year 204 178

utilisation of provision for write-off (184) (145)

Closing balance as at 31.12. 2,642 2,622

The following table analyses income and expenses related to receivable write-offs: 

CZK million 2017 2016

change in provision for doubtful receivables 20 111

income from receivables previously written off (13) (17)

receivables written-off 184 145

Total net loss from impairment of receivables 191 239

interest income (22) (21)

income from contractual penalty fees (202) (207)

Total net (profit)/loss from trade receivables (33) 11

6 inVenTories

mil. Kč 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

handsets and accessories 565 441

other inventories 166 232

Total 731 673

7 inTanGible asseTs

CZK million Customer 
relationships

software GsM/UMTs/LTe  
licences

other intangible 
fixed assets

assets in the course
 of construction 

and advances paid

Total

Cost

1.1.2016 2,480 9,175 7,556 651 822 20,684

additions - - - - 1,851 1,851

disposals - (97) - (3) - (100)

Transfers* - 1,023 - 86 (1,109) -

31.12.2016 2,480 10,101 7,556 734 1,564 22,435

additions - - - 59 1,122 1,182

disposals - (159) - - - (159)

Transfers* - 957 - - (957) -

31.12.2017 2,480 10,899 7,556 793 1,729 23,457

accumulated 
amortisation/impairment

1.1.2016 519 7,458 3,087 492 - 11,556

amortisation 419 1,017 421 83 - 1,940

disposals - (98) - (3) - (101)

31.12.2016 938 8,377 3,508 572 - 13,395

amortisation 323 1,035 421 22 - 1,801

disposals - (159) - - - (159)

31.12.2017 1,261 9,253 3,929 594 - 15,037

net book value

1.1.2016 1,961 1,717 4,469 159 822 9,128

31.12.2016 1,542 1,724 4,048 162 1,564 9,040

31.12.2017 1,219 1,646 3,627 199 1,729 8,420

* Transfers include transfers of intangible fixed assets in the course of construction and advances to assets in use. 

The book value and ageing analysis of receivables which are impaired is as follows: 

31. 12. 2017

CZK million

not yet due Past due Total

up to 
90 days

91–180 
days

181–360 
days

1–2 
years

2 years 
and more

Trade receivables

–  from customers of electronic  
ommunication services*

3,218 305 83 131 212 2,578 6,527

– other trade receivables from third parties 983 - 18 5 4 7 1,017

Provisions:

–  for trade receivables from customers  
of electronic communication services*

(99) (33) (40) (87) (162) (2,177) (2,598)

–  for other trade receivables from third parties (24) - (4) (5) (4) (7) (44)

Trade and other receivables (net) 4,078 272 57 44 50 401 4,902

* receivables and provisions from customers include balances related to active and terminated customers

31. 12. 2016

CZK million

not yet due Past due Total

up to 
90 days

91–180 
days

181–360 
days

1–2 
years

2 years 
and more

Trade receivables

–  from customers of electronic  
communication services*

3,099 349 84 142 233 2,579 6,486

– other trade receivables from third parties 896 - 2 4 4 12 918

Provisions:

–  for trade receivables from customers  
of electronic communication services*

(116) (34) (38) (81) (173) (2,135) (2,577)

– for other trade receivables from third parties (23) - (2) (4) (4) (12) (45)

Trade and other receivables (net) 3,856 315 46 61 60 444 4,782

* receivables and provisions from customers include balances related to active and terminated customers 

The Group does not have significant trade and other receivables which are individually impaired.

The book value and ageing analysis of receivables which are not impaired is as follows: 

31. 12. 2017
CZK million

not yet due Past due Total

up to 90 days 91–180 days 181–360 days

Trade receivables:

– from dTaG group 455 112 9 2 578

– other trade receivables from third parties 105 - - 105

other receivables:

– from dTaG group 128 - - - 128

– other receivables from third parties 26 - - - 26

Trade and other receivables (net) 609 217 9 2 837

The book value and ageing analysis of receivables which are not impaired (continued)

31. 12. 2016
CZK million

not yet due Past due Total

up to 90 days 91–180 days 181–360 days

Trade receivables:

– from dTaG group 562 - - - 562

– other trade receivables from third parties 28 - - 924

other receivables:

– other receivables from third parties                   22 - - - 22

Trade and other receivables (net) 584 28 - - 612

due dates of financial assets did not change during 2017 or 2016.
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8 GoodWill

CZK million 31. 12 2017 31. 12 2016

Cost

T-systems czech republic, a.s. 131 131

GTs czech s.r.o. 1,144 1,144

ce colo czech s.r.o. 100 100

Total 1,375 1,375

Goodwill was tested for impairment as of 31 december 2017. The Group is considered as one cash-generating unit (“cGu”). The Group establishes 

the recoverable amount by determining the cGu’s fair value less cost to sell by using valuation techniques. The fair value was determined by 

calculating discounted projected cash flows over the next ten years with a terminal value. cash flows beyond the ten-year period were extrapolated 

using the estimated long-term growth rate stated in the table below.

The calculation of expected future cash flows is based on an estimate of service revenue, operating expenditure (direct and indirect costs) and capital 

expenditure for the period 2018 – 2027. 

service revenue is projected separately for each main area (mobile, fixed, iT). mobile revenues are projected based on the estimated number of 

subscribers in each year and the expected average revenue per user (“arpu”) in each year. revenues from the fixed and iT businesses are estimated 

based on expected sales and sales prices. 

The estimated number of customers/subscribers is based on past performance and management’s expectations of market development. arpu or 

sales prices are based on current industry trends and take into account the competition and other market factors. 

operating expenditure is based on the current structure of the business, adjusted for expected future developments, restructurings and cost saving 

measures. capital expenditure is based on the historical experience of management and the planned development of the fixed and mobile network. 

in general, the projections of the above mentioned components of expected future cash flows take into account the expected economic development, 

the competition and other market factors, regulation, as well as the Group’s strategy.

The weighted average cost of capital (“Wacc”) used in the calculation to discount the cash flow projections was determined based on capm 

(capital asset pricing model) using the average betas of the peer group, a risk free rate using the svensson methodology for Germany and adjusted 

for country specific risks, a debt ratio in line with the usual indebtedness of listed peer telecommunications companies and an additional debt 

risk premium considering average peer Group specific debt risks. The estimated long-term growth rate (“lTGr”) takes into account the expected 

economic growth of the country. 

The fair value measurement is categorised within level 3 of fair value hierarchy as per iFrs 13.

The analysis performed as at 31 december 2017 confirmed that the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit exceeds its carrying amount. 

The table below shows the Wacc and lTGr used in the fair value calculation for the goodwill impairment tests conducted as of 31 december 2017 

and as of 31 december 2016. The table also includes an analysis that shows how much impairment would have been recognized if we changed the 

sensitive parameters in the calculations.

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

WaCC

used in the calculation 6.37% 5.33%

if changed to 10.37% 9.33%

impairment would be (czK million) - -

LTGR

used in the calculation 2% 2%

if changed to (2)% (2)%

impairment would be (czK million) - -

nominal expected future cash flows

if changed by (30)% (30)%

impairment would be (czK million) - -

if the nominal expected future cash flows, discount rates, or long term growth rate used for impairment testing had been changed as described in the 

table above for the projection period, this would not have resulted in any impairment.

The additions of intangible fixed assets in 2017 comprise mainly new software, particularly one.erp system (new enterprise information system) and 

nG crm as described below.

sIgnIfICAnT IndIvIduAL InTAngIbLe AsseTs
licences

The carrying values and remaining amortization periods of the licenses are listed in the table below. For further information on these assets, please see note 1.

CZK million 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Carrying amount Remaining 
amortization period 

(years)

Carrying amount Remaining 
amortization period 

(years)

Gsm licence 285 7 326 8

umTs licence 1,346 7 1,546 8

lTe licence 1,996 12 2,176 13

Total GsM/UMTs/LTe licences 3,627  4,048  

during 2016 the Group purchased right to use frequency band for the provision of public communications network in 2600 mhz for the period of  

13 years for total consideration in the amount of czK 730 million. as at 31 december 2017 the right to use frequency band is presented as asset in the 

course of construction. The right to use frequency band is not ready to use yet as the Group is waiting for the individual right authorization. Without 

this authorization the broadcasting cannot be provided to customers.

soFTWare

The majority of software balance is made by nG crm, a new platform for client relationship management (crm) system. The carrying value of nG crm 

as of 31 december 2017 is czK 1,051 million plus czK 27 million in section of assets under construction (31 december 2016: czK 1,071 million  

plus czK 86 million under construction) and the remaining amortization period as of 31 december 2017 is 5 years (31 december 2016: 6 years).  

The platform is being implemented in stages and the last module is still under construction. The migrations to new crm system affected a number  

of existing software and systems the modification of which was needed. The amount of these capital expenditures are not included in the carrying 

amount of nG crm but in the carrying value of existing software and systems.

cusTomer relaTionships

The balance consists mainly of customer relationships acquired in a business combination with GTs czech s.r.o. and ce colo czech s.r.o. 

The net book value of T-mobile local customer relationship as of 31 december 2017 is czK 549 million (31 december 2016: czK 710 million) and 

the remaining amortization period as of 31 december 2017 is 4 years (31 december 2016: 5 years). The net book value of T-mobile multinational 

customer relationship as of 31 december 2017 is czK 505 million (31 december 2016: czK 620 million) and the remaining amortization period as of 

31 december 2017 is 5 years (31 december 2016: 6 years). based on review of useful life performed as at 31 december 2016, amortisation period of 

multinational customer relationship was shortened from 17 to 8 years.

The net book value of ce colo customer relationship as of 31 december 2017 is czK 165 million (31 december 2016: czK 212 million) and the 

remaining amortization period as of 31 december 2017 is 4 years (31 december 2016: 5 years). 

The table below shows the churn rate used in useful life calculation as of 31 december 2017 and as of 31 december 2016. The table also includes  

an analysis that shows how would be net book value affected if the sensitive parameter in the calculation is changed.

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Churn rate – Local customer relationship

used in the calculation of useful life 14.29% 14.29%

if increased by 20%, i.e. to 17.14% 17.14%

change in the net book value (czK million) (96) (69)

Churn rate – Multinational customer relationship

used in the calculation of useful life 12.03% 12.03%

if increased by 20%, i.e. to 14.43% 14.43%

change in the net book value (czK million) (59) (42)

Churn rate – Ce Colo customer relationship

used in the calculation of useful life 14.29% 14.29%

if increased by 20%, i.e. to 17.14% 17.14%

change in the net book value (czK million) (29) (21)
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JoInT ARRAngemenTs
in 2013 the Group entered into joint arrangement with the company česká telekomunikační infrastruktura a.s. concerning a 2G and 3G network 

sharing, i.e. sharing of active and passive mobile network elements on a territorial basis of czech republic. as at 31 december 2017, 2,380 sites were 

shared on the Group side and 2,408 sites on česká telekomunikační infrastruktura a.s. side (as at 31 december 2016: 1,523 sites on the Group side 

and 1,555 sites on česká telekomunikační infrastruktura a.s. side). 

in 2014 the Group entered into a similar joint arrangement with česká telekomunikační infrastruktura a.s. concerning sharing of lTe technologies for 

mobile networks. The contractual arrangement involves sharing of active mobile network elements on the same territorial basis of czech republic as 

for 2G and 3G technologies sharing. as at 31 december 2017, 2,372 sites on the Group side and 2,367 sites on česká telekomunikační infrastruktura 

a.s. side were shared (as at 31 december 2016: 1,917 sites on the Group side and 1,913 sites on česká telekomunikační infrastruktura a.s. side).

both contracts are based on balanced principles and after having considered the contractual rights and obligations, they were assessed as joint 

arrangements according to iFrs 11. For this classification was determining, that the major of strategic decisions were specified jointly next to signing 

of a contract or will be done during validity of the contract. The arrangement is a joint operation, because it does not involve a separate legal entity 

comprising the activities performed under the arrangement.

network sharing in the context of these contracts means sharing of transmitting sites including related tangible assets used for providing of 2G and 

3G as well as lTe services. operators keep full control over the content of provided services to its customers, acquiring and managing of customers, 

price policy, marketing and customer support. both parties remain individually responsible for keeping of legal contractual obligations resulting from 

telecommunication licences and related laws and regulations.

due to the different classification of active and passive mobile network elements, the Group adopted two different approaches to the assets under 

both network sharing agreements. active mobile network elements were classified as individually held assets and recognized at cost, consistently with 

other solely owned assets by the Group. passive mobile network elements were classified as jointly held assets, the Group recognizes 50% share of 

such assets subject to the network sharing agreements and 50% share on joint expenses and revenues resulting from the joint arrangement. The total 

profit or loss impact is immaterial.

The Group considered risks resulting from joint arrangements and evaluated them as immaterial.

10  Trade and oTher paYables

CZK million 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Trade payables 1,581 1,486

operational expenditure accruals 2,427 1,918

capital expenditure accruals 349 242

Total trade payables 4,357 3,646

currency forward contracts with negative fair value 21 1

Total financial liabilities 4,378 3,647

liabilities to employees 614 558

other taxes and social security liabilities 257 277

other payables 386 88

Total non-financial liabilities 1,257 923

Total 5,635 4,570

other payables comprise mainly unused prepaid airtime from 2017 when the Group changed the accounting treatment of unused prepaid airtime 

from deferred revenue to prepayments (see note 13).

9 properTY and eQuipmenT

CZK million Buildings and land equipment and 
other fixed assets

assets in the course 
of construction, 

advances and 
network spare parts

Total

acquisition cost

1.1.2016 10,418 26,384 900 37,702

additions 817 893 2,314 4,024

disposals (2,516) (2,583) (67) (5,166)

Transfers* 223 2,058 (2,281) -

31.12.2016 8,942 26,752 866 36,560

additions 351 715 1,980 3,046

disposals (1,372) (3,528) (33) (4,933)

Transfers* 923 935 (1,858) -

31.12.2017 8,844 24,874 955 34,673

accumulated depreciation/impairment

1.1.2016 5,412 16,296 2 21,710

depreciation 585 2,288 - 2,873

disposals (1,879) (2,438) - (4,317)

31.12.2016 4,118 16,146 2 20,266

depreciation 873 2,022 - 2,895

disposals (1,135) (3,469) (1) (4,605)

31.12.2017 3,856 14,699 1 18,556

net book value

1.1.2016 5,006 10,088 898 15,992

31.12.2016 4,824 10,606 864 16,294

31.12.2017 4,975 10,188 954 16,117

* Transfers include transfers of tangible fixed assets in the course of construction and advances to assets in use.

The additions of tangible fixed assets in 2017 comprise mainly the network technology, optical fibres and the new data centre building on finance lease. 

fInAnCe LeAses
The Group has entered into the finance lease contracts, particularly optical fibre lease agreements. optical fibres are taken by the Group when prepared 

to use. The assets under financial lease are recognized 

as a part of own equipment and are depreciated over their estimated useful life that is mainly over the period of 20 years. Their net book value as at  

31 december 2017 was czK 2,588 million (as at 31 december 2016: czK 2,382 million). 

minimum lease payments related to the concluded finance leases, the future finance charge and the present value of finance lease liabilities  

as at 31 december 2017 and 31 december 2016 are as follows:

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

up to 1 month 18 21

1 to 3 months 53 62

3 to 12 months 143 167

up to 1 year 214 250

1 to 5 years 526 458

over 5 years 1,297 1,099

Total minimum lease payments 2,037 1,807

up to 1 year (56) (49)

1 to 5 years (249) (221)

over 5 years (310) (279)

Future interest expense on finance leases (615) (549)

up to 1 year 159 201

1 to 5 years 277 237

over 5 years 986 820

net present value of finance lease liabilities* 1,422 1,258

* Finance lease liabilities are included in other financial liabilities (refer to note 11). 
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The reconciliation of cash used in financing activities is as follows:

CZK million Financial lease 
liabilities

other interest 
bearing liabilities

Loans and 
bank overdraft

Total

1.1.2016 1,179 - - 1,179

additions 420 - 245 665

cash used in financing activities (341) - (245) (586)

31.12.2016 1,258 - - 1,258

additions 380 94 159 633

cash used in financing activities (216) (34) (159) (409)

31.12.2017 1,422 60 - 1,482

The total limit of bank overdrafts and flexible credit lines available to the Group as at 31 december 2017 was eur 1 million (czK 26 million) and  

czK 1,175 million (as at 31 december 2016 eur 1 million or czK 25 million and czK 1,475 million). as at 31 december 2017 and 31 december 2016, 

the Group did not draw any overdrafts.

12  proVisions

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

other provisions 397 39

Total current provisions 397 39

asset retirement obligation 772 771

other provisions 115 123

Total non-current provisions 887 894

Total 1,284 933

CZK million asset retirement 
obligation

other provisions Total

1.1.2016 750 211 961

charge for the year (additions) 53 51 104

used amounts reserved (38) (82) (120)

unused during the year - (22) (22)

unwinding of interest 6 4 10

31.12.2016 771 162 933

charge for the year (additions) 64 464 528

used amounts reversed (33) (100) (133)

unused during the year      (30) (17) (47)

unwinding of interest - 3 3

31.12.2017 772 512 1,284

The provision for asset retirement obligation represents the costs of restoring leased sites in accordance with terms and conditions of the lease 

contracts. The provision is uncertain in both the amount and timing of future financial outflows. realisation of provision is expected in 2029 (date of 

lTe licence expiration).

other provisions comprise mainly provisions for litigations, onerous rent contracts reserve and executive management incentive plans obligations.

The remaining maturities of financial liabilities (contractual undiscounted cash flows) are as follows (contractual maturities of financial lease liabilities 

are stated in note 9): 

CZK million on demand Up to 30 days 31–60 days 61–90 days over 90 days Total

31.12.2017

Trade payables 216 989 346 30 - 1,581

operational expenditure accruals 680 1,503 150 94 - 2,427

capital expenditure accruals 11 284 43 11 - 349

Total trade payables 907 2,776 539 135 - 4,357

currency forward contracts with negative fair value - 246 204 217 544 1,211

Total forward contracts* - 246 204 217 544 1,211

* contracted nominal value. under the contracts the Group will pay the nominal amounts in czK and receive amounts in foreign currencies stated based on the agreed forward exchange rates.

CZK million on demand Up to 30 days 31–60 days 61–90 days over 90 days Total

31.12.2016

Trade payables 220 793 358 102 13 1,486

operational expenditure accruals 376 1,407 80 55 - 1,918

capital expenditure accruals 44 179 6 13 - 242

Total trade payables 640 2,379 444 170 13 3,646

currency forward contracts with negative fair value - 122 122 - 413 657

currency forward contracts with positive fair value - 17 17 157 439 630

Total forward contracts* - 139 139 157 852 1,287

* contracted nominal value. under the contracts the Group will pay the nominal amounts in czK and receive amounts in foreign currencies stated based on the agreed forward exchange rates.

11  oTher Financial liabiliTies

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

current finance lease liabilities 159 201

other interest bearing liabilities** 60 -

Total current other financial liabilities 219 201

non-current finance lease liabilities 1,263 1,057

long-term advances from post-paid customers* 6 6

Total non-current other financial liabilities 1,269 1,063

Total 1,488 1,264

*   advances from post-paid customers that are refundable at the termination of the contract represent guarantee for trade receivables. 
** liabilities from capitalized media content rights

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

up to 1 month 18 17

1 – 3 months 37 34

3 – 12 months 164 150

up to 1 year 219 201

1 to 5 years 283 242

over 5 years 986 821

Total other financial liabilities 1,488 1,264
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The movement in deferred income tax during the year is as follows:

deferred income tax liabilities
CZK million

Tax provision 
for receivables

accelerated 
tax depreciation

Total

1.1.2016 - (855) (855)

profit or (loss) for the current period (13) (187) (200)

31.12.2016 (13) (1,042) (1,055)

profit or (loss) for the current period - (152) (152)

31.12.2017 (13) (1,194) (1,207)

deferred income tax assets

CZK million

Tax provision
 for receivables

Provisions accelerated 
accounting 

depreciation

other Total

1.1.2016 8 257 245 41 551

profit or (loss) for the current period (8) (7) 14 (19) (20)

31.12.2016 - 250 259 22 531

profit or (loss) for the current period - 3 42 (4) 41

31.12.2017 - 253 301 18 572

15  deriVaTiVe Financial insTrumenTs 

foRWARd ConTRACTs
as at the end of 2017, the Group had open currency forward contracts with a total nominal value of czK 1,211 million (as at 31 december 2016:  

czK 1,287 million). These transactions focus on managing currency risks associated with the settlement of the Group’s future liabilities resulting from 

the customer-supplier relations and denominated in eur and usd. all currency forward contracts as at 31 december 2017 were initiated during 2017 

with maturity by the end of 2018. during 2017, currency forward contracts in the total nominal value of czK 2,555 million were settled (in 2016:  

czK 2,657 million). 

open currency forward contracts 
CZK million

31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

open currency forward contracts hedging other foreign currency liabilities:

positive fair value (note 5) - 8

negative fair value (note 10) (21) (1)

Total (21) 7

13  deFerred reVenue

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

deferred revenue related to unused prepaid airtime of prepaid and credit tariff subscribers 108 502

T–mobile bonus (iFric 13) 66 59

other 66 91

Total current 240 652

Total non-current 3 3

The unused prepaid airtime accounting treatment has changed in 2017 due to change in value added tax law. in prior years the unused prepaid 

airtime has been disclosed as deferred revenue. From 2017 the newly purchased prepaid airtime has been disclosed as prepayments under other 

payables (see note 10).

14  deFerred TaX liabiliTY

net deferred income tax liability is calculated as follows:

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

accelerated tax depreciation (4,699) (4,120)

Tax depreciation of receivables (65) (68)

liabilities to employees 414 381

provisions 917 933

other differences 92 117

Basis for deferred income tax calculation (3,341) (2,757)

net deferred income tax liability (635) (524)

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

deferred income tax liabilities:

– deferred income tax liability to be recovered after more than 12 months (1,194) (1,042)

– deferred income tax liability to be recovered after less than 12 months (13) (13)

Total deferred income tax liabilities (1,207) (1,055)

deferred income tax assets:   

– deferred income tax asset to be recovered after more than 12 months 429 378

– deferred income tax asset to be recovered within 12 months 143 153

Total deferred income tax assets 572 531

net deferred income tax liability (635) (524)

The net deferred income tax liability as at 31 december 2017 and 31 december 2016 was calculated using the corporate income tax rates, shown in 

the table below, depending on the period when the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

Period Corporate income tax rate

2017 2016

2017 and onwards 19% 19%
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offseTTIng of fInAnCIAL InsTRumenTs 
Financial assets and liabilities are set off and the net amount is presented in the statement of financial position, when there is a legally enforceable 

right of offsetting recognized amounts and an intention to settle the respective asset and liability in net amount exists.

The following table presents trade receivables and trade payables which were subject to offsetting as at 31 december 2017:

31.12.2017 

CZK million

Gross amounts 
offsetting 

in the statement 
of financial position

Gross amounts 
set off 

in the statement 
of financial position

net amount after 
offsetting 

in the statement 
of financial position

amounts subject 
to master netting 

and similar 
arrangements 

not set off 
in the statement 

of financial position

net amount 
of exposure

Trade and other receivables 5,739 - 5,739 36 5,703

Trade payables (4,357) - (4,357) (36) (4,393)

The following table presents trade receivables and trade payables which were subject to offsetting as at 31 december 2016:

31.12.2016  

CZK million

Gross amounts 
offsetting 

in the statement 
of financial position

Gross amounts 
set off 

in the statement 
of financial position

net amount after 
offsetting 

in the statement 
of financial position

amounts subject 
to master netting 

and similar 
arrangements 

not set off 
in the statement 

of financial position

net amount 
of exposure

Trade and other receivables 5,402 - 5,402 21 5,381

Trade payables (3,646) - (3,646) (21) (3,625)

18  reVenues

For management purposes, the revenues can be split into the following categories, distinguishable by nature of product or business and by type of 

products or services.

sales based on activities 
CZK million

2017 2016

sales of goods 2,159 2,135

sales of mobile telecommunication services 18,297 17,849

sales of fix telecommunication services 5,153 5,214

sales of iT services 1,444 1,274

Total revenue 27,053 26,472

19  oTher operaTinG income

CZK million 2017 2016

Gain from disposals of fixed assets 139 230

release of provisions 50 25

income from recharged services within dTaG group 818 708

rent 67 58

Fines and penalties 4 4

income from promotion 113 93

other operating income 41 70

Total 1,232 1,188

16 eQuiTY

The company’s shares have a nominal value of czK 1,000 each and are book-entered, registered and not publicly traded. approved and subscribed 

share capital is fully paid off. as at 31 december 2017 and 31 december 2016, the registered capital was represented by 520 thousand shares. all 

shares have equal voting rights.

The shareholders’ rights include in particular:

  right to a profit share;

  right to a residual interest on liquidation;

  Voting right;

  right to request and receive explanations at General meetings on matters which concern the Group or parties controlled by the Group or which 

are relevant to the exercise of shareholders’ rights;

  right to make proposals and counter-proposals on matters on the agenda of a General meeting;

  rights of qualified shareholders, in particular the right to ask the board of directors to convene a General meeting and the supervisory board to 

review the exercise of the powers of the board of directors;

  right to file a shareholders’ action against a member of the board of directors or the supervisory board, the right to seek payment of the issue 

price by a shareholder who is in delay with payment thereof;

  right to request a compulsory devolution of participatory securities.

The capital Funds comprises statutory reserve fund that the company is required to retain according to its statutes. use of the statutory reserve fund 

is limited by statutes of the company. The statutory reserve fund may not be distributed to the shareholders.

in 2017, the Group paid dividends amounted to czK 4,720 million (in 2016: czK 4,706 million) (refer to note 26). The dividend per share paid out in 

2017 amounted to czK 9,078 (in 2016: czK 9,051).

17  addiTional inFormaTion abouT Financial insTrumenTs

Financial assets and liabilities by category* 
CZK million

Category per ias 39 31. 12. 2017  
Carrying amount

31. 12. 2016 
Carrying amount

assets

Cash and cash equivalents, of which: 5,457 4,232

cash loans and receivables 892 732

Term deposits loans and receivables 4,565 3,500

Trade and other receivables**, of which 5,739 5,402

Trade and other receivables loans and receivables 5,611 5,394

currency forward contracts with positive fair value at fair value through profit or loss (for trading) - 8

intercompany loan loans and receivables 128 -

short-term bank financing Loans and receivables - 93

Liabilities

Current trade and other payables**, of which: 4,378 3,647

Trade payables Financial liabilities at amortised cost 4,357 3,646

currency forward contracts with negative fair value at fair value through profit or loss (for trading) 21 1

Current other financial liabilities, of which: 219 201

liabilities from finance lease Financial liabilities at amortised cost 159 201

other interest-bearing financial liabilities Financial liabilities at amortised cost 60 -

non-current other financial liabilities, of which: 1,269 1,063

deposits received Financial liabilities at amortised cost 6 6

Finance lease liabilities Financial liabilities at amortised cost 1,263 1,057

*   Financial assets and liabilities are categorized according to risk rate and in the level of detail required by the Group for management purposes.
** excluding non-financial assets/liabilities (refer to notes 5 and 10) 

Financial assets except for trade and other receivables stated in note 5 are neither past due nor impaired. 
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24  Finance income and cosTs

CZK million 2017 2016

interest income 2 1

of which:

- from loans and receivables 2 1

Foreign exchange gains 82 31

of which:

- from financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 2 7

other finance income 45 54

Total finance income 129 86

interest expenses (69) (68)

of which:

- from financial liabilities at amortised costs (69) (68)

Foreign exchange losses (148) (31)

of which:

- from financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (71) (3)

other finance costs (3) (11)

Total finance costs (220) (110)

net finance expense (91) (24)

25  income TaX

The income tax expense consists of the following: 

CZK million 2017 2016

current income tax (1,009) (1,068)

deferred income tax (refer to note 14) (111) (220)

income tax expense (1,120) (1,288)

The charge for the year was calculated as follows:

CZK million 2017 2016

profit before tax 5,370 6,107

Tax by applying the statutory tax rate* (1,020) (1,160)

impact of:

non-tax deductible expenses (82) (82)

non-taxable revenues 2 40

additional decrease/(increase) of tax related to prior periods (3) (32)

other  (17)  (54)

income tax expense (1,120) (1,288)

* income tax rate of 19% was applied in 2017 and 2016 respectively, based on the effective income Tax act.

20  cosT oF Goods, raW maTerials and TelecommunicaTion serVices

CZK million 2017 2016

costs of goods and raw materials 2,421 2,196

costs of telecommunication services 5,496 5,248

maintenance of telecommunication network 540 573

energy consumption – telecommunication network 424 478

other 315 249

Total 9,196 8,744

21  emploYee beneFiTs

CZK million 2017 2016

salary costs 2,620 2,346

social security costs – obligatory and supplementary pension insurance 556 502

social security costs – other 308 278

board remuneration 3 3

Total 3,487 3,129

average number of employees 3,429 3,286

The number of employees is based on the average recalculated number of annual full-time employees. The Group has been providing its employees 

with a contribution to supplementary pension insurance. in 2017, the total contribution provided was czK 26 million (in 2016: czK 24 million).

22  depreciaTion and amorTisaTion

CZK million 2017 2016

amortisation of licences 421 421

amortisation of other intangible fixed assets 1,380 1,519

depreciation of tangible fixed assets 2,895 2,873

Total 4,696 4,813

23  oTher operaTinG eXpenses

CZK million 2017 2016

costs of external marketing services 602 664

commissions to business partners 843 738

net loss from impairment of receivables and receivables write off 191 238

rental and operating leases 1,013 1,105

expenses from cross charges of services shared in dTaG Group 502 375

repair and maintenance (except telecommunication network) 661 644

licence fees 355 370

other operating expenses related to employees 153 183

legal, consulting and auditing fees 333 190

office supplies, postage, bank charges 128 30

consumption of electricity, water and gas, cleaning, security 100 109

other 564 197

Total 5,445 4,843
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outstanding balances arising from sales/purchases of goods and services from other related parties within the dTaG group:

CZK million 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

receivables from roaming, interconnection and related sold services 28 31

receivables and prepayments from other services and discounts 275 240

Total receivables 303 271

payables from roaming, interconnection and related purchased services 78 62

payables from other services and discounts 281 179

Total payables 359 241

shorT-Term compensaTion To KeY manaGemenT personnel

CZK million 2017 2016

average number 
of employees

amount average number 
of employees

amount

executive management 28 143 33 159

board of directors 3 - 3 -

supervisory board 4 - 4 -

Total 35 143 40 159

executive management includes executive directors and other directors of the Group. 

short-term employee benefits include salaries, bonuses, personal holidays, health care, business cars used for personal purpose and other short-term 

employee benefits including social, health and supplementary pension insurance paid by employer.

The Group’s contributions to pension insurance amounted in 2017 to czK 23 million (in 2016: czK 26 million). 

contributions for management to supplementary pension fund amounted in 2017 to czK 1 million (in 2016: czK 2 million).

post-employment and termination benefits provided to management members

CZK million 2017 2016

motivation bonus scheme paid* 2 2

severance pay 3 5

*  The Group provides post-employment benefits in the form of a motivation bonus scheme to members of its management. subject to certain conditions being met, the eligible persons are 
entitled to receive a pay-out bonus derived from their salary level.

incenTiVe plans For eXecuTiVe manaGemenT

The Group offers several long-term incentive plans to its executive management members with a new package being launched each year and with 

each tranche lasting for 4 years. a total provision of czK million has been recognised:

incentive plan Type of settlement 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Variable ii cash-settled 18 29

lTi (long-Term incentive plan) cash-settled 29 15

smp (share matching plan) equity-settled 1 2

26  relaTed parTY TransacTions and balances 

related parties are considered to be the parent company and other companies within dTaG group (“other related party”), members of statutory  

and supervisory bodies, executive managers and parties close to them. dTaG group represents all companies controlled by dTaG. 

The following transactions are related to the shareholders, subsidiaries and other related parties.

The Group is controlled by the entities as described in note 1.

TRAnsACTIons WITh shARehoLdeRs (dIReCT, IndIReCT And uLTImATe PARenT ComPAnIes):

CZK million 2017 2016

roaming, interconnection and related purchased services 217 173

other purchased goods and services 47 87

expenses from re-invoicing of services 203 184

purchases of foreign currency at market value* 1.254 1.335

Total purchases 1,721 1,779

roaming, interconnection and related sold services 473 250

income from re-invoicing of services and using common platforms 216 228

Total sales 689 478

* The purchases of foreign currencies comprise mainly forwards and swaps. The price is set at the best level of all market offers.

outstanding balances arising from sales/purchases of goods and services from shareholders:

CZK million 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

receivables from roaming, interconnection and related sold services 275 304

receivables from derivatives (fair value) - 3

intercompany loan provided 128 -

Total receivables 403 307

payables from roaming, interconnection and related purchased services 534 540

liabilities from derivatives (fair value) 7 1

Total payables 541 541

in 2017 and 2016 the Group did not have any transaction related to its parent company deutsche Telekom europe b.V. (former cmobil b.V.).

TRAnsACTIons WITh oTheR ReLATed PARTIes WIThIn The dTAg gRouP:

CZK million 2017 2016

roaming, interconnection and related purchased services 464 344

other purchased goods and services 232 160

expenses from re-invoicing of services 296 189

Total purchases 992 693

roaming, interconnection and related sold services 491 458

income from re-invoicing of services and using common platforms 523 379

iT services and related services - 1

other income 2 4

Total sales 1,016 842
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30  approVal oF The Financial sTaTemenTs

These financial statements have been approved by the board of directors of the Group for issuance on 22 march 2018. These financial statements 

can be amended on request and approval of the annual shareholders meeting. 

daria dodonová Mardia niehaus

Vice-chairman of the board of directors member of the board of directors

diVidends

based on the resolution of the sole shareholder from 4 april 2017, the Group distributed the profit to the sole shareholder as a dividend in the 

aggregate amount of czK 4,720 million.

based on the resolution of the sole shareholder from 2 may 2016, the Group distributed the profit to the sole shareholder as a dividend in the 

aggregate amount of czK 4,706 million. 

27  conTinGenT liabiliTies

Tax authorities are authorised to inspect books and records at any time within 3 years subsequent to the deadline for filing a tax return for reported  

tax year, and consequently may impose additional income tax and penalties. The Group‘s management is not aware of any circumstances which may  

in the future give rise to a potential material liability in this respect.

28  commiTmenTs

The Group’s future capital commitments to major technology and services suppliers from concluded agreements as at 31 december 2017 and  

31 december 2016 are as follows:

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

up to 1 year 1,864 1,770

1 - 3 years 816 349

3 - 5 years 180 113

over 5 years 213 232

Total 3,073 2,464

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases arising from the lease of microwave connections, optical fibres, 

communication base stations, other buildings and offices are as follows:

CZK million 31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

up to 1 year 651 816

1 - 3 years 517 680

3 - 5 years 382 544

over 5 years 1,417 496

Total 2,967 2,536

The majority of lease agreements are renewable at market prices after termination of the operating lease. 

29  subseQuenT eVenTs

There are no significant subsequent events as of the date of approval of these financial statements.
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